

UNITED NATIONS

GENERAL ASSEMBLY



Distr. GENERAL

A/36/372 5 August 1981 ENGLISH

ORIGINAL: ARABIC/ENGLISH/

FRENCH/RUSSIAN/

SPANISH

Thirty-sixth session
Item 17 (f) of the provisional agenda*

ELECTION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSION

Statements of qualifications of candidates

Note by the Secretary-General

CONTENTS

															<u>Page</u>
I.	INTRODUCTION	•	•	٠	•	•		•		•	•			۰	3
II.	STATEMENTS OF QUALIFICATIONS OF CANDIDATES	•	•		۰	•	•	•			٠	•	۰	•	4
	Akinjide, Chief Richard Osuolale A. (Nigeria)	٠	•	•				•	•	•	۰	•	٠	٠	14
	Aldrich, George H. (United States of America)			•				•	•	•	0		•		5
	Al-Qaysi, Riyadh Mahmoud Sami (Iraq)			•		•		•	•	•	•		•	٠	8
	Balanda, Mikuin Leliel (Zaire)	•	•	٠		•	•	•				0	•	•	10
	Barboza, Julio (Argentina)	•	٠	•			•	•			•	٠	۰	۰	14
	Bedjaoui, Mohammed (Algeria)	۰	•		•	•		•		•		۰		•	17
	Bilge, Ali Suat (Turkey)	٠		۰					۰		٠	•		•	23
	Boutros-Ghali, Boutros (Egypt)	•	۰	•	•	•	•	•			•	•		٥	26
	Calero Rodrigues, Carlos (Brazil)	٠	•	•			•	•		•	•	•	٠		38
	Castañeda, Jorge (Mexico)	•	•	•	•	•		•			۰		•	•	40
	D'Estefano Pisani, Miguel Antonio (Cuba)	۰	ď			•		•	•	۰	۰	۰	٠	•	46
	Díaz-González, Leonardo (Venezuela)			٠	۰	•	•			•		0	٠	•	49

^{*} A/36/150.

CONTENTS (continued)

extstyle ext	ıge
El-Sayed, Mustafa (Syrian Arab Republic)	56
Evensen, Jens (Norway)	57
Flitan, Constantin (Romania)	59
Gonçalves Pereira, André (Portugal)	60
Herrera-Cáceres, Héctor Roberto (Honduras)	52
Illueca, Jorge E. (Panama)	57
Jacovides, Andreas J. (Cyprus)	'3
Jagota, S. P. (India)	6
Khalafalla, El Rasheed Mohamed Ahmed (Sudan)	80
Koroma, Abdul G. (Sierra Leone)	12
Lacleta-Muñoz, José Manuel (Spain)	3
Malek, Chafic (Lebanon)	6
Mendoza, Estelito P. (Philippines)	1
Ni, Zhengyu (China)	7
Njenga, Frank X. (Kenya)	0
Ogiso, Motoo (Japan)	1
Pirzada, Syed Sharifuddin (Pakistan)	<u> </u>
Quentin-Baxter, Robert Quentin (New Zealand)	5
Razafindralambo, Edilbert (Madagascar)	6
Reuter, Paul (France)	l
Riphagen, Willem (Netherlands)	3
Sinclair, Sir Ian (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland) 11	7
Sperduti, Giuseppe (Italy)	0
Stavropoulos, Constantin A. (Greece)	3
Sucharitkul, Sompong (Thailand)	5
Thiam, Doudou (Senegal)	0
Ushakov, Nikolai A. (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics)	1
Yankov, Alexander (Bulgaria)	2

T. INTRODUCTION

- 1. In accordance with the provisions of article 6 of the statute of the International Law Commission, the Secretary-General communicated to the Governments of States Members of the United Nations a list of the names of candidates nominated by Governments which appears in section IV of document A/36/371.
- 2. As further provided in that article, the Secretary-General has the honour to communicate to the Governments of Member States the statements of qualifications in respect of those candidates which nominating Governments have submitted in response to the Secretary-General's note verbale of 12 December 1980.
- 3. The statements of qualifications are set out in the present document in the alphabetical order of the names of the candidates to which they relate.

II. STATEMENTS OF QUALIFICATIONS OF CANDIDATES

AKINJIDE, Chief Richard Osuolale A. (Nigeria)

/Original: English/

Born 4 November 1931 in Nigeria.

Present position

Attorney-General of the Federation of Nigeria and Minister of Justice since December 1979. Leader of the Nigerian Bar.

Qualifications

LL.B., University of London, 1955, and called to the Bar at the Inner Temple in February 1956. Called to the Inner Bar as Senior Advocate of Nigeria in December 1977.

Positions or offices held

President of the Nigerian Bar, 1970-1973.

Pro-Chancellor of the University of Jos, 1976-1979.

Member of the Constitution Drafting Committee, 1976-1977.

Member of the Constituent Assembly on the Nigerian Constitution, 1977-1978.

Vice-President of the Afro-Asian Legal Consultative Committee, 1980 to date.

Member of the Federal Parliament of Nigeria, 1959-1966.

Federal Minister of Education, 1965-1966.

Member of the Nigerian Council of Legal Education, 1966-1976.

Member of the Nigerian Bar Council, 1966-1976.

Member of the Nigerian Body of Benchers, 1971 to date.

Publications

Editor of the Nigeria Monthly Law Reports, 1964-1965; 1966-1976.

"Access to Court under Military Régime".

Served as consulting editorial adviser on law books to the University of Ibadan Press.

United Nations

Member of the Nigerian delegation of the United Nations in 1960 and served in the General Assembly and in many committees.

Leader of the Nigerian delegation to the Law of the Sea Conference since 1980.

Leader of the Nigerian delegation to the UNESCO conference in 1965.

Organization of African Unity (OAU)

Leader of the Nigerian delegation to the OAU conference drafting Human and Peoples Charter for the OAU Member States.

Travel

Travelled extensively in almost all continents of the world and participated in several international conferences in Jakarta, Barbados, New Delhi, London, Germany, Geneva, the Gambia, Ghana, the Sudan, France, New York, New Orleans, Washington, Nairobi, Kampala, Abidjan, Tokyo and Vancouver.

Family

Married with children - some of them lawyers.

Hobbies

Golf, music, gardening, travelling, reading.

ALDRICH, George H. (United States of America)

<u>/</u>Original: English/

Born 25 February 1932, St. Louis, Missouri.

Education

B.A., 1954, DePauw University.

LL.B., 1957, LL.M., 1958, Harvard Law School.

Experience

Offices held

Attorney, Office of General Counsel, Department of the Navy, 1959-1960.

Attorney, Office of Assistant General Counsel for International Affairs, Office of the Secretary of Defense, 1960-1963.

- Legal Adviser to the United States delegation to the North Atlantic Council, Paris, 1963-1965.
- Assistant Legal Adviser for East Asian and Pacific Affairs, Department of State, 1965-1969.
- Deputy Legal Adviser of the Department of State, 1969-1972.
- Principal Deputy Legal Adviser of the Department of State, 1973-1977.
- Ambassador and Deputy Special Representative of the President for the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1977-1981 (Acting Special Representative, October 1980-March 1981).

Other tasks

- Member, United States delegation to the Conference on Laos (1961).
- Member, Multilateral Nuclear Force delegation under Ambassador Merchant (1963).
- Member, United States delegations to the International Red Cross Conferences in Vienna (1965); Istanbul (1969); Teheran (1973).
- Member, United States Negotiating Team, United States-Philippine Economic Negotiations (1967-1968).
- Legal Adviser to the United States delegation to the Paris Meetings on Viet Nam (1969).
- Legal Adviser to Dr. Kissinger for the Viet Nam Negotiations in Paris in 1972 and 1973 and principal drafter of the Protocols to the Agreement on Ending the War and Restoring the Peace in Viet Nam.
- Chairman of the United States delegation to the 1971 and 1972 Geneva Conferences of Government Experts on International Humanitarian Law Applicable in Armed Conflicts and to the 1974-1977 Diplomatic Conference on the same subject. As Rapporteur of a committee, a principal drafter of the Geneva Protocols of 1977 on the Laws of War.
- Counsel, United States-Soviet Commercial Commission and United States-Polish Trade Commission (1973-1976).
- Principal Aide to Ambassador Stoessel in negotiating the United States-USSR Threshold Test Ban Treaty (1974).
- Chief Negotiator, United States-Philippine Economic Relations (1974).
- Chairman of the United States delegation to the United Nations Conference on Certain Conventional Weapons (1979-1980).
- Chief United States Negotiator, International Sea-bed Régime, United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (1977-1981).

Awards

1980, given the rank of Distinguished Executive by President Carter.

Membership

American Society of International Law.

International Institute of Humanitarian Law.

Publications

- Questions of International Law raised by the Seizure of the USS Pueblo, Proceedings of the American Society of International Law (1969), p. 2.
- "Human Rights and Armed Conflict: Conflicting Views", Proceedings of the American Society of International Law (1973), p. 141.
- "Establishing Legal Norms through Multilateral Negotiation the Laws of War", 9, Case Western Reserve Journal of International Law (1977), p. 9.
- "Mining the Deep Sea-bed: A System of Exploitation", 6, Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce (1978-1979), p. 245.
- "The Law of the Sea and the Resources of the Deep Sea-beds", Department of State, Current Policy No. 255 (1981).
- "New Life for the Laws of War" (forthcoming in 1981 in the American Journal of International Law).

Various book reviews in professional publications.

AL-QAYSI, Riyadh Mahmoud Sami (Iraq)

<u>/Original: English</u>/

Born in Baghdad, Iraq, 20 February 1939.

Currently Ambassador, Director-General of the Legal Department, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Baghdad, Iraq.

Married, and has three children.

Education

B.A. in Laws, College of Law, University of Baghdad (1959).

Post-Graduate Diploma in Law, University of London (1961).

LL.M., University of London (1963).

Ph.D. in Laws, University of London (1965).

Academic career

Lecturer in Law, College of Law and Politics, University of Baghdad, College of Law and Politics, University of Mustansiriyah, Baghdad, and College of Police, Baghdad, Iraq (1966-1970).

Vice-Dean, College of Law and Politics, University of Baghdad (1969).

Diplomatic career

Director of the Treaties Section, Department of Legal Affairs and Treaties, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Baghdad (1970).

Director of the United Nations Section, Department of International Organizations and Conferences, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Baghdad (1970).

First Secretary and then Counsellor, Permanent Mission of Iraq to the United Nations, New York (1970-1975).

Director of the Legal Affairs Section, Department of Legal Affairs and Treaties, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Baghdad (1975).

Director-General of the Foreign Service Institute, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Baghdad (1975) and Legal Adviser in the Department of Legal Affairs and Treaties, Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Promoted to Ambassador in May 1976.

- Director-General of the Legal Department as well as Director-General of the Foreign Service Institute, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Baghdad (1979).
- Director-General of the Legal Department, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, as of May 1980.
- Represented the Republic of Iraq in various capacities in the twenty-fifth to twenty-ninth and thirty-fourth sessions of the General Assembly, participating in the First, Third, Fourth and Sixth Committees, the Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression, the Committee on Decolonization, the Commission of Human Rights, the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and the Protection of Minorities, the Sea-Bed Committee and the Committee on Relations with the Host Country.

Participated in numerous diplomatic conferences and bilateral negotiations.

Chairman of the Iraqi delegation to the Common Bureau on Co-ordination (i.e., the international organization between Iraq and Iran responsible for the administration of navigation in Shatt al-Arab according to the Navigation Agreement concluded between the two countries in 1975).

President of the Arab Commission of Human Rights, the Arab League.

Member of the Administration Committee of the Iraqi Society of Human Rights.

Editorial activities

Member of the Iraqi Society of Comparative Law.

Served formerly as a member of the Board of Editors of the Iraqi Lawyers' Union Journal and the Iraqi Review of Comparative Law as well as Secretary of the Review of Juridical Sciences, a publication of the College of Law and Politics, University of Baghdad.

Publications

- Nationality and Domicile as Connecting Factors in the Iraqi and English Private International Law with particular reference to the Concept of Marriage (Diploma Dissertation submitted to the University of London, 1961) (English).
- Rigidity and Flexibility in the Conflict of Laws with particular reference to the Doctrine of the Proper Law (Doctoral Thesis, University of London, 1966) (English).

Introduction to the Study of Law, 1967 (English) (teaching text).

Jurisprudence (Arabic) (teaching text) (1967-1968).

The United Nations, 1969 (teaching text) (English).

A/36/372 English Page 10

Outline of Public International Law, 1969 (Arabic) (teaching text).

Outline of Private International Law, 1969 (Arabic) (teaching text).

The United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (Arabic). al-Qadha'a, The Iraqi Lawyers' Union Journal, July 1968.

Anglo-American Theories on the Conflict of Laws (Arabic), <u>Iraqi Review of Comparative Law</u>, Vol. I, 1968.

Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgements (Arabic) ibid.

Two Points of View on Law and Power (Arabic) Review of the College of Police, 1968.

The Legal Consequences of the Security Council's resolution 292, 1968 (Arabic).

Choice of Law in Tort (Arabic) Review of Juridical and Economic Sciences, College of Law, University of Ain Shams, Cairo, Egypt, 1969.

The Prospects for Agreement in the Intended Law of the Sea Conference of 1973, Proceedings of the Sixth Annual Conference of the Law of the Sea Institute, University of Rhode Island.

BALANDA, Mikuin Leliel (Zaire)

<u>/Original: French/</u>

Born at Kinshasa, Zaire on 12 September 1939.

Zairian.

Married with six children.

Secondary education

Classics, Collège des Péres Jesuites at Kiniatí (1952-1958).

Academic qualifications

Undergraduate studies in philosophy and literature, University of Liège.

Doctor of Law of the University of Brussels, 1965.

Special Diploma in International Law (two-year post graduate course), University of Brussels.

Offices held

Bar: Former avocat at the Court of Appeal of Lubumbashi.

University

Instructor at the Official University of the Congo (1968).

Associate professor at the Official University of the Congo (1968).

Professor at the Official University of the Congo (1970).

Professor in the Faculty of Law of the National University of Zaire (teaching from 1967 public international law and international organizations and international relations).

Administrative and academic

Secretary of the Faculty of Economics, Political and Social Sciences and Administration of the Official University of the Congo.

Dean of the above Faculty (1970-1971).

Vice-Dean of the Faculty of Law of the National University of Zaire (1971-1973) when the latter was established.

Director of the Institute of Advanced International Studies (1970-1972).

Judicial and other

Judge at the Supreme Court of Justice of Zaire from 12 February 1970 until November 1978.

Vice-President of the Supreme Court of Justice (since November 1978).

Member of the Standing Committee on Reform of the Law of the Republic of Zaire since the Committee was established in 1971.

Chairman of the Standing Sub-Committee on Judicial Law.

Representative of Zaire to the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law.

International civil servant at the Fonds Belgo-Congolais d'amortissement et de gestion (Brussels, 1965-1967).

Academic publications

Fonds belgo-congolais d'amortissement et de gestion (contribution to the study of international public establishments), (Lubumbashi, Publications de l'Université officielle du Congo, 1968), 225 pages.

Nouveau droit constitutionnel Zaïrois et le droit international, (Paris, Nouvelles éditions africaines, 1972), 350 pages.

Organisation judiciaire chez les Sakata, Dia et Boma du Lac Leopold II, published by the Center d'histoire d'ethnologie juridique of the E. Solvay Institute of Sociology of the Free University of Brussels, 1970.

/...

A/36/372 English Page 12

La politique extérieure du Zaire (in preparation).

Les organisations internationales (undergraduate lectures) 1972.

Les fonctions diplomatiques et internationales (undergraduate lectures), 1969.

Histoire des relations internationales (undergraduate lectures), 1969.

Droit consulaire et style diplomatique (undergraduate lectures), 1969.

Droit international de la coopération (lectures at the special studies diploma level).

L'OUA et la Charte de l'ONU.

La notion d'actes de gouvernement en droit zaïrois (in mélanges Ph. Piron).

Participation à l'elaboration de l'Annuaire international africain avec des publications sur le droit international.

Study trips and missions abroad

Intern at the United Nations Office at Geneva, 1965.

Study trip to the International Court of Justice, The Hague, 1965.

Represented the African University, 1968.

Represented the Official University of the Congo at the Conference of Wholly or Partially French-Speaking Universities, Montreal, 1969.

Study trip to the United States of America (on a fellowship provided by the United States Government) 1972.

Attended the second session of The Hague Academy of International Law (July 1975).

Participated with the Zairian delegation at the Conference of Heads of State of Central and East Africa, Lusaka, Zambia 1968.

Member of the Zairian delegation to the fourth summit conference of the Organization of African Unity (Kinshasa, 1968).

Participated in the United Nations General Assembly (1969, 1970, 1972 and 1975).

Representative of Zaire to the Sixth Committee at the thirty-third, thirty-fourth and thirty-fifth sessions of the General Assembly (1978, 1979 and 1980).

Member of the Zairian delegation to the International Court of Justice at The Hague in connexion with the consideration by the court of the question of Western Sahara (July 1975).

Represented Zaire before the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination at the twenty-first and twenty-second sessions (Geneva and New York 1980).

Membership in international associations

Member of the Association of Attenders and Alumni of The Hague Academy of International Law.

Member of the World Peace through Law Centre.

Member of the International Association of Democratic Lawyers, Belgium.

Member of the Association des amis "d'Henri Rolin", Belgium, (for the study of international law).

Research associate at the Centre Interuniversitaire Belge de Droit Public.

Languages spoken

French: Official language.

English: Writes and speaks fluently.

Honours

Officer of the National Order of the Leopard.

Grand Officer of the National Order of the Leopard.

BARBOZA, Julio

(Argentina)

/Original: Spanish/

Born in Argentina on 17 March 1928.

Married.

Studies

Graduate of the National University of Buenos Aires, Faculty of Law and Social Sciences, 1950.

Graduated cum laude from the Southern Methodist University, Dallas, USA, 1953.

Doctorate in International Public Law, Columbia University, New York, 1954.

Mentor: Professor Phillip Jessup.

The Hague Academy of International Law, 1961.

The Hague Academy of International Law, seminar on water courses of international interest, 1961.

Diplomatic posts and special missions

Formerly on the staff of the Minister for Foreign Affairs Cabinet.

Former Legal Adviser to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Former Argentine agent in the Beagle Canal zone arbitration.

Former member of the Advisory Committee on Legal Questions arising from Nuclear Energy Uses (National Atomic Energy Commission).

Member of the Juridical, Political and Social Sciences Committee (National Commission of Space Research).

Former Director of the International Organizations Division of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Ambassador of the Argentine Republic to Poland.

Member of the International Law Commission.

Member of the Argentine delegation to the following international meetings

Fifth Consultative Meeting of Foreign Affairs Ministers, Santiago de Chile, 1959.

Diplomatic Conference on the Law of the Sea, Brussels, 1961.

Seventeenth session of the United Nations General Assembly, 1962.

Regional Consultative Meeting of World Bank Legal Experts, Santiago de Chile, 1963.

Eighth Regional Conference of FAO, Viña del Mar, Chile, 1965.

United Nations Special Committee on the Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States, Geneva, 1970.

First Regular General Assembly of the Organization of American States, Washington, 1970.

United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction, Geneva, 1970.

Thirty-second to thirty-fourth sessions of the United Nations General Assembly, 1977-1979.

Educational activities

Professor of International Public Law, Faculty of Law and Social Sciences, Buenos Aires National University.

Professor of International Public Law, School of Political and Social Sciences and Diplomacy, Faculty of Law and Social Sciences, Córdoba Catholic University.

Professor of International Public Law, International Organizations and International Relations in the National Foreign Service Institute.

Professor of Civil Law, Graduate School of Law of the Southern Methodist University.

Professor of the Dynamics of International Relations, course for colonels, Centre for Higher Studies of the National War School.

Professor of the Air Force School of Command and General Staff.

Professor of the National War School.

Scientific institutions

Associate Member of the Instituto Hispano-Luso-Americano de Derecho Internacional.

Member of and adviser to the Asociación Argentina de Derecho Internacional.

A/36/372 English Page 16

Member of the Ibero-American Institute of Aeronautic and Space Law.

Member of the American Association of International Law.

Member of the Institut international de droit spatial, Paris.

Scientific meetings and contributions

Second Meeting on Aeronautic and Space Law, Córdoba, Argentina, May 1978: "The cosmonaut's juridical status".

Rapporteur of the First National Seminar of Professors and Researchers on International Law, Rosario, Argentina, November 1968: "Reflections on the learning of international law through case law".

Third Meeting on Aeronautic and Space Law, Buenos Aires, Argentina, May 1968: "Aspects of international law of the satellite telecommunications régime".

Hispano-Luso-American Congress on International Law, Buenos Aires, Argentina, August 1969.

Second National Seminar of Professors and Researchers on International Law, Córdoba, Argentina, September 1969.

Publications

"Aprendizaje en Escuelas de Derecho en los Estados Unidos", published in <u>La Ley</u>, 16 and 17 September 1954.

"Derecho y realidad en crímenes por omisión" published in <u>Pensamiento Jurídico</u> Actual Argentino, (Buenos Aires, ed. Arayú, 1952).

"Objeto y atributos en el Asilo Diplomático", published in <u>Jurisprudencia</u> Argentina, 1958 and in Revista de Jurisprudencia Peruana, 1958.

"Transferencia de la jurisdicción obligatoria de la Corte Permanente a la Corte Internacional de Justicia", published in La Ley, 1961.

"Derecho internacional, individual y comunitario" Argentina, 16 February 1967.

Decorations

Grand Cross, Order of the Sun of Perú.

Grand Cross, Order of Merit of the Republic of Ecuador.

Grand Officer, Bernardo de O'Higgins Order of the Republic of Chile.

Decoration of the Government of Brazil.

BEDJAOUI, Mohammed (Algeria)

/Original: French7

Born on 21 September 1929 at Sidi Bel Abbès, Algeria.

Degrees and distinctions

Bachelor of Law (1951).

Certificate of Admission to the Bar (1951). Diploma of the Institut d'Etudes Politiques of the University of Grenoble (1952). Doctor of Law (1956) with a thesis on "Fonction publique internationale et influences nationales".

Prizewinner, Grenoble Faculty of Law (Civil Law and Commercial Law Competition, 1951).

Prizewinner, Association des Amis de l'Université de Grenoble (Thesis prize, 1957).

Prizewinner, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace - Prize in "International Organization", 1956.

Positions held

Junior Barrister at the Court of Appeal of Grenoble, France, (1951-1953). Research trainee and subsequently research attaché at the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), from 1956 to 1958 (International Law Section). Legal Adviser to the Provisional Government of the Algerian Republic, (GPRA), (1958-1961).

Leader of the Cabinet of the President of the Constituent National Assembly in Algiers (September-November 1962).

Secretary-General of the Government, (Algiers, November 1962-December 1964).

Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Société national des chemins de fer algériens (SNCFA), June-December 1964.

Dean of the Faculty of Law and Economics of the University of Algiers (October 1964-October 1965).

Minister of Justice, Keeper of the Seals (December 1964-July 1970). Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of the Republic of Algeria to the French Republic (December 1970-September 1979).

Permanent representative of Algeria to UNESCO, (January 1971-September 1979).

Member of the Central Committee of the National Liberation Front party.

1

Missions

Member of the Algerian National Liberation Front delegation to New York for the debate on Algeria at the eleventh session of the United Nations General Assembly (January 1957).

٢,٦

- Legal expert of the GPRA delegation to the Algerian-French negotiations at Evian and Lugrin (May and July 1961).
- Member of the Algerian delegation to the seventeenth session of the United Mations General Assembly (October 1962).
- Member of the Algerian delegation to the Conference of Heads of State on the Algerian-Moroccan border conflict (Bamako, 1963).
- Secretary-General of the second Afro-Asian Conference (Algiers, June and October 1965).
- Member of the Algerian delegation to the third summit conference of the Organization of African Unity (OAU) (Addis Ababa, November 1966).
- Chairman of the Algerian delegation, representing the Algerian Head of State at the fourth OAU summit conference (Kinshasa, September 1967).
- Member of the Algerian delegation to the fifth OAU summit conference (Algiers, September 1968).
- Head of the Algerian delegation to the fiftieth session of the Council of Ministers of the League of Arab States (Cairo, September 1968).
- Member of the Algerian delegation to the fourth Conference of Heads of State or Government of Non-Aligned Countries (Algiers, August-September 1973).
- Head of the Algerian delegation to the United Nations Conference on Succession of States in respect of Treaties (Vienna, 1977).
- Head of the Algerian delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (New York, 1976, 1978 and 1980, and Geneva 1979 and 1980).
- Deputy head of the Algerian delegation to the thirty-second, thirty-fourth and thirty-fifth sessions of the United Nations General Assembly (1977, 1979 and 1980).
- Head of the Algerian delegation to the thirty-third session of the United Nations General Assembly (1978).
- Deputy head of the Algerian delegation to the Ministerial Meeting of the Co-ordinating Bureau of Non-Aligned Countries (Colombo, June 1979).

Deputy head of the Algerian delegation to the thirty-third and thirty-fifth sessions of the OAU Council of Ministers (Monrovia, July 1979 and Freetown, June 1980) and member of the Algerian delegation to the sixteenth and seventeenth OAU summit conferences (Monrovia, July 1979 and Freetown, June 1980).

Deputy head of the Algerian delegation to the preparatory ministerial conference and member of the delegation to the sixth Conference of Heads of State or Government of Non-Aligned Countries (Havana, August-September 1979).

Co-chairman of the United Nations Commission of Enquiry established to look into the question of the American hostages in Iran (February-March 1980).

Scholarly activities

Member of the United Nations International Law Commission since 1965.

Special Repporteur of the United Nations International Law Commission on the succession of States in respect of matters other than treaties, since 1967.

Honorary member of the Association of Attenders and Alumni of The Hague Academy of International Law (1969).

Member of the Société française pour le droit international.

Associate member of the Institute of International Law.

Member of the bureau of the International Academy of Diplomacy, Paris.

Member of the Association des amis d'Henri Rolin, Brussels.

Member of the jury for the Prix des Ambassadeurs, Paris.

Prizes

Amis de l'Université de Grenoble prize (thesis prize, 1967).

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace prize (1956).

Amitié franco-arabe prize (1979).

Decorations

Order of Merit of the Alids, Morocco.

Order of the Republic, Egypt.

Commander of the Legion of Honour, France.

Publications

- Fonction publique internationale et influences nationales, published under the auspices of the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace (in London by Stevens and Sons; in New York by Praeger; in Paris by Pedone; 1958, 674 pages).
- "Jurisprudence comparée des tribunaux administratifs internationaux en matière d'excès de pouvoir", <u>Annuaire français de droit international</u>, Paris, 1956, pages 482-496.
- "Le syndicalisme des fonctionnaires internationaux", <u>Annuaire français de droit</u> international, Paris, 1957, pages 435-448.
- "Jurisprudence administrative internationale" (United Nations Administrative Tribunal, ILO Administrative Tribunal, OEEC Appeals Commission, 1956-1957), Journal de droit international, Paris, 1959, No. 1, pages 208-251.
- Law and the Algerian Revolution: edited in Brussels in 1961 by the International Association of Democratic Lawyers, English edition (260 pp.); French edition (262 pp.); Arabic edition (Damascus, Ministry of Culture, 415 pp.).
- "L'évolution institutionnelle de l'algérie depuis l'indépendance", <u>International Academic Union for a constitutional corpus</u>, volume I, fascicle 1, (Leyden, E. J. Brill 1968, pages 163-201).
- La question palestinienne, original French edition (Algiers, Imprimerie du Ministère de la Justice, 1968 and SNED, 237 pp); English edition: The Palestine Question (Beirut, The Institute for Palestine Studies, 1968, 203 pp.); Arabic edition: Al-Qadia Al-Falistinia (Beirut, The Institute for Palestine Studies, 1968); German edition: Die Palaestina-Frage (Beuel, Seidl, 1969, 189 pp); Spanish edition (Buenos Aires, 1969).
- "La réforme communale en Algérie", Revue juridique et politique. <u>Indépendance</u> et coopération, Paris, 1968, volume XXII, No. 2, pages 545-566.
- "L'Organisation judiciaire algérienne", <u>Revue juridique et politique</u>. <u>Indépendance</u> et coopération, Paris, 1969.
- "Succession of States in respect of matters other than treaties", preliminary report to the United Nations International Law Commission at its twentieth session, document A/CN.4/204, 5 April 1968, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1968, vol. II.
- "Economic and financial acquired rights and State succession", second report, document A/CN.4/216/Rev.1, 2 May 1969, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1969, vol. II.
- "Succession of States in respect of public property", third report, document A/CN.4/226, 24 March 1970, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1970, vol. II.

- "Draft articles with commentaries and observations on succession to public property" fourth report to the International Law Commission, document A/CN.4/247 and Add.1, April 1971, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1971, vol. II, Part One.
- "Pour un nouveau droit social international", <u>Annuaire de l'Association des</u>

 <u>Auditeurs et anciens Auditeurs de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye</u>,

 1969, volume 39, pages 17-28.
- "Algeria" in <u>International Encyclopedia of Comparative Law</u>, (Hamburg, Max Planck Institut für ausländisches und internationales Privatrecht, 1970, volume I, pages A-17 to A-28).
- "Problèmes récents de succession d'Etats dans les Etats nouveaux", course at the Academy of International Law, Recueil des cours de l'Académie de Droit International, The Hague, 1970, volume 130, pages 453-585.
- "Succession of States in respect of public property", fifth report, document A/CN.4/259, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1972, vol. II.
- "L'affaire de Namibie", <u>Dictionnaire diplomatique</u>, (Paris Académie diplomatique internationale, 1973, volume VIII, pages 567-576).
- "Le règlement des différends dans le cadre de l'OUA", <u>Annuaire français de droit</u> international, Paris, 1972, pages 85-99.
- "La quatrième Conférence d'Alger des pays non-alignés", <u>Dictionnaire diplomatique</u>, (Paris, Académie diplomatique internationale, volume IX).
- "Succession of States in respect of public property", sixth report, document A/CN.4/267, 20 March 1973, <u>Yearbook of the International Law Commission</u>, 1973, vol. II, pages 3-72.
- "Succession of States in respect of State property", seventh report, document A/CN.4/282, June 1974. <u>Yearbook of the International Law Commission</u>, 1974, vol. II, Part One.
- "Le droit des peuples et les matières premières: une réelle espérance", <u>Le Monde</u> diplomatique, May 1974, page 7.
- "L'évolution institutionnelle de l'Algérie depuis l'indépendance", second part, <u>International Academic Union for a constitutional corpus</u>, vol. I, fascicle I, (Leyden, E. J. Brill, 1975, pp. 163-201).
- "Western Sahara" pleadings published by the International Court of Justice in Western Sahara, consultative opinion of 16 October 1975, Pleadings, Oral Arguments Documents.

- "L'inspection internationale dans le cadre des opérations des Nations Unies pour le maintien de la paix" in <u>L'inspection internationale</u>, collected work edited by George Fischeret and Daniel Vignes, (Brussels, Bruylant, 1976, 521 pp., p. 25-57).
- "L'Algèrie dans la lutte pour le développement du Tiers-Monde", Annuaire du Tiers-Monde, vol. I, Paris, 1976.
- "Succession of States in respect of State property" eighth report, document A/CN.4/292, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1976, vol. II.
- "Droit de la Mer", in <u>Vers un nouvel ordre international</u>. Records of the joint session of the Club of Rome and the International Ocean Institute, Algiers, 25-28 October 1976, p. 73-85.
- "Quelques aspects de l'expérience algérienne dans le domaine de l'indépendance nationale" in <u>Les conditions de l'indépendance nationale dans le monde moderne</u>. Records of the international colloquium held at the Institut Charles de Gaulle on 21, 22 and 23 November 1975 (Paris, Cujas, 1977, p. 79-92).
- "Succession of States in respect of State debts", ninth report, document A/CN.4/301 and Add.1, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1977, vol. II, Part One.
- "Non-alignement et droit international", lecture given in 1976 at the Academy of International Law, <u>Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international</u>, The Hague, 1976, vol. 151, p. 335-456.
- "Aspects internationaux de la nouvelle Constitution algérienne", Annuaire français de droit international, 1977, p. 75-94.
- Terra nullius, "droits" historiques et autodétermination, (The Hague, Sijthoff, 1975, 87 pp).
- Pour un nouvel ordre économique international, Paris, UNESCO, 1978, 295 pp., first volume of a UNESCO collection entitled: "Nouveaux défis au droit international". English translation: Towards a new international economic order (New York and London, Holmes and Meier, 1979, 287 pp). Spanish translation: Hacia un nuevo orden economico internacional; Portuguese translation: Para uma nova ordem economica internacional; Arabic translation (in the press).
- "L'asile en Afrique", report submitted in January 1979 in Arusha, United Republic of Tanzania, to the preparatory meeting of experts for the Conference on the Situation of Refugees in Africa.
- "Succession of States in respect of State archives", eleventh report document A/CN.4/322 and Add.1 and 2, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1979, vol. II, Part One.

"Les travailleurs étrangers et le droit international", in <u>Colloque de la Société française pour le droit international</u>, Clermont-Ferrand, <u>25-27 May 1978</u>, (Paris, Pedone, 1979, pp. 304-309). (Remarks on the general report "Ordres juridiques et statut des travailleurs étrangers").

"Le statut des travailleurs algériens en France" in Annales de la Faculté de droit et de science politique de l'Université de Clermont-Ferrand I, 1978, part 15, pp. 607-625.

"Succession of States in respect of State archives", twelfth report submitted to the International Law Commission, Geneva, May 1980, document A/CN.4/333.

"Un point de vue du Tiers Monde sur l'Organisation internationale" contribution to a collection of works on Le concept d'Organisation internationale, published by UNESCO under the guidance of Professor Ab-Saab (UNESCO, 1980, p. 223-292).

BILGE, Ali Suat (Turkey)

/Original: French7

Born in Istanbul in 1921. After completing his higher education at Faculty of Law of the University of Ankara in 1944, he received the degree of Doctor of Law at the Geneva Faculty of Law in 1950.

He began his academic career as an assistant at the Faculty of Political Science of the University of Ankara in 1950. He became a lecturer in 1952, a professor in 1960 and the Director of the Institute of International Relations. He was Dean of that same Faculty from 1962 to 1964.

He has been a member of the Turkish Human Rights Group for the United Nations since 1950.

He was Legal Adviser to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in 1957 and Honorary Chief Legal Adviser in 1964.

Professor Bilge has participated in a number of international conferences. He was, inter alia, delegate to the Committee of Experts on Judicial Assistance of the Council of Europe in 1958, Turkish member of the Mixed Commission on the Constitution of Cyprus in 1959, member of the Committee of Experts for the drafting of a Consular Convention of the Council of Europe in 1960, member of the Committee of Experts on the Adoption of Children of the Council of Europe in 1961, delegate to the United Nations Conference on Consular Relations in 1963, member of the Legal Committee of the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) in 1963, member of the European Committee on Legal Co-operation of the Council of Europe in 1965, delegate to the Sixth Committee of the United Nations General Assembly in 1965, and member of the Committee of Experts on Human Rights of the Council of Europe in 1966.

Professor Bilge, who was a judge at the European Nuclear Energy Court from 1960 to 1965, was elected Deputy Chairman of the Appeals Committee of NATO in 1966 and judge at the European Court of Human Rights and member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration at The Hague in 1966.

Professor Bilge was elected to the International Law Commission of the United Nations in 1971, became Minister of Justice in 1971 and was appointed Ambassador to Berne in 1972.

Professor Bilge published <u>La responsabilité internationale des Etats</u> in 1950, <u>La protection diplomatique des nationaux à l'étranger</u> in 1953, <u>La conflit de Chypre et les chypriotes turcs in 1961</u>, <u>Les droits de l'homme</u> (a brochure) in 1962 and <u>Relations internationales</u> in 1966. He has also published the following articles:

- "L'amnistie", Revue du Ministère de la justice, Ankara, 1943, Nos. 685, 771, 881.
- "Les travaux de la Commission des Droits de l'Homme des Nations Unies", <u>Revue des Droits de l'Homme</u>, Nakara, 1948, No. 14, p. 10.
- "Le Conseil de l'Europe", Revue des Droits de l'Homme, 1949, No. 31, p. 17.
- "Le Conseil de Sécurité", Revue des Droits de l'Homme, Ankara, 1950, No. 46, p. 22.
- "L'Accord d'Aviation de Chicago et l'Organisation de l'Aviation Civile", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1951, pp. 196-214.
- "L'arrêt de la Cour Internationale de Justice sur l'affaire de l'Anglo-Iranian Oil Company", <u>Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université</u> <u>d'Ankara</u>, 1953, pp. 153-167.
- "L'affaire de Corfou devant la Cour Internationale de Justice", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1955, pp. 228-242.
- "Les accords en forme simplifiée", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1957, pp. 135-147.
- "Géopolitique", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1958, pp. 150-174.
- "Le principe d'autodétermination", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1959, pp. 132-145.
- "Les possibilités d'élargir les activités de la Cour Internationale de Justice", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1959, pp. 119-137.
- "L'enseignement de la politique internationale", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1961, pp. 102-117.

- "Le réglement diplomatique des conflits internationaux", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1963, pp. 197-210.
- "Les aides économiques", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1965, pp. 441-475.
- "La prohibition de la dissemination des armes nucléaires", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1965, pp. 45-54.
- "La conclusion des traités internationaux selon le droit turc", <u>Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara</u>, 1968, pp. 97-149.
- "La conclusion des traités selon le droit international", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1969, pp. 1-39.
- "L'application des traités internationaux", Revue de la Faculté des Sciences Politiques de l'Université d'Ankara, 1970, pp. 17-55.
- "Foreign Worker Trade", Foreign Policy, September 1973, pp. 67-74.
- "The Cyprus Conflict and Turkey: Turkey's Foreign Policy in Transition", ed. K. H. Karpat, Leiden, 1975, pp. 135-185.

BOUTROS-GHALI, Boutros (Egypt)

/Original: Arabic/English/

Born 14 November 1922 in Cairo, Egypt.

Present and former positions

Minister of State for Foreign Affairs (from 1977).

Former Professor of International Law and International Relations, Cairo University, and former Head of the Department of Political Sciences, Cairo University (1949-1977).

Former Member of the Central Committee of the Arab Socialist Union (1974-1976).

President of the Centre of Political and Strategic Studies, Al Ahram (from 1975).

President of the African Society of Political Studies (from 1980).

Vice-President of the Egyptian Society of International Law (from 1965).

Member of the Committee on the Application of Conventions and Recommendations of the International Labour Organisation (1971-1979).

Former Trustee of the International Legal Centre (New York).

Member of the International Commission of Jurists (Geneva).

Associate Member of the Institute of International Law (Brussels).

Associate Member of the Instituto Affari Internazionali (Rome).

Member of the Scientific Committee of the Académie mondiale pour la paix (Menton, France).

Member of the Council and the Executive Committee of the International Institute of Human Rights (Strasbourg, France).

Member of the editorial board of the Egyptian Review of International Law and of the Yearbook of the Association of Attenders and Alumni of The Hague Academy of International Law.

Editor of Al-Siyassa Dawlya (an international affairs quarterly).

Member of the French Society of International Law.

Academic degrees

Doctor Honoris Causa René Descartes, Paris University, 1980.

Ph.D. in International Law, Paris University, 1949. Thesis: Contribution to the Study of Regional Organizations (in French).

Diploma of the Political Science Institute, Paris University, 1949.

Diploma of Higher Studies in Economics, Paris University, 1948.

Diploma of Higher Studies in Public Law, Paris University, 1947.

Licence in Law (LLB), Cairo University, 1946.

Academic professional experiences

Fulbright Research Scholar, Columbia University (New York), 1954-1955.

Associate Director of the First Dag Hammarskjold Seminar (The Hague), 1963.

Director of the Centre of Research of The Hague, Academy of International Law (The Hague), 1963 and 1964.

Member of the Study Group of The Hague Academy of International Law (1965-1966).

Visiting Professor at the Faculty of Law, Paris University (1967-1968).

Member of the External Programme Group of The Hague Academy of International Law (1968-1971).

Co-director of the first session of the external programme of the Academy of International Law (Rabat), 1969.

Director of the first session for the senior diplomats of the Union of the Arab Emirates (Abu Dhabi, January-February 1973).

Special Representative of the Arab League in Africa (September-October 1974).

Lecturer on International Law and International Relations at various universities including Columbia University, New York, N.Y. (1954, 1955 and 1974), Princeton University (1955, 1974), State College University of Pennsylvania (1955), Virginia University (1955), New Delhi Institute of International Affairs (1955), Warsaw Institute of International Affairs, Warsaw University (1960), Cracow University (1960), Poznan University (1960), Geneva University (1969, 1971), Algiers University (1964, 1971), Zagreb University (1960), Beograd University 1968, 1972), Upsala Dag Hammarskjold Seminar (1968), Rabat University (1969), Dakar University (1969), Dar-es-Salaam University (1970), Nairobi University (1972), Kuwait University (1972), California University (1974), Abu Dhabi Center (1973, 1974) Tananarive University (1974), Nehru University (1976), Aix-en-Provence University (1977).

Participation in conferences and academic symposia

- Conference on American student life and higher education under the sponsorship of the University of Buffalo with the Conference Board of Associated Research Councils, Buffalo, N.Y. (June 1955).
- International Congress of Jurists Conference sponsored by the International Commission of Jurists, New Delhi (January 1959).
- Conference of the International Law Association, Hamburg (August 1963).
- Conference on International Law organized by the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace (the newly independent States and international law), Geneva (October 1963).
- Round Table on the teaching of international law and relations held under the auspices of the University of Singapore, Singapore (January 1964).
- Conference on International Law organized by the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace (The concept of <u>Jus Cogens</u> in international law, Lagonissi, Greece (April 1966).
- Conference of the International Law Association, Helsinki (August 1966).
- Seminar on problems of international law in Africa, Lagos (June 1968).
- Meeting on the cultural rights as human rights held at UNESCO headquarters, Paris (July 1968).
- Round Table on law and economic and social development sponsored by the Civil Board of the Republic of Lebanon, Beit-Mery, Lebanon (December 1968).
- Conference of the Ariel Foundation. The First Arab-British-American Discussion on the Middle East Crisis, London (June 1970).
- Colloque inter-arabe organized by the Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium (November 1970).
- Colloque international sur les problèmes de l'units africaine, Alger (March-April 1971).
- Meeting on the influence of colonialism in developing countries sponsored by UNESCO in Dar es Salaam (July 1971).
- Conference of the Ariel Foundation. The Second Arab-British-American Discussion on the Middle East Crisis, London (September 1971).

- Conference on Europe and Mediterranean Africa organized by the Instituto Affari Internazionali, Roma (October 1971).
- Conference of Government Experts on the Reaffirmation and Development of International Humanitarian Law applicable in Armed Conflicts, Geneva (May-June 1972).
- Conférence de l'Academie mondiale pour la paix, Menton (7-11 January 1974).
- Christian Peace Conference on the Middle East, Cairo (23-27 April 1974).
- Conference organized by the Instituto Affari Internazionali on co-operation and development in the Mediterranean area, Milan (3-4 May 1974).
- United Nations Seminar on the promotion and protection of human rights of national, ethnic and other minorities, Ohrid, Yugoslavia (25 June-8 July 1974).
- Seminar of the International Relations Institute of Cameroon, Yaoundé 16-23 September 1976).
- Afro-Arab Symposium on liberation and development, Khartoum (7-11 January 1976).
- Seminar on the role of non-alignment in a changing world, India International Centre, New Delhi (26-29 April, 1976).
- UNESCO Peace Forum on the social and human sciences and the problem of peace, UNESCO House, Paris (3-6 May 1976).
- Arab and American cultures. A conference sponsored by the American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research, Washington, D.C. (23-24 September 1976).
- Afro-Arab Symposium, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates, (December 1976).
- Conference de l'Académie mondiale pour la paix, Les guerres civiles (January 1977).
- International Conference on Development and Stability in the Mediterranean sponsored by the Instituto Affari Internazionali, Athens (26-29 January 1977).
- Head of the delegation of the second session of the Ministerial Standing Committee of the Conference on Afro-Arab Co-operation (Cairo, December 1977).
- Head of the delegation at the third session of the Ministerial Standing Committee of the Conference on Afro-Arab Co-operation (Niamey, June 1978).
- Head of the delegation at the thirty-second session of the Council of Ministers of the Organization of African Unity (OAU) (Khartoum, 1978).

Head of the delegation at the fifteenth session of the Conference of Heads of State and Government of OAU (Khartoum 1978).

The Camp David Summit Conference on the Middle East (September 1978).

The Washington Middle East Peace Talks (October-November 1978).

Head of the delegation at the thirty-third session of the Council of Ministers of OAU (Monrovia 1979).

Head of the delegation at the sixth Conference of Heads of State or Government of the Non-Aligned Countries (Havana, September 1979).

Head of the delegation at the thirty-fourth session of the General Assembly of the United Nations (September 1979).

Head of the delegation at the thirty-fourth session of the Council (Addis Ababa, February 1980).

Head of the delegation at the thirty-fifth session of the Council of Ministers of OAU (Freetown, June 1980) and at the Summit Conference of Freetown (July 1980).

Head of the delegation at the seventh emergency special session of the General Assembly of the United Nations on Palestine (August 1980).

Head of the delegation at the Conference of Ministers of Foreign Affairs of the Non-Aligned Countries (New Delhi, February 1981).

Publications

Books

Contribution à l'étude des ententes regionales, Editions A. Pedone, Paris, 1949.

Cours de diplomatie et de droit diplomatique et consulaire, Editions Librairie Anglo-Egyptian, Le Caire, 1951.

Le Problème du Canal de Suez (in collaboration with Youssef Chlala). Société Egyptienne de Droit International, Alexandrie, 1957.

Egypt and the United Nations (in collaboration), Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, Manhattan Publishing Company, New York, 1957.

Le Principe d'Egalité des Etats et les organisations internationales, Académie de droit international, Recueil des Cours, Tome 100, A.W. Sijthoff, Layden, 1961.

Foreign Policies in a World of Change (in collaboration), Harper and Row, New York, 1963.

- Contribution à une Théorie générale des alliances, Edition A. Pedone, Paris, 1963.
- L'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine, Librarie Armand Colin, Paris, 1969.
- Le Mouvement afro-asiatique, Presses Universitaires de France, Paris, 1969.
- Les Difficultés institutionnelles du panafricanisme, Institut Universitaire de Hautes Etudes Internationales, Genève, 1971, Collection Conferences No. 9.
- La Ligue des Etats arabes, Académie de droit international, Recueil des Cours, Vol. III, A.W. Sijthoff, Leydon, 1972.
- Les Conflits de frontières en Afrique, Editions techniques et économiques, Paris, 1973.

Articles

- "Le Pacte de l'Atlantique Nord", Revue egyptienne de droit international, 1950, Vol. 6.
- "L'intervention américaine en Corée et le droit des Nations Unies", Société Egyptienne de Droit International, Brochure No. 12, 1951.
- De l'agencement des solidarités restreintes au sein de l'organisme international, Revue egyptienne de droit international, 1951, Vol. 7.
- La Securité soviétique en Europe Orientale¹⁷, Revue egyptienne de droit international, 1952, Vol. 8.
- Le Pacte balkanique du 28 fevrier 1953", Revue egyptienne de droit international, 1953, Vol. 9.
- "Commentaire sur les Conventions conclues sous l'égide de la Ligue Arabe", Journal of the Association of Attenders and Alumni of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1955, Vol. 25, Leyden. Article reproduced in Notes et Documentation, 9 June 1956, No. 2184, Paris, 1956.
- "L'Union soviétique et le NATO", <u>Revue egyptienne de droit international</u>, 1954, Vol. 10.
- "La Ligue Arabe et l'Afrique du Nord", <u>Boletime da Faculdade de Direito</u>, Vol. XXX, Coimbra, 1955.
- "Le Pacte du Sud-Est asiatique", Jahrbuch für internationales Recht, Gottingen, 1955.
- "The Arab League, 1945-1955: Ten Years of Struggle", <u>International Conciliation</u>, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, No. 498, New York, May 1954.

- "The Anglo-Yemeni Dispute", Revue egyptienne de droit international, 1955, Vol. 11.
- "The Egyptian Foreign Policy and the Arab League", Review of Economics, Politics and Business Studies, February 1956. Article translated by the Centre de documentation et de synthèse, Paris, and published in its bulletin of 15 March 1956.
- "La Conférence de Bandung", Internationales Jahrbuch der Politik, Munich, 1955.
- "La Ligue Arabe: Notice bibliographique", Revue egyptienne de Droit International, 1955, Vol. 11.
- "Versuch einer Analyse der Panarabischen Bewegung", <u>Internationales Jahrbuch</u>
 <u>De Politik</u>, Munich, 1956.
- "La Conférence de Brioni", Journal of the Association of Attenders and Alumni of The Hague Academy of International Law, Vol. 27, Leyden, 1957.
- "Essai d'analyse du Panarabisme", Revue egyptienne de droit international, 1957, Vol. 13.
- "Le Monde afro-asiatique et l'A.A.A.", Aktuelle Probleme des Internationalen Rechts, Walter de Gruyter Co., Berlin, 1957.
- "Notes sur l'Union des Etats arabes et sur la République Arabe Unie", Revue egyptienne de droit international, 1968, Vol. 14.
- "Intégration arabe et intégration européenne", <u>Journal of the Association of Attenders and Alumni of the Hague Academy of International Law</u>, Vol. 29, Leyden, 1959.
- "Un Précurseur de l'organisation internationale Al-Kawakibi", Revue egyptienne de droit international, Vol. 16, 1950.
- "La Conférence de Belgrade", Revue egyptienne de droit international, Vol. 17, 1961.
- "L'Accord nucléaire de Moscou", Revue egyptienne de droit international, Vol. 19, 1963.
- "The Addis Ababa Charter", International Conciliation, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, No. 546, New York, January 1964.
- "Bundnissisteme in Sowjet System und Demokratische Gesellschaft", <u>Eine Vergleichende Enzyklopaodie</u>, pp. 910-934, Herder Freiburg, Basle-Vienna, 1967.

- "The University Teaching of Social Sciences: International Law", published in 1967 by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.
- La Crise de La Ligue Arabe", Annuaire français de droit international 1968, Vol. 14, 1968.
- "Le Regionalisme et les Nations Unies", Revue egyptienne de droit international, Vol. 24, 1968.
- L'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine et la coopération économique, Revue egyptienne de droit international, Vol. 25, 1969.
- "The Arab League-25 years after", East Africa Journal, Nairobi, June 1979.
- "The Afro-Asian Movement: A survey of sources and development", Revue egyptienne de droit international, Vol. 26, 1970.
- "Solidarité internationale et aide étrangère", Revue egyptienne de droit international, Vol. 26, 1970.
- "Le Centre d'étude et de recherche de droit international et de relations internationales de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye" in <u>Livre</u> jubilaire de l'Académie de droit international, A.W. Sijthoff, Leyden, 1973.
- "Les Fonds arabes pour le développement économique", <u>Annuaire français de</u> droit international, Vol. 21, 1975.
- The League of Arab States and North Africa, in Africa and International Organization, edited by Yassin Al Ayouti and Hugh C. Brooks Martinus Nijhoff, The Hague, 1974.
- "The League of Arab States and the Organization of African Unity" in The Organization of African Unity after Ten Years, Praeger Publishers, New York, 1975.
- "The Arab Response to the Challenge of Israel", in The Middle East Oil Conflict and Hope, edited by A.L.U. Udovitch Lexington Books, No. 9, 1976.
- "Arab Diplomacy, Failures and Successes" in <u>Arab and American Cultures</u>,
 American Enterprises Institute for Public Policy Research, Washington, D.C.,
 1977.
- "Le Système régional africain", Collection de la Société française pour le droit international, Editions A. Pedone, Paris, 1977.
- "Les relations entre la Ligue Arabe et 1'0.N.A.", Annuaire français de droit international, Vol. 23, 1977.

"Quelle diplomatique pour l'Egypte en paix", <u>Politique Internationale</u>, Paris, No. 5, Autumn 1979.

Publications in Arabic

Soviet Security in Western Europe (Cairo University Press, 1954, 127 pp.).

The International Organization (two parts): Introduction to the Study of International Organizations (Cairo, 1956), A Constitutional Study of International Organizations (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1957, 620 pp.).

Introduction to the Science of Politics, in collaboration with Dr. Mahmud Khayri 'Isa (Cairo, 1959; second edition, 1963; third edition, 1966; fourth edition, 1974; fifth edition, 1976; sixth edition, 1977; seventh edition, 1979, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 238 pp.).

Studies of Arab Society, in collaboration with Dr. Mahmud Khayri 'Isa and Dr. 'Abd al-Malik 'Audah (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1960 272 pp.).

Studies in International Politics (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1961, 216 pp.).

African Constitutions (Cairo, Dar al-Ma'arif, 1961, 268 pp.).

Studies in Political Doctrines (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1962, 272 pp.).

The Organization of African Unity (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1964, 210 pp.).

Strategy and International Policy (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1967, 296 pp.).

The Crisis of Arab Diplomacy (Cairo, Dar al-Kitab al-Jadid, 1969, 182 pp.).

The Afro-Asian Movement (Cairo, Dar al-Kitab al-Jadid, 1969, 158 pp.).

Politics and Development in Africa (Cairo, Dar al-Kitab al-Jadid, 1970, 158 pp.).

Studies in Arab Diplomacy (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1974, 250 pp.).

International Relations Within the Framework of the Organization of African Unity (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1974, 575 pp.).

The League of Arab States and the Settlement of Local Disputes (Cairo, Ma'had al-Dirasat al-'Arabiyah, 1977, 220 pp.).

Arab Issues (Cairo, Anglo-Egyptian Library, 1977, 195 pp.).

Most important articles

"Korea and the United Nations", Société Egyptienne de Droit International, Brochure No. 12, October 1951.

- The North Atlantic Treaty, Revue égyptienne de droit international, Vol. VII (1951).
- "Definition of regional agreements", Revue égyptienne de droit international, Vol. VIII (1952).
- "The Balkan Pact of 28 February 1953", Revue Egyptienne de droit international, Vol. IX (1953).
- "Asian regional agreements", Revue égyptienne de droit international, Vol X (1954).
- "The San Salvador Charter", Review of Economics, Politics and Business Studies, February 1955.
- "Loss of membership in the League of Arab States", Revue égyptienne de droit international, Vol. XI (1955).
- "The First Asian-African Conference at Bandung, Indonesia", Review of Economics, Politics and Business Studies, January 1956.
- "Peaceful co-existence and tension in the Arab East", study submitted to the Conference on the Political Sciences held at Cairo under the auspices of UNESCO, 6 April 1956.
- "The question of membership in the United Nations", Review of Economics, Politics and Business Studies, October 1956.
- "International blocs in the United Nations", Political Books, Book IX, 1957.
- "Al-Kawakibi and the Islamic League", Majallat al-qanun al-dawli, Vol. XIII, 1957.
- "International Government, Political Books, Book XXVI, August 1957.
- "The Atlantic Alliance", Political Books, Book XLI, 1957.
- "The American Union", Political Books, Book XLI, December 1957.
- "The United Arab Republic", Majallat al-mal wa-al-iqtisad, March 1958.
- "The Afro-Asian bloc", Majallat al-mal wa-al-iqtisad, April 1958.
- "The Warsaw Pact", Majallat al-mal wa-al-igtisad, May 1958.
- "The Suez Canal and its problems, 1943-1957" (in collaboration with Professor Youssef Chlala), Société Egyptienne de Droit International, Alexandrie, 1958.

- "The Organization of Central American States", Majallat al-mal wa-al-iqtisad, January 1959.
- "The Little Entente", Review of Economics, Politics and Business Studies, No. 1 (1959).
- "The principle of equitable geographical distribution", Revue égyptienne de droit international, Vol. XVI (1960).
- "Voting in international organizations", Revue égyptienne de droit international, Vol. XVII (1961).
- "Military alliances and the United Nations", Revue égyptienne de droit international, Vol. XVIII (1962).
- "The Chinese atomic bomb", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, No. 1 (1965).
- Policy and strategy in the Indian Ocean, <u>Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah</u>, No. 2 (October 1965).
- "Gaullist diplomacy and the Fifth Republic", <u>Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah</u>, No. 4 (April 1966).
- "New dimensions of international strategy", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, No. 5 (July 1966).
- "American military intervention and the Cold War", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, No. 7 (January 1967).
- Arab-Zionist confrontation", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, No. 9 (July 1967).
- "The Egyptian-Israeli War", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, No. 10 (October 1967).
- "Dimensions of Afro-Asian ideology", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, No. 12 (April 1968).
- "African disputes and their settlement by peaceful means" Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, No. 13 (July 1968).
- "African diplomacy and development problems", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, No. 18 (October 1969).
- "Joint Arab endeavour within the framework of the Arab League", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, October 1970.
- "Nasserism and Egyptian foreign policy", <u>Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah</u>, January 1971.

- The policy of non-alignment after American-Soviet détente, <u>Majallat al-siyasah</u> al-dawliyah, January 1973.
- "Arab diplomacy and regional disputes", <u>Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah</u>, April 1973.
- "Minorities and human rights in international law", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, January 1975.
- "The Canal between legality and imperialist ambitions", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, April 1975.
- "International strategy and the oil weapon", <u>Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah</u>, July 1975.
- "Human rights over 30 years", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, January 1979.
- "The debate between Boutros-Ghali and Moshe Dayan before the European Parliament", Majallat al-siyasah al-dawliyah, October 1980.

CALERO RODRIGUES, Carlos (Brazil)

/Original: English/

Born in Rio de Janeiro on 13 June 1919.

Law degree from the University of Brazil, 19140.

Professor of International Law at the Institute Rio-Branco (Brazilian Diplomatic Academy), 1954-1955, 1963-1964.

Professor of International Administration, Brazilian School of Public Administration (Getulio Vargas Foundation), 1954.

Joined the Foreign Service in 1945:

Montreal: Vice-Consul, 1947; Consul General (1967-1969)

Washington: Secretary, 1947-1950

Paris: Secretary, Counsellor, 1956-1962

Minister Counsellor, 1964-1967

Asunción: Minister Counsellor, 1963

Warsaw: Ambassador, 1973-1979

New York, Permanent Mission to the United Nations: Secretary, 1950-1953; Ambassador, Special Representative, 1979-1980

Head of the Department of International Organizations at the Ministry for External Relations: 1963-1964, 1969-1973.

Delegate to the fifth (1950), sixth (1951), seventh (1952), twelfth (1957), fourteenth (1959), fifteenth (1960), twenty-third (1968), twenty-fifth (1970), twenty-sixth (1971), twenty-seventh (1972), thirty-fourth (1979) and thirty-fifth (1980) sessions of the United Nations General Assembly.

Member of the Brazilian delegation to the First United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1958.

Vice-Chairman of the Brazilian delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1974, 1975, 1976 and 1977.

Chairman of the Brazilian delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1978, 1979 and 1980.

- Member of the Brazilian delegation to the Fourth Meeting of Consultation of the American Republics, 1951.
- Member of the Brazilian delegation to the Tenth Inter-American Conference, 1954.
- Member of the Brazilian delegation to the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment, Stockholm, 1972 (Chairman of the Second Committee).
- Chairman of the Brazilian delegation to the Diplomatic Conference on the Reaffirmation and Development of International Humanitarian Law applicable in Armed Conflicts, 1974, 1975 and 1976.

Representative of Brazil to the Commission on Human Rights: 1978, 1979 and 1980.

CASTAÑEDA, Jorge (Mexico)

/Original: Spanish/

Government and diplomatic posts

Joined the Mexican Foreign Service, 1950 (by competitive examination).

Legal Counsel, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1955-1958.

Minister Plenipotentiary, 1959-1962.

Director-General for International Organizations, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1959-1960.

Alternate representative of Mexico to the United Nations, 1961 and part of 1962.

Ambassador of Mexico since 1962.

Ambassador to the Government of Egypt, 1962-1965.

Principal Director, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1965-1970.

Permanent Representative of Mexico to the United Nations and to other international organizations with headquarters in Geneva, 1971-1975.

Head of the Mexican delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1976.

Under-Secretary for Foreign Affairs, 1976.

Ambassador at Large, 1977-1979.

Minister for Foreign Affairs, May 1979.

International conferences and meetings

Fifth, sixth and seventh sessions of the United Nations General Assembly, 1950-1952 (adviser, alternate representative on the Legal Committee).

Fifth Meeting of Consultation of Foreign Affairs Ministers of the American Republics, Washington, 1951 (adviser).

Eighth session of the United Nations Economic and Social Council, 1952 (adviser).

Special Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression, 1952 (representative).

Eighth to sixteenth sessions of the United Nations General Assembly, 1953-1961 (representative on the Legal Committee).

- Second Meeting of the Inter-American Council of Jurists, Buenos Aires, 1953 (alternative representative).
- Tenth Inter-American Conference, Caracas, 1954 (alternative representative).
- United Nations Technical Conference on the Problems of the Sea, Rome, 1955 (representative).
- First United Nations Conference on the Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, 1955 (legal adviser).
- Third Meeting of the Inter-American Council of Jurists, Mexico, 1956 (representative).
- Inter-American Conference on the Problems of the Sea, Ciudad Trujillo, 1956 (representative).
- Twenty-fourth session of the United Nations Economic and Social Council, Geneva, 1957 (representative).
- First United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 1958 (representative).
- Representative of Mexico to the Governing Council of the United Nations Special Fund, 1959.
- Second United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 1960 (representative).
- Representative of Mexico to the Governing Council of the United Nations Special Fund, 1960.
- United Nations Conference for the Adoption of a Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, New York, 1961 (representative).
- United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of Outer Space, 1961 (representative on the Legal Sub-Committee).
- United Nations Special Committee on the Principles of International Law Concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation Among States, 1964 and 1967 (representative).
- Preparatory Commission for the Denuclearization of Latin America, 1967 (representative).
- Nineteenth to twenty-first and twenty-seventh to thirtieth sessions of the United Nations General Assembly, 1964-1966, 1972-1976 (representative).
- Special Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression, 1968 (representative).

- Conference on the Committee on Disarmament, 1967-1975, Geneva (representative).
- Conference of Plenipotentiaries for the Establishment of an Intergovernmental Tourism Organization, 1970, Mexico (representative).
- Fifty-sixth and fifty-seventh International Labour Conferences, Geneva, 1971-1972 (representative).
- Preparatory Committee for the Third Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1971-1973 (head of the Mexican delegation).
- Thirteenth and fourteenth sessions of the Trade and Development Board (UNCTAD), Geneva, 1973-1974 (head of the Mexican delegation).
- Working Group of 40 countries on the Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States, 1973-1974 (head of the Mexican delegation).
- Third United Conference on the Law of the Sea, New York, Caracas, Geneva, New York, 1974-1979 (head of the Mexican delegation).
- Conference on Economic Co-operation Among Developing Countries, 1976 (representative).

International elective offices

- Member of the United Nations International Law Commission, since 1967 (re-elected in 1971 and 1976).
- Vice-Chairman of the Legal Committee of the United Nations General Assembly, 1956.
- Chairman of the Legal Committee of the United Nations General Assembly, 1958.
- Chairman of the United Nations International Law Commission, 1973.
- Chairman of the Working Group of 40 countries on the Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States, 1973-1974.

Academic activities

- Studies leading to <u>licenciature</u> degree in Law, Faculty of Law, National University of Mexico, 1938-1943.
- Professor of Public International Law, Escuela Libre de Derecho, Mexico, 1958.
- Professor of Public International Law, Faculty of Law, National University of Mexico, 1959-1960.
- Associate in the Columbia University Seminar on the Problems of Peace, 1961, 1962 and part of 1964.

Professor of the Theory and Practice of the International Organization, El Colegio de México, 1966-1967.

Director of the Research Seminar on Mexico's Foreign Policy, El Colegio de México, 1969-1970.

Member of the Governing Board of El Colegio de México since 1967.

Course at the Regional Seminar of the Academy of International Law: "El Régimen Juridico de los Fondos Oceánicos", Mexico City, 1970.

Course at the Hague Academy of International Law, 1970.

Course at the Institut des Hautes Etudes Internationales of the University of Paris, 1973

Lectures at the following universities

National University of Mexico (School of Political and Social Sciences, Columbia, Yale, Harvard, Howard, Princeton, Cairo, Grenoble, Nice, Valladolid (courses in Vitoria), Geneva (Ecole des Hautes Etudes Internationales).

Member of the following institutes and societies

Institut de Droit International (member); International Law Association; Société Française pour le Droit International; Hispano-Luso-American Institute of International Law.

Publications

Books

México y el Orden Internacional, Fondo de Cultura Económica, published by El Colegio de México, 1956.

Mexico and the United Nations, (English version of the preceding work), Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, New York, 1958.

Valor Jurídico de las Resoluciones de las Naciones Unidas, El Colegio de México, Mexico, 1967.

Legal Effects of the United Nations Resolutions (English version of the preceding work), Columbia University Press, 1969.

La No Proliferación de las Armas Nucleares en el Orden Universal, El Colegio de México, Mexico, 1969.

Valeur juridique des résolutions des Nations Unies, Recueil des Cours de l'Académie de Droit International, The Hague, 1970, Vol. I (129).

Contribution to collective works

- "Las Reformas a la Constitución Mexicana relativas al Dominio Marítimo de la Nación y el Derecho Internacional", El Pensamiento Jurídico de México en el Derecho Internacional, Editorial Porrúa, Mexico, 1960.
 - "Fabela y la No Intervención", Estudios en Honor de Isidro Fabela, Mexico, 1961.
- "México y el Exterior", <u>México: Cincuenta Años de Revolución</u>, Vol. III, Fondo de Cultura Económica, México, 1961.
- "La Charte des Droits et des Devoirs Economiques des Etats du point de vue du droit international", <u>Justice Economique Internationale</u>, Gallimard, Paris, 1976 (Spanish edition published by the Fondo de Cultura Económica, Mexico, 1976).
- Introduction to the book <u>Derecho Económico Internacional</u>, Fondo de Cultura Económica, Mexico, 1976.

Articles

- "Pan Americanism and Regionalism: A Mexican View", <u>International Organizations</u>
 New York, Vol. X, No. 3, 1956.
- "Pan-Americanismo", Revista Brasileira de Política Internacional, Rio de Janeiro, Year I, No. 3, Rio de Janeiro, 1958.
- "Naciones Unidas y el Derecho Internacional", Foro Internacional, Mexico, Vol. I, No. 2, 1960.
- "Un Nuevo Derecho para una Epoca Nueva", Revista de la Universidad de México, 1960.
- "La Codificación del Derecho Internacional en las Naciones Unidas", Revista de la Universidad, Mexico, 1961.
- "The Underdeveloped Nations and the Development of International Law", International Organizations, New York, Vo. XV, No. 1, 1961.
- "La Question du Sud-Ouest Africain", <u>Les Cahiers de Droit</u>, Montreal, Vol. V, No. 1, 1962.
- "Revolution and Foreign Policy: Mexico's Experience", Political Science Quarterly, New York, September 1963.
- "Certain legal consequences of the Suez Crisis", Revue Egyptiene de Droit International, Vol. 19, 1963.
- "El Derecho Interno de las Naciones Unidas", Revista de la Facultad de Derecho de la Universidad Nacional de México, No. 54, Vol. XIV, April-June 1964.

- "Resoluciones de las Naciones Unidas que contienen declaraciones u otros pronunciamientos generales", Revista de la Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Políticas y Sociales, No. 33, October-December 1964.
- "Conflictos de Competencia entre las Naciones Unidas y la Organización de Estados Americanos", Foro Internacional, Nos. 22-23, October 1965-March 1966.
- "Une nouvelle méthode pour la création d'organismes internationaux: la cas de l'UIOOT", Annuaire Français de Droit International, Vol. XVI, 1970.
- "La Creación de Derecho Internacional por las Naciones Unidas", Foro Internacional, No. 42, 1970.
- "La Creación de Derecho Internacional por las Naciones Unidas", <u>La Comunitè</u> Internazionale, Cedam, Padua, 1971.
- "The Concept of Patrimonial Sea in International Law", The Indian Journal of International Law, Vol. 12, 1972.
- "Las Posiciones de los Estados Lacinoamericanos en relación con el Derecho del Mar", <u>Jurídica, Anuario del Departamento de Derecho de la Universidad Iberoamericana</u>, No. 5, 1973.
- "El Mundo Futuro y los Cambios en las Instituciones Políticas Internacionales", Foro Internacional, No. 57, 1974.
- "La Charte des droits et devoirs économiques des Etats", <u>Annuaire Français de Droit International</u>, Vol. XX, 1974.
- "El Sistema Interamericano: ficción y realidad", <u>Nueva Política</u>, Vol. I, No. 4, October-March 1977, Mexico, D.F.
- "La Zona Económica Exclusiva y el Nuevo Orden Económico Internacional", Foro Internacional, No. 73, Mexico, D.F., 1978.
- "En busca de una posición ante Estados Unidos", <u>Foro Internacional</u>, No. 74, Mexico, D.F., 1978.
- "Maritime transport and the new law of the sea", Ship's Cargo Cargo Ships, Henri Kummerman Foundation, London, 1979.
- "En busca de una posición ante Estados Unidos", <u>Visión del México Contemporáneo</u>, El Colegio de México, 1979, Mexico.

D'ESTEFANO PISANI, Miguel Antonio (Cuba)

<u>/</u>Original: Spanish/

Born in Havana, Cuba, 31 July 1918.

Doctor of Law, University of Havana, 1941

Public administration activities

Entered public administration in December 1945 as legal adviser in the Ministry of Education and remained in that post until March 1951.

From March 1951 to July 1959 served as Secretary (Legal Adviser) of the Prison Administration Board.

In March 1959 was appointed Secretary of the Technical Commission on Penitentiary Studies.

From August 1959 to March 1960 served as Legal Adviser to the Directorate of Fiscal Security of the Ministry of Finance.

In March 1960 was appointed Counsel to the Diplomatic Advisory Department of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

In November 1960 was appointed Head of the Diplomatic Advisory Division.

In August 1961 was appointed Deputy Head of the Legal Advisory Directorate of the Ministry.

In April 1962 was appointed Head of the Legal Advisory Directorate.

In October 1962 was appointed a member of the Institute of International Policy of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

In December 1963 left the post of Director of the Directorate of Legal Affairs and was appointed Adviser to the Minister and Director of the Centre for Professional, Political and Cultural Training of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

In May 1970 was appointed a member of the Permanent Secretariat of the Commission of Advanced Political Studies of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Teaching and other activities

Professor of Criminal Law at Masonic University from 1956 to 1959.

Professor of State Theory at Candler University from 1956 to 1960.

- Full Professor of Public International Law at the University of Havana since April 1962.
- Full Professor of Public International Law at the Higher Institute of Foreign Service of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs since 1974.
- Full Professor of Cuban Foreign Policy at the Higher Institute of Foreign Service since 1980, occupying simultaneously the Chair of Public International Law.
- Full Professor of Public International Law at the Higher Institute of the Ministry of the Interior from 1972 to 1975.
- Since 1970, has given various post-graduate courses to university graduates on the following subjects:

International arbitration;
Treaty law;
Legal relations of CMEA;
Underdevelopment and international law;
The Constitution of Cuba and our foreign policy;
Basic institutions of public international law;
The Movement of Non-Aligned Countries (in collaboration).

Was awarded the scientific degree of Doctor of Legal Science on 10 February 1981; on that occasion, scientific degrees in the various sciences were awarded for the first time in Cuba.

President of the Cuban United Nations Association since February 1966.

Member of the Legal Commission of the Cuban Movement for Peace and Sovereignty of Peoples since 1978.

Publications (inter alia)

- La delincuencia de los indios en Cuba (essay on Cuban criminal ethnography),
 J. Montero, publisher, Havana, 1943, 115 pages.
- Defensa Social y Peligrosidad (incorporation of doctrine in the Social Defence Code), First National Angel C. Betancourt Prize, awarded by the Havana Bar Association, J. Montero, publisher, Havana, 1946, 158 pages.
- Las personas jurídicas y su responsabilidad criminal, J. Montero, publisher, Havana, 1946, 247 pages.
- El delito preterintencional (Critical-exegetical study of the psychological elements of crime), Ediciones Forum, Havana, 1947, 221 pages.
- <u>Diego Vicente Tejera y García: hombre y jurista</u>, J. Montero, publisher, Havana, 1949, 86 pages.

- Texto-Guía de Derecho Internacional Público, Editora Universitaria, Havana, 1965, 840 pages.
- Puerto Rico: análisis de un plebiscito, Ediciones Tricontinental, Havana, 1967, 126 pages.
- Subdesarrollo y Derecho Internacional Público, Cuaderno H. Ciencias Jurídicas, Ediciones Pueblo y Educación, Instituto del Libro, Havana, 1973, 160 pages.
- Derecho de Tratados, Cuaderno H. Ciencias Jurídicas, Ediciones Pueblo y Cultura, Instituto del Libro, Havana, 1973, 255 pages.
- Casos en Derecho Internacional Público, Ediciones de Ciencias Sociales, Instituto del Libro, Havana, 1974, 446 pages.
- "Las nacionalizaciones del gobierno revolucionario". No. 1, October-December 1962.
- "La cuarenbena y el derecho internacional", No. 4, Fourth Quarter, 1963.
- "Las violaciones norteamericanos del espacio aéreo cubano", No. 6, Fourth Quarter, 1964.
- "El arreglo de las disputas en el derecho internacional y el diferendo cubanonorteamericano", No. 8, Fourth Quarter, 1965.
- "Enfoque jurídico del Movimiento de los No Alineados", February 1979, Revista Cubano de Derecho.

Other activities

- Member of the Council of Honour of the Revista Universidad de La Habana, organ of the University of Havana.
- Editor of Revista Cubana de Derecho, organ of the National Union of Jurists of Cuba.
- Chairman of the Editorial Board of Boletín ACNU, the organ of the Cuban United Nations Association.
- Member of the Cuban national group of members of the Permanent Court of Arbitration in The Hague since 1962.

Official missions (inter alia)

- Head of the Cuban delegation to the United Nations Conference on Consular Relations, Vienna, February-April 1963.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the Fourth United Nations International Conference on the Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, Geneva, September 1971.

- Member of the Cuban delegation to the fifteenth General Conference of the International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, September 1971.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Caracas, 20 June-29 August 1974.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the eighteenth General Conference of the International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, September 1974.
- Head of the Cuban delegation which attended the meetings of the Evensen group at United Nations Headquarters in New York to consider certain basic problems of the Conference on the Law of the Sea, 10 November-12 December 1975.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the third session of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 15 March-15 May 1975.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the fourth session of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, held at United Nations Headquarters, New York, 9 March-10 May 1976.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the fifth session of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, held at United Nations Headquarters in New York, 1 August-15 September 1976.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the International Meeting on Humanitarian Rights, held in Geneva, 2-20 May 1972.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the Fourth Conference of Ministers of Justice of Latin America, the Philippines and Spain, held at Caravalleda, Venezuela, 1978.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the International Seminar on the Eradication of Apartheid and in Support of the Struggle for Liberation in South Africa, held in Havana in 1976 under the auspices of the United Nations Special Committee against Apartheid.
- Member of the Cuban delegation to the Third Conference of the American Association of Jurists, Havana, 1977.

DÍAZ GONZÁLES, Leonardo (Venezuela)

<u>√</u>Original: Spanis<u>h</u>√

Degrees

Doctor of Law, University of Paris (1951).

Doctor of Economic and Social Sciences, University of Paris (1951).

Studies

Two years at the Institute of Advanced International Studies of the University of Peris.

Seminar at the Institute of Comparative Law of the University of Paris, 1950.

Student-lecturer in advanced demographic studies at the National Institute of Population Studies, Paris.

Studies in ethnology and cultural anthropology at the Musée de l'Homme, Paris.

Course on French culture and civilization for foreign students at the University of Paris, 1949.

Special course in criminal law given by Professor Jiménez de Azúa, Caracas, 1945.

Post-graduate course at the University of Florence, 1952.

Posts held

Official on the staff of the Venezuelan Immigration Mission in France (1946-1948).

International official in the Department of the Social Sciences of UNESCO for four years (1951-1955).

Representative of UNESCO at a number of co-ordination meetings of the specialized agencies of the United Nations.

Representative of UNESCO at meetings for the co-ordination of plans for immigration into Latin America; Sao Paulo, June 1952.

Representative of UNESCO at the meeting of Pax Romana on the economic and social problems of population; Venice, 1954.

Representative of UNESCO on the Preparatory Commission for the World Population Conference; Rome, 1954.

Representative of UNESCO at the Tenth Inter-American Conference; Caracas, 1954.

Sent by UNESCO on a special mission to Venezuela, Brazil, Peru, Ecuador and Colombia to organize a seminar on the teaching of the social sciences in Latin America; April 1954.

Representative of UNESCO at the World Population Conference; Rome, September 1955.

Organizer and representative of UNESCO at a conference on the teaching of racial questions in primary schools; Paris, 1955.

- Organizer and representative of UNESCO at a conference on the relationship between intelligence and fertility; Paris, 1955.
- Sent by UNESCO as technical assistant to reorganize the Venezuelan National Commission; January 1955.
- Organizer of the Conference on the Cultural Assimilation of Immigrants in the Western Hemisphere; UNESCO 1955.
- Chief of the International Agreements and Treaties Section of the International Organizations Division of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs; Caracas, September 1955.
- Secretary of the National Commission for UNESCO; October 1955 to February 1963.
- Member of the Inter-Ministerial Commission to study the agenda for the Inter-American Specialized Conference on questions relating to the sea; 1955-1956.
- Representative of Venezuela at the Inter-American Specialized Conference on questions relating to the sea; Santo Domingo, 1956.
- Member of the Inter-Ministerial Commission to study the agenda for the tenth session of the General Assembly of the International Civil Aviation Organization (Legal Questions); Caracas, 1956.
- Representative of Venezuela at the tenth session of the General Assembly of the International Civil Aviation Organization; Caracas, June 1956.
- Assistant to His Excellency Mr. Christian Pinaud, Minister for Foreign Affairs of France, during his official visit to Venezuela; Caracas, September 1956.
- Representative of Venezuela at the Ninth General Conference of UNESCO, New Delhi, December 1956.
- Representative of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs at the inauguration of the statue of the Liberator on the island of Aruba; July 1957.
- Representative of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs on the Inter-Ministerial Commission which drafted the Venezuelan law on the territorial sea, the continental shelf, the protection of fisheries and air space.
- Representative of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs on the Inter-Ministerial Commission to study the agenda of the United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America; Buenos Aires, 1958.
- Chief of the Conference Section of the International Organizations Division at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs; January 1957.

- Representative, with the rank of Minister Plenipotentiary, at the Diplomatic Conference on Maritime Law; Brussels, September 1957.
- Representative of Venezuela at the second session of Regional Association III of the World Meteorological Organization; Caracas, December 1957.
- Member of the Inter-Ministerial Commission to study the agenda for the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea; Caracas, 1957-1958.
- Secretary of the Venezuelan Committee for the International Geophysical Year; Caracas, June 1957.
- Representative of Venezuela at the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea; Geneva, February-April, 1958.
- Rapporteur of the Fourth Committee (Continental Shelf) of the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea; Geneva, February-April 1958.
- Representative of Venezuela at the tenth session of the Intergovernmental Committee on European Migration (ICEM) and at the sixth session of the Council of that organization; Geneva, April 1958.
- Chief of the Specialized Subjects Section of the International Organizations Division; Caracas, 1 July 1958-January 1962.
- Member of the Internal Commission of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to study the agenda of the thirteenth session of the General Assembly of the United Nations; July 1958.
- Alternate representative of Venezuela at the thirteenth session of the General Assembly of the United Nations (representative in the Legal Committee); New York, October-December 1958.
- Representative of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs on the Inter-Ministerial Commission to study questions of immigration and manpower, 1958.
- Representative of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs on the Inter-Ministerial Commission to study reform of the immigration laws; meetings at the National Agrarian Institute, 1958.
- Secretary of the National Section of the Pan-American Institute of Geography and History; February 1958-February 1963.
- Representative of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs at the fourth National Meeting of the Venezuelan Red Cross; Cumaná, 26-28 February 1959.
- Assistant to His Excellency Mr. Louis Jacquinot, French Minister of State and representative of General de Gaulle at the inauguration of President Rómulo Betancourt; Caracas, February 1959.

- Member of the Inter-Ministerial Commission to study the agenda for the twelfth session of the General Assembly of the International Civil Aviation Organization (Legal Questions).
- Representative of Venezuela at the twelfth session of the General Assembly of the International Civil Aviation Organization; San Diego, California, June-July 1959.
- Member of the Inter-Ministerial Commission to study the agenda for the fourteenth session of the General Assembly of the United Nations; New York, 1959.
- Representative of Venezuela at the tenth session of the Conference of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Legal Questions); Rome, November 1959.
- Representative at the eleventh General Conference of UNESCO; Paris, November-December 1960.
- Representative at the regional meeting of National Commissions for UNESCO of the Western Hemisphere; Buenos Aires, November-December 1961.
- Deputy-Director of International Policy at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs; January 1962-February 1963.
- Representative at the sixteenth session of the General Assembly of the United Nations; 1962.
- Representative at the twelfth General Conference of UNESCO; Paris, November-December 1962.
- Alternate representative at the eighteenth session of the Council of ICEM; Geneva, November 1962.
- Member of the Legal Committee of UNESCO; Paris, 1962.
- Counsellor, with the rank of Minister, on the Permanent Mission of Venezuela to the United Nations; February 1963-September 1965.
- Representative of Venezuela on the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples (Committee of Twenty-four of the United Nations) including the travels of this Committee in Africa in 1965 and 1966; 1963-1966.
- Representative of Venezuela on the Fourth Committee (trust and non-self-governing territories) of the General Assembly of the United Nations, at the eighteenth, nineteenth and twentieth sessions.
- Vice-Chairman of the Sub-Committee on Petitions of the Committee of Twenty-four; 1963-1964.

- Chairman of the Sub-Committee on Petitions of the Committee of Twenty-four; 1965-1966.
- Chairman of Sub-Committee III (Colonies in the Americas) of the Committee of Twenty-four; 1966.
- Chairman of the Working Group of the Committee of Twenty-four on Colonies in the Caribbean; 1965.
- Member of the Sub-Committee on Aden of the Committee of Twenty-four, including its travels in Yemen, Saudi Arabia, Iraq and United Arab Republic; 1963-1966.
- Member of the Venezuelan delegation at the London talks on Guyana Esequiba; December 1965.
- Member of the Venezuelan delegation at the Geneva talks on Guyana Esequiba; February 1966.
- Counsellor, with the rank of Minister, at the Venezuelan Embassy in the Federal Republic of Germany; September 1966 to March 1967.
- Counsellor, with the rank of Minister, at the Venezuelan Embassy in Japan; March 1967-1972.
- Representative of Venezuela at the twentieth session of the General Assembly of the International Union of Official Travel Organizations; Tokyo, October 1967.
- Observer for Venezuela at the first meeting of the General Commissioners for the International Fair to be held at Osaka (Japan) in 1970; Kyoto, May-June 1968.
- Representative of Venezuela at the meeting of the International Rice Commission (Tokyo, October-November 1968).
- Alternate representative of Venezuela to the United Nations, with the rank of Ambassador; New York, April 1972-March 1974.
- Head of the Permanent Mission until April 1973.
- Representative of Venezuela at the Conference of Caribbean countries on the Law of the Sea; Santo Domingo, June 1972.
- Representative of Venezuela on the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-bed; Geneva, July 1972.
- Head of the Venezuelan delegation at the twenty-seventh session of the General Assembly; 1972.
- Representative of Venezuela on the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-bed; New York, March-April 1973.

- Representative of Venezuela at the session of the Security Council held at Panama; March 1973.
- Representative of Venezuela on the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-bed; Geneva, July 1973.
- Representative of Venezuela at the Third Conference on the Law of the Sea; New York, November-December 1973.
- Chairman of the Fourth Committee (Decolonization) at the twenty-eighth session of the General Assembly; New York, 1973.
- Director of International Policy, Ministry of Foreign Affairs; since March 1974.
- Representative of Venezuela at the IV ordinary session of the General Assembly of the Organization of American States; Atlanta, Georgia, April 1974.
- Representative of Venezuela at the sixth special session of the United Nations General Assembly; New York, March 1974.
- Representative of Venezuela at the twenty-ninth session of the General Assembly; New York, 1974.

Publications

Aspects de la Population de l'Amérique et du Vénézuela (Essai de demographie), Paris, 1950.

Other activities

- Talks on Latin America as guest professor at the Catholic University of Paris, 1951.
- Professor of the History of American Diplomacy at the School of International Studies, Faculty of Economics, Central University of Venezuela.
- Assistant Professor of Public International Law at the Central University of Venezuela, 1955-1956, 1957-1958.
- Lecturer on American Public International Law, 1955-1956, 1957-1958 and 1959.
- Guest professor at the University of International Studies of Kyoto (Japan) giving lectures on Venezuela, starting in September 1967.
- Full member of the Society of Americanists, Paris, Musée de l'Homme.
- Full member of the Pan-American Institute of Geography and History (cultural anthropology).

Languages

English, French and Italian. Rudiments of German, Portuguese and Japanese.

A/36/372 English Page 56

Decorations

Grand Cross of the Order of Isabella the Catholic (Spain).

Grand Officer of the Order of San Martin the Liberator (Argentina).

Order of the Sacred Treasure (Japan).

Grand Cross of the May Order of Merit (Argentina).

Sash of the Aztec Eagle (Mexico).

EL-SAYED, Mustafa (Syrian Arab Republic)

/Original: French/

Born on 18 September 1928 in Syria.

Nationality: Syrian.

Education

Law degree from the University of Damascus Law School, 1951; diploma in comparative law, Luxembourg, 1964; doctorate in law from the University of Geneva Law School, 1967.

Positions held

Worked in the public administration in Syria from 1951 to 1962.

Syrian Minister of Higher Education from 1967 to 1969.

Syrian Minister for Foreign Affairs from 1969 to 1970.

Professor of international public law, international private law and diplomatic law at the University of Damascus Law School from 1968 to 1976.

Member of the International Institute of Humanitarian Law at San Remo, Italy.

Barrister at the Council of State and the Supreme Court of Appeals.

Arbiter for the French-Arab Chamber of Commerce.

Arbiter in several international cases.

Publications

"L'Organisation des pays exportateurs de pétrole", study of an international organization for the defence of private State interests.

"Contemporary diplomatic law" (in Arabic), published by the University of Damascus Law School in 1971.

EVENSEN, Jens
(Norway)

/Original: English/

Born 5 November 1917 in Norway.

Law degree University of Oslo 1942.

Police Superintendent and District Attorney ad hoc in high treason cases, 1945-1946.

Fellowship at Minnesota Law School and Columbia Law School, 1947.

Assistant Solicitor General, 1948-1949.

Barrister of the Supreme Court of Norway, 1951.

Counsel and Co-Agent in the Hannevig Case between Norway and the United States, 1949-1956.

Barrister and Counsel for the Government of Norway in the Anglo/Norwegian Fisheries Case before the International Court of Justice, 1949-1951.

Rockefeller Fellowship, Harvard Law School, 1952-1953.

Barrister and Counsel for the Government of Norway in the Gold Clause Case between Norway and France before the International Court of Justice, 1955-1957.

Agent and Counsel for the Government of Norway before the International Court of Justice in the Advisory Opinion on Certain Expenses of the United Nations, 1962.

Agent and Counsel for the Government of Norway before various ad hoc international tribunals.

Agent and Counsel for the Government of Norway before the European Commission of Human Rights in the Iversen Case, 1962-1963.

Agent and Counsel for the Government of Norway before the European Commission of Human Rights in the Greek Case, 1967-1969.

Lecturer and member of the examining board at the Law Faculty of the University of Oslo.

International Law Adviser to the Norwegian Broadcasting Corporation.

Director General of the Legal Department of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Norway from 1961-1973.

Chairman of the Petroleum Council of the Government of Norway from 1965-1979.

Chairman of the Norwegian Fishery Zones Committee, 1967-1969.

Chairman of the Norwegian Territorial Waters Committee from 1961.

Chairman of the Committee for the preparation of Norwegian legislation on a safety code for production of petroleum, the laying of pipelines, conservation, etc. on the Norwegian continental shelf from 1970.

Chairman of the Committee on price negotiations concerning petroleum produced on the Norwegian continental shelf from 1971.

Head of various delegations appointed by the Government of Norway for the negotiations of bilateral and multilateral agreements and conventions.

Norwegian delegate to the Sixth Committee of the United Nations General Assembly.

From 1968, Vice-Chairman of the United Nations Ad Hoc Committee to Study the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction. In 1969 elected Vice-Chairman of the United Nations Permanent Committee on the same subject.

President of the Panel of the Arbitral Tribunal of INTELSAT, 1967-1969. Member of the Panel of the Arbitral Tribunal of INTELSAT, 1969-1971.

Lecturer at The Hague Academy of International Law, 1965, on "Aspects of International Law relating to Modern Radio Communications".

Lecturer at the World Peace through Law Conferences in Washington, 1965, and Geneva, 1967.

Doctor of Law S.J.D., Harvard Law School, 1968.

Honorary Doctor, Herriot Watt University, Edinburgh, 1974.

Associate Member of the Institut de droit international since 1971.

Appointed Ambassadeur en Mission Spéciale, 1972.

Head of the Norwegian delegation for a Free Trade Agreement with the European Common Market.

Minister for Commerce and Shipping, 1973-1974.

Minister for the Law of the Sea, 1974-1978.

Ambassador, International Law Advisor for Foreign Ministry since 1979.

Head of the Norwegian delegation to the United Nations Preparatory Committee for the Exploration and Exploitation of the Sea-Bed and Ocean Floor outside National Jurisdiction since 1968.

Head of the Norwegian delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea since 1973. One of the Vice-Presidents of this Conference.

Member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration, 1978.

Member of the International Law Commission, 1979.

Ad hoc Judge in the case between Tunisia and the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya concerning the delimitation of the continental shelf before the International Court of Justice since 1979.

Member of the Conciliation Commission on the delimitation of the continental shelf between Norway and Iceland since 1980.

FLITAN, Constantin (Romania)

Original: French

Ambassador, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Bucharest.

Born on 26 November 1928 at Novaci, Romania.

Married, one child.

Education

Graduate of the Bucharest Law School, 1950.

Positions held

Deputy assistant, assistant, then section head at the Bucharest Law School, 1950-1961; head researcher at the Institute for Legal Research of the Academy of the Socialist Republic of Romania, 1954 to 1961.

Deputy Director of the Department for International Organizations of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1962.

Director of the Department of Legal Affairs and Treaties of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1963 to 1966.

Member of the Romanian delegation to the United Nations General Assembly in 1964, 1965 and 1966.

Vice-Chairman of the Sixth Committee of the United Nations General Assembly, 1965.

Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs, 1967 to 1968.

Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of the Socialist Republic of Romania to France, 1968 to 1977.

President of the Association of Jurists of the Socialist Republic of Romania, since 1978.

Ambassador, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in charge of the Department for International Organizations and Legal Affairs since 1978.

Member of the Romanian delegation to the United Nations General Assembly in 1978, 1979 and 1980.

GONÇALVES PEREIRA, André (Portugal)

/Original: English/

Born 26 July 1936 in Lisbon.

Doctor of Jurisprudence, Faculty of Law, University of Lisbon, 1962.

Assistant Professor (1962), Associate Professor (1968) and Full Professor of International Law since 1970, Faculty of Law, University of Lisbon.

From 1962 to 1975, was in charge of the general course on International Law, Faculty of Law, University of Lisbon. Has also lectured and held seminar courses in matters of Constitutional and Administrative Law.

Has been a member of the examining boards for the granting of Ph.D. and the selection of professors in the Universities of Coimbra and Lisbon and for the admission in the diplomatic service in the Portuguese Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

From 1962 to 1973, lectured on international law at the Institute for Advanced Military Studies in Lisbon. Participation in such lectures was a condition for promotion of Army and Air Force officers to superior rank.

- Has published more than 20 books and <u>circa</u> 50 articles on matters of constitutional and international law. In 1968, his book <u>De la succession</u> d'Etats en matière de traité was published in Paris by A. Pedone, with an introduction by Professor Charles Rousseau, Faculty of Law, University of Paris.
- In 1973, participated in an article in the <u>Festschrift</u> for Professor Wilhelm Wengler, Berlin, 1973.
- Has lectured in several universities and meetings, among which the Universities of Coimbra, Madrid, Columbia, Harvard, Rio de Janeiro and the Catholic University of São Paulo, Brazil.
- In 1977 was invited by the Curatorium of The Hague Academy for International Law to lecture on the relationship between International and Municipal Law in Portugal. The invitation was accepted, but the lectures finally were cancelled due to a sudden illness.
- Delegate of Portugal to the General Assembly at its fourteenth to twenty-second sessions as legal adviser and representative of Portugal in the Sixth Committee.
- Delegate of Portugal to many international meetings, such as the General Conference of UNESCO, the Conference of Governors of the International Monetary Fund and of the World Bank.
- Member of the American Society for International Law; the Brazilian Society for International Law; the Argentinian Society for International Law; and the Hispanic-Luso-American-Philippine Institute for International Law (IHLADI). In the meetings of IHLADI, he was Vice-President of a commission in the Lima Congress of 1970 and rapporteur on State Responsibility in the Lisbon Congress of 1972.
- Holds several orders of merit, military and civilian. Is Grando Oficial of the Order of Cruzeiro do Sul of Brazil.
- Was admitted to the Lisbon Bar in 1959 and has since been a practising lawyer, specializing in International Law, and has been selected as arbitrator in several international arbitrations and abjudications.
- Participated, as representative of Portugal, in the drafting of the convention on arbitration and conciliation on foreign investment of the World Bank.
- Delegate of Portugal to the thirty-fifth session of the General Assembly of the United Nations as representative of Portugal in the Sixth Committee.
- Appointed Minister for Foreign Affairs of Portugal on 9 January 1981, an office that he continues to hold.

HERRERA-CACERES, Héctor Roberto (Honduras)

<u>/Original: Spanish/</u>

Born on 20 September 1943 in Puerto Cortés, Honduras, to Julio Herrera (deceased) and Graciela v. de Herrera.

Married Sandra Medina de Herrera; two children: Sandra Yvonne, François Roberto.

Education

Primary education: Sacred Heart private school and Republic of Chile public school at Puerto Cortés, Honduras.

Secondary education: San Francisco Institute, Tegucigalpa, and La Salle Institute, San Pedro Sula, Honduras.

University Education: Faculty of Juridical and Social Sciences, Independent University of Honduras.

Post-graduate education: Faculty of Law, Economics and Social Sciences, Paris University of Law, Economics and Social Sciences.

Degrees

Secondary school certificate, 1960.

Master of Legal and Social Sciences, 1968.

Law degree, 1969.

Notary, 1969.

Doctorate from the Paris University of Law, Economics and Social Sciences, 1973.

Publications

Master's thesis: "El Tribunal de justicia en la Integración Centroamericana"

Law degree thesis: "Infracciones y Sanciones Tributarias"

Doctoral thesis: "Statut Juridique de la baie de Fonseca et régime de ses Zones adjacentes"

Estatuto de la Bahia de Fonseca y Regimen de sus Zonas Adyacentes, (Tegucigalpa, National Independent University of Honduras, first edition in Spanish, 1974).

- Honduras y la Problematica del Derecho Internacional Publico del Mar, (Tegucigalpa, National Independent University of Honduras, 1975, first edition).
- "Mar Territorial y Zona Contigua" in <u>Derecho del Mar en Visión Latinoamericana</u>, (Mexico, Jus Publishing Company, 1976).
- "Análisis de las Actitudes de Honduras y El Salvador Tendientes a Resolver Pacíficamente su Actual Diferendo" in <u>Revista de Derecho</u>, No. 4, 1973, National Independent University of Honduras, Tegucigalpa.
- "La Unión de Países Exportadores de Banano" (UBEC) in <u>Pensamiento Económico</u>, No. 4, Tegucigalpa, Honduras, 1976.
- "Honduras Frente a la Problematica del Mar", Coleccion Hondureña, No. 2, National Independent University of Honduras, Tegucigalpa, February 1976.
- "Grupo de Paises Latinoamericanos y del Caribe Exportadores de Azucar", Coleccion Hondureña, No. 3, National Independent University of Honduras, Tegucigalpa, 1976.
- "Las Empresas Multinacionales", Revista de la integración, Latin American Bank for Economic Integration, Tegucigalpa, 1977.
- "El Diferendo Hondureño-Salvadoreño: Su Evolución y Perspectivas" <u>Coleccion Investigaciones Juridicas</u>, Faculty of Legal and Social Sciences, National Independent University of Honduras, Tegucigalpa, 1977.
- "La Comunidad Economica y Social Centroamericana" in "Coleccion Manuel Noriega Morales", <u>Cuadernos de la SIECA</u>, Guatemala, Permanent Secretariat of the General Treaty for Central American Economic Integration, January-March, 1977.

Positions held and meetings attended

Head of the National and International Organizations Section of the Ministry of the Economy and Finance, 1966 to 1967.

Legal Adviser to the General Taxation Office, 1968 to 1969.

Attaché to the Honduran Embassy in Paris, 1970.

Chargé d'Affairs a.i. at the Honduran Embassy in Paris, 1971.

Researcher at the Institute for Legal Research of the Faculty of Legal and Social Sciences, 1972.

Member of the Consulting Department of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, since 1973.

Professor of international law at the University of Honduras (lecturing on international law and treaties signed by Honduras, international organizations, public international law, diplomatic law and the consular regime and consitutional law).

A/36/372 English Page 64

- Honduran representative to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, since 1973.
- Chairman of the Working Group on the Continental Shelf, set up at the third session of the Third Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 1975.
- Co-ordinator of the Central American Group on the Continental Shelf and the Economic Zone during the third session of the Third Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 1975.
- Member of the Informal Group on the Settlement of Disputes at the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 1975.
- Participant for Honduras in the Symposium on the Law of the Sea, organized by the Italian-Latin American Institute, Rome, 1975.
- Consultant to the Permanent Secretariat of the General Treaty for Central American Economic Integration, 1975 to 1976.
- Professor representing the National Independent University of Honduras at the Second Seminar on Law relating to Central American economic and social integration Tegucigalpa, 1976.
- Professor of the fifth course in the administration of integration programmes, Central American Institute of Public Administration, San José, Costa Rica, 1976.
- Legal Adviser to the Honduran Banana Corporation, 1976 to 1977.
- Representative of Honduras at the meeting of lawyers from UBEC member countries to study regulations for the multinational marketing of bananas, Panama, 23 to 24 August 1976.
- Honduran delegate to the Sixth Conference of Latin American Law School Faculties, Bogatá, September-October 1976.
- Member of the Board of Examiners of candidates to the Foreign Service of Honduras.
- Member of the Honduras Special Commission on the Honduran-Salvadorian Dispute.
- Member of the Special Commission to delimit the maritime frontiers with Nicaragua.
- Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of Honduras to Belgium.
- Head of the Mission of Honduras to the European Communities.
- Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of Honduras to the Netherlands.
- Representative to the United Nations Conference on an International Code of Conduct on the Transfer of Technology, Geneva, Switzerland, 1978.
- Participant in the Seminar on Multilateral Trade Negotiations, El Salvador, 1978.

Chairman of the Group of Legal Experts on the question of unilateral legislation (Group of 77), 1979.

Lectures

- "Honduras Frente a la Problemática del Mar", at the First National Seminar on International Law, Tegucigalpa, 1975.
- "Estructura Institucional de la Communidad Económica y Social Centroamericana", Central American Institute of Public Administration, San José, Costa Rica, 1976.
- "El Tratado-Constitución como Instrumento Jurídico nuevo en las Relaciones de Integración Centroamericana", at the Second National Seminar on International Law, Tegucigalpa, 1976.
- "Situación Actual del Diferendo Hondureño-Salvadoreño", at the International Cultural Club, Tegucigalpa, 1976.
- "Perspectivas de Solución del Conflicto Hondureño-Salvadoreño", at the Rotary Club, Puerto Cortés, Honduras, 1976.
- "La Solución del Conflicto Hondureño-Salvadoreño ¿La Guerra o la Paz?", at the Rotary Club, Tegucigalpa, 1977.
- "Posición de Honduras en la Tercera Conferencia de Naciones Unidas sobre el Derecho del Mar en relación con los recursos del mar en la zona de las 200 millas", at the National Independent University of Honduras, Tegucigalpa, 1977.
- "La Comunidad Europea y América Central", at the lecture series for directors and co-ordinators of customs policy of the Central American Common Market, Commission of the European Communities, Brussels, 1978.

Certificates and diplomas

- Certificate for attending the course in labour law, National Independent University of Honduras, Tegucigalpa, 1965.
- Certificate for attending the courses of the First Central American Academic Meeting on Integration Law, San Salvador, 1966.
- Certificate for attending the third course on the legal and institutional problems of Central American integration, Tegucigalpa, Honduras, 1978.
- Certificate for participating in the Working Group which conducted research into negotiations on and the settlement of controversies within the integration system, Tegucigalpa, 1969.
- Attendance certificate and highest grade in the final examination of the course entitled "Introduction to the study of comparative law and methods", Tegucigalpa, 1969.

A/36/372 English Page 66

Esteban Mendoza diploma, awarded by the Association of Law Students to outstanding Law School students, Tegucigalpa.

4

José María Sandoval diploma, awarded by the Association of Law Students to outstanding professors at the Faculty of Legal and Social Sciences, Tegucigalpa.

Diploma given to regular members of the Iberio-American Association on Labour Law, Tegucigalpa.

Diploma given to regular academicians of the Honduran Academy of Geography and History, Tegucigalpa.

Diploma of merit in recognition for participation as general co-ordinator and lecturer at the First National Seminar on International Law, Tegucigalpa.

Certificate awarded by the Faculty of Legal and Social Sciences in recognition for participation as commentator at the Second Seminar on Law, Tegucigalpa.

Credentials as regular associate member of the Hispanic-Portuguese-American Institute of International Law.

Places visited

South America, Central America, North America, Europe.

Membership

Member of the Honduras Lawyers Association.

Member of the Honduran Association on International Studies.

Member of the Commercial Arbitration Department of Honduras.

Member of the Academy of Geography and History of Honduras.

Member of the Ibero-American Association on Labour Law.

Associate member of the Hispanic-Portuguese-American Institute of International Law.

Member of the Centre for Co-operation on Economic, Cultural and Social Documentation of the Studies and Expansion Society of Belgium, an organization in consultative status with the United Nations and the Council of Europe.

Member of the French Society on International Law.

Member of the Administrative Council of the Permanent Court of Arbitration (Peace Palace, The Hague).

Member of the Belgian Society on International Law.

Member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration of The Hague.

Foreign languages

French and a basic knowledge of English.

1

ILLUECA, Jorge E. (Panama)

<u>/Original: English/</u>

Born 17 September 1918, Panama City, Republic of Panama.

Legal studies and degrees

Bachelor of Law and Political Science, Faculty of Law of the University of Panama (Civil Law System), 1942.

Member of the Institute of Comparative Legislation and International Law of the Inter-American University (Panama) headed by Dr. Demofilo De Buen, former Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Spain, 1944-1945.

Special course of study in International Law and International Organization, Harvard Law School, Harvard University, 1946-1947.

Member of the Seminar on Jurisprudence directed by Dr. Walter V. Schaefer, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of the State of Illinois, University of Chicago Law School, 1954.

Doctor of Law by the University of Chicago Law School (Common Law System), 1955.

Legal profession and legislative activities

Admitted to the Bar of the Supreme Judicial Court of the Republic of Panama, 1942.

Legislator. Member of the National Legislative Assembly of the Republic of Panama. Elected in 1948. Re-elected in 1952 (1948-1956).

Member of the Executive Council of the Inter-American Federation of Lawyers, Washington, D.C., 1956.

Member, Board of Legislative Advisors to the President of the Republic, Panama, 1956-1957.

President of the National Bar Association of the Republic of Panama, 1963-1964 and 1967-1968.

Judicial and related activities

Assistant Clerk to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Panama, Dr. Darío Vallarino, 1934-1935.

Clerk in various Municipal and Circuit Courts of civil and criminal jurisdiction in the Republic of Panama, 1935-1942.

A/36/372 English Page 68 Γ

Member of the Panel of Arbitrators of the Inter-American Commerical Arbitration Commission, 1948.

Head of the Panamanian Delegation to the United Nations Conference on International Commercial Arbitration, 1958.

Member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration at The Hague, 1974-1978 and 1978-1982.

Academic activities

President of the Panamanian Academy of International Law, 1955-1957.

Trustee of the University of Panama, 1956.

Professor of International Relations at the University of Panama, 1962-1963.

Professor of the Law of Treaties and International Legislation at the School of Diplomacy of the University of Panama, 1966-1968.

Lectures at universities, institutes and conferences in Panama, Costa Rica, Colombia, Venezuela, Argentina and Peru, 1972-1974.

Lecturer at the Miami Committee on Foreign Relations (1975); Inter-American Defence Board (1975 and 1978); Higher Institute of Trade Union Studies of Panama (1975); Second Inter-American Conference on the Legal Aspects of Economic Independence (1975); Latin American Association of Development Communicators (ALACODE) (Melgar, Colombia, 1975); Columbia Society of International Law, School of Law, Columbia University (1976); Annual Conference on United Nations Affairs, organized by Central Michigan University (1977); Conference on the Panama Canal Question held at the University of Alabama to debate with the late Senator Allen, D-Ala., the new Canal Treaties (1977); Sixth Annual Conference on Latin America, Latin American Programs of Temple University and Saint Joseph College, Philadelphia (1977); Montclair State College, Upper Montclair, New Jersey (1977); Trinity College, Hartford, Connecticut (1977); University of Scranton (1977); National War College, Washington, D.C. (1977); American Human Association (New York, 1977); City University of New York, Graduate School and University Center (1977); Lebanon Valley College, Annville, Pennsylvania (1978); Conference on Central America, Latin American Studies Center, California State University (Los Angeles, 1978).

Elected Associate Member of the Hispanic-Luso-American Institute of International Law ("Instituto Hispano-Luso-Americano de Derecho Internacional"), Madrid, 1977.

Visiting Professor at the Seventh Course of International Law organized by the Interamerican Juridical Committee and the Getulio Vargas Foundation in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil (12 and 13 August 1980).

Positions held in connexion with the United Nations system

- Member of the Panamanian delegation to the second, eleventh, twelfth, thirteenth, fourteenth, thirtieth, thirty-first, thirty-second and thirty-third sessions, the third and fourth emergency special sessions and the eighth, ninth and tenth special sessions of the General Assembly of the United Nations 1947, 1956, 1957, 1958, 1959, 1975 and 1978.
- Head of the Panamanian delegation to the third (1958), sixth (1980) and seventh (1980) emergency special sessions; the eighth, ninth, tenth and eleventh (1980) special sessions, and the XV (1960), XXXI (1976), XXXII (1977), XXXIII (1978), XXXIV (1979) and XXXV (1980) regular sessions of the United Nations General Assembly.
- Member of the United Nations Sub-Committee on Freedom of Information and of the Press (Commission of Human Rights), New York, 1948.
- Head of the Panamanian delegation to the Sixth General Conference of UNESCO, Paris, 1951.
- Deputy Permanent Representative of the Republic of Panama to the United Nations, New York, 1957.
- Rapporteur of the Committee established by the Latin American Group to promote a better use of Spanish as a working language of the United Nations, 1957-1958.
- Vice-Chairman of the Second Special Meeting of the Committee of the Whole of the Economic Commission for Latin America, New York, 1958.
- Panamanian representative to the United Nations Security Council, 1958-1959 and 1976-1977. President of the Council in November 1958, November 1959 and November 1976.
- Rapporteur for the Third Special Meeting of the Committee of the Whole of the Economic Commission for Latin America, New York, 1960.
- Head of the Permanent Mission of Panama to the United Nations, 1960 and 1976-1978.
- Vice-President and Acting President of the XV, XXXI and XXXIV regular sessions and the sixth (1980) and seventh (1980) emergency special sessions and the eleventh (1980) special session of the General Assembly of the United Nations, 1960-1976 and 1979-1980.
- Chairman of the United Nations Latin American Group, 1960, 1976 and 1979.
- Member of the United Nations Commission on Human Rights, New York, 1961.
- Panamanian representative to the Security Council Committee on Council Meetings away from Headquarters, New York, 1973 (Jan.)

- Member of the Panamanian delegation to the Panama session of the Security Council devoted to Latin-American problems, which dealt with the Panama Canal Question, 1973 (March).
- Special Ambassador to the Governments of Egypt and Israel in connexion with the incorporation of the Panamanian contingent into the United Nations Emergency Force in the Suez Canal area, 1973 (Nov.)
- Panamanian delegate to the second (Caracas) and fourth (New York) sessions of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1974 and 1976.
- Head of the Panamanian delegation to the fifth (1976), sixth (1977) and the resumed seventh (1978) sessions of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, New York.
- Member of the Commission on Transnational Corporations (CTC) of the Economic and Social Council for 1977-1979. Panamanian representative to the third (1977) session of CTC and to the first, second (1977), third, fourth and fifth (1978) sessions of the Intergovernmental Working Group on a Code of Conduct.
- President of the fact-finding mission, made up of Panama, India and Libya, in conformity with Security Council resolution 404 (1977), to investigate an armed attack against Cotonou, capital city of Benin, 1977 (Feb.)
- Chief delegate of Panama to the 1977 session (14-25 March) and the 1979 session (19 March-6 April) of the Ad-Hoc Committee on International Terrorism, United Nations Headquarters, New York.
- Chief delegate of Panama to the organizational session (28-30 March) and to the second session (10-20 May 1977) of the Preparatory Committee for the Special Session of the General Assembly devoted to Disarmament, United Nations Headquarters Headquarters, New York.
- Head of the Panamanian delegation to the International Conference in Support of the Peoples of Zimbabwe and Namibia (Maputo-Mozambique, 16-21 May 1977). Elected Vice-President of the Conference and member of the Working Group that drafted the Maputo Declaration and the Programme of Action.
- Head of the Panamanian delegation to the first and second sessions of the Committee of the Whole established by General Assembly resolution 32/174, 1978-1979.
- Head of the Panamanian delegation to the United Nations Conference on the Establishment of the United Nations Industrial Development Organization as a Specialized Agency, New York, 1978.
- Panamanian representative to the meetings of the Group of 77 held at United Nations Headquarters, 1976-1979.

- Head of the Panamanian delegation to the Latin-American Co-ordinating Session held by the States members of the Latin American Economic System in preparation of the Fourth Ministerial Meeting of the Group of 77, Caracas, Venezuela, 15-19 January 1979.
- Head of the Panamanian delegation to the Fourth Ministerial Meeting of the Group of 77. Spokesman for the Latin American Group on item 14 (b), "Participation of developing countries in world shipping and the development of their merchant marines", Arusha, Tanzania, 5-16 February 1979.
- Representative of Panama as one of the Latin American members of the United Nations Special Committee on Enhancing the Effectiveness of the Principle of Non-Use of Force in International Relations (General Assembly resolution 32/150), 1979-1980.
- During the eleventh special session (Sept. 1980) of the General Assembly on Economic development, Ambassador Illueca served also as Vice-Chairman of the Ad Hoc Committee and Chairman of the Contact Group which was instrumental in the adoption of the resolutions on measures to meet the critical situation in the least developed countries.

Positions held in connexion with the Non-Aligned Movement

Member of the Panamanian delegation to the Fifth Conference of Heads of State or Government of Non-Aligned Countries, Colombo, Sri Lanka. Member of the Working Group on Disarmament formed by India, Mexico, Panama and Yugoslavia. Representative in the Political Committee which drafted the Political Declaration of Colombo, 1976.

Foreign Policy Adviser to the Panamanian Chief Executive, 1971-1976.

- Head of the special mission to the Government of Cuba to negotiate the liberation of vessels of Panamanian registry seized by the Cuban navy, Havana, 1971.
- Ambassador of the special mission to Washington in connexion with the Canal Treaty negotiations, 1972.
- Panamanian delegate to the meetings held in Caracas, Buenos Aires and Lima by the Joint Commission responsible for the draft of the Declaration of Ayacucho, signed on 9 December 1974 by the Presidents of Bolivia, Peru and Venezuela, the Head of Government of Panama and the representatives of the Presidents of Argentina, Chile, Colombia and Ecuador.
- Member of the delegation of Panama to the Specialized Inter-American Conference of Private International Law convened by the Organization of American States, rapporteur of the First Committee, 14-28 January 1975.
- Panamanian representative to the ministerial meeting to negotiate the establishment of the Latin American Economic System (SELA) (August 1975);

to the ministerial meeting which adopted the charter of SELA and to the first meeting of the Latin American Council (October 1975). Chairman of the working group responsible for the preliminary drafting of rules for the Latin American Council, Chief organ of SELA (Sept.-Oct. 1975).

Panamanian representative in the drafting committees which drafted: (a) the joint draft resolutions submitted by Panama, Peru and other non-aligned countries to the Panama session of the United Nations Security Council (Lima-Panama City, Feb.-March 1973); (b) the Joint Declaration on the Panama Canal Question by the Presidents of Colombia, Costa Rica and Venezuela and the Head of Government of Panama (Panama City, 24 March 1975); (c) the Joint Panama-Peru Communiqué by the Head of Government of Panama and the President of Peru (Lima, 22 October 1975); (d) the Declaration of Santa Cruz de la Sierra by the Head of Government of Panama and the President of Bolivia (Santa Cruz, Bolivia, 26 Oct. 1975); (e) the Declaration of Santa Marta and the Declaration of Puerto Galeón by the Presidents of Colombia and Venezuela and the Head of Government of Panama (29 July 1975); (f) the Joint Cuba-Panama Cummuniqué by the Head of Government of Panama and the Prime Minister of Cuba (Havana, Jan. 1976); (g) the Joint Panama-Yugoslavia Communiqué by the Head of Government of Panama and the President of the Federal Socialist Republic of Yugoslavia (Panama City, 17 March 1976); (h) the Joint Declaration by the Foreign Ministers of Colombia, Costa Rica, Panama and Venezuela concerning the Permanent Neutrality of the Panama Canal (Panama City, 14 July 1978); and (i) the Joint Declaration by the Secretary-General of the Intergovernmental Maritime Consultative Organization and the Head of the Panamanian Shipping Bureau (Panama City, 18 Nov. 1978).

Ambassador of special missions to Argentina, Barbados, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Egypt, Grenada, Guyana, Israel, Paraguay, Peru, Trinidad and Tobago and Venezuela, 1975.

Representative of the Minister for Foregin Affairs at the Orientation and Co-ordination Meeting of the Heads of Diplomatic Missions and Consulates accredited by Panama in Europe, North Africa and the Near East, Bonn, 22-26 March 1976.

Member of the Panamanian delegation to the meeting of the Minister of Foreign Affairs and the Secretary of State of the United States regarding the negotiations on a new Panama Canal Treaty, Washington, D.C. 1977.

Co-sponsor of the first session of the Committee of the International Foreign Medical Universities held at United Nations Headquarers on 25 and 26 June 1980.

Author of a number of works and articles on legal, political and historical questions.

Address

Permanent Mission of Panama to the United Nations, 866 United Nations Plaza, Room 544-545, New York, N.Y., 10017.

JACOVIDES, Andreas J. (Cyprus)

<u>/Original: English/</u>

Ambassador Andreas J. Jacovides, who is currently accredited as Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of the Republic of Cyprus to the United States of America and concurrently non-resident Ambassador to Brazil and Ecuador and High Commissioner to Canada, Jamaica and the Bahamas, was born at Nicosia, Cyprus, on 19 December 1936.

He is a career Foreign Service Officer with an extensive legal background and training and experience in international lawmaking and multilateral diplomacy. His father is a lawyer and his uncle was a judge in Cyprus. After completing his secondary education at the Pancyprian Gymnasium in Nicosia, he studied law in England and the United States, specializing in Public International Law.

Ambassador Jacovides obtained his B.A. (Law) Degree in 1958 with top honours and his LL.B. (International Law) in 1959, also with first-class honours, at the University of Cambridge. He was awarded the Henry Fellowship at the Harvard Law School (1959-1960), where he did research in Public International Law, and was called to the Bar at the Middle Temple in 1960, having passed the English Bar Examinations with honour and having received the Inns of Court International Law Prize. While at Cambridge, he was President of the St. John's College Law Society and a College Supervisor in international law and was awarded several college and university prizes and scholarship for academic achievement.

Ambassador Jacovides was a member of the first diplomatic mission sent from Cyprus and has been a member of the Cyprus delegation to every regular session of the General Assembly since the admission of Cyprus to the United Nations in September 1960.

He has been actively associated with the whole range of international law activities of the United Nations for the past 20 years, having served as Representative of Cyprus to the Sixth Committee from the sixteenth to the thirty-fifth session of the General Assembly (he was Vice Chairman of the Sixth Committee in 1972). He has also served on the following United Nations committees:

Special Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression

Advisory Committee on the Teaching, Study, Dissemination and Wider Appreciation of International Law

United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL)

Special Committee on the Charter of the United Mations and on the Strengthening of the Role of the Organization

Special Committee on Enhancing the Principle of Non-Use of Force in International Relations (and Vice-Chairman of the Committee)

Committee on Relations with the Host Country

A/36/372 English Page 74

Preparatory Committee for the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment

United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction

Ambassador Jacovides was Deputy Head (and Acting Chairman) of the Cyprus delegation to the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties (Vienna, 1968 and 1969) and was a signatory of the resulting Convention. He served as Head of the Cyprus delegation of the third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea and Vice-Chairman of its Third Committee (New York, 1973; Caracas, 1974; Geneva, 1975; New York, 1976; New York, 1977; Geneva, New York, 1978; Geneva, New York, 1979); the Third Conference of the Mediterranean Countries on the Law of the Sea (Athens, 1974); the Meeting of the Group of 77 on the Law of the Sea (Nairobi, 1974); the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee Meeting on Law of the Sea Matters (New Delhi, 1976); and the Commonwealth Meeting on Law of the Sea Matters (New York, 1976).

He represented Cyprus at the United Nations Conference on Prescription (Limitation) of the Sale of Goods and was Vice-President of the Conference (New York, 1974). He also represented Cyprus at the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee (Tokyo, 1974). Ambassador Jacovides was chief delegate to the nineteenth (extraordinary) session of the International Civil Aviation Organization (New York, 1973), and also represented Cyprus at the twelfth and fourteenth sessions of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (New York, 1975 and 1977). While serving at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in Nicosia (1965-1968), his duties included those of Legal Adviser in matters of public international law. He also acted as Legal Adviser to Cyprus Government Missions to the World Bank.

Other activities of Ambassador Jacovides in the legal field have been as follows:

Faculty member of the New School for Social Research, New York, on United Nations Law (1963-1965).

Cyprus participant in the Dag Hammarskjold Seminar on Law Treaties (Uppsala, 1966).

Cyprus participant in the International Peace Academy's Seminar on Peace-keeping Operations (Vienna and Helsinki, 1970, 1971 and 1972), and Associate Member of the Academy.

Panelist at the American Society of International Law Meetings on United Nations Peace-keeping (Iowa, 1969) and on the Law of the Sea (Washington, 1977).

Panelist at the Council on Foreign Relations Meeting on International Terrorism (New York, 1973).

In the political field, Ambassador Jacovides' experience in multilateral and bilateral diplomacy, in addition to his current posts and his active participation in the work of the political committees of all regular sessions of the General Assembly since 1960, includes the following assignments:

Head of the Cyprus delegation to the Ministerial Meeting of the Co-ordinating Committee of Non-Aligned Countries (Havana, March 1975; Algiers, May 1976; New Delhi, April 1977; and Havana, May 1978).

Deputy Head of the Cyprus delegation to the Conference of Ministers for Foreign Affairs of Non-Aligned Countries (Lima, August 1975 and Belgrade, July 1978).

7

Member of the Cyprus delegation to the Fifth Conference of Heads of State or Government of Non-Aligned Countries (Colombo, August 1976).

Member of the Cyprus delegation to the Commonwealth Prime Ministers Conference (London, 1965; London, 1966; Kingston, 1975; and London, 1977).

Head of the Cyprus special mission to the inauguration ceremonies of the President of Costa Rica (1978) and of the President of Brazil (1979) and to the independence celebrations of St. Lucia (1979).

Member of the official party of the President of the Republic of Cyprus Archbishop Makarios during His Beatitude's State visits to Panama, Peru, Uruguay, Chile, Ecuador and Colombia (1966).

Member of the Cyprus delegation to the Annual Conference of the Board of the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank, Washington, 1980.

Ambassador Jacovides' publications on legal and political subjects include the following:

"The Right of a State to Waive, Compromise or Settle Claims of its Nationals" (210-page research paper, Harvard Law School, 1960).

"Treaties Conflicting with Preemptory Norms of International Law and the Zurich-London Agreements" (1966).

"United Nations Peace-keeping - The Role of Small States and the Cyprus Experience" (1969), reprinted in <u>International Organization: Law in Movement</u> by the Oxford University Press (1974).

"The Cyprus Problem and the United Nations" in Cyprus Reviewed (1977).

"Some Aspects of the Law of the Sea: Islands, Delimitation and Dispute Settlement", Marine Policy, vol. 3, No. 4, IPC Science and Technology Press, United Kingdom (1979).

"The Cyprus Question - Its Dimensions, Implications and Prospects for a Solution", Occasional Papers, American University, Washington, D.C. (1980).

Ambassador Jacovides was decorated as Knight Commander of the Order of Phoenix (1976).

JAGOTA, S. P. (India)

Ċ

/Original: English/

Born 25 September 1925.

Present position

Additional Secretary, Legal and Treaties Division, Ministry of External Affairs, New Delhi.

Member of the International Law Commission (1977-1981).

Rank

Personal rank of Ambassador for international conferences.

Qualifications

- M.A. (Political Science), Punjab University, 1948 (First Class with first position in the University).
- LL.B., Punjab University, 1953 (First Class with first position in the University).
- LL.M., University of Pennsylvania, USA, June 1955. Subject: International Law. Thesis: "Has War Been Abolished?"
- Doctor of Science of Jurisprudence (SJD), University of Pennsylvania, USA, February, 1957. Subject: International Law. Thesis: "The Right of Peoples to Self-determination United Nations Law and Practice: 1945-1955".

Positions held

- Lecturer in Political Science, Doaba College, Jullundur, March 1949-September 1953; Head of the Department, September 1953-August 1954.
- Fulbright Scholar under the International Educational Exchange Programme at the University of Pennsylvania, August 1954-August 1957.
- Legal Aide, United Nations Secretariat, New York, summer 1955.
- Lecturer on Constitution, I.A.S. Training School, New Delhi, January 1958-November 1960.
- Professor of Political Theory and Constitutional Law, National Academy of Administration, Musoorie, November 1960-May 1963.

Deputy Director, Legal and Treaties Division, Ministry of External Affairs, May 1963-November 1967; Director, November 1967-May 1972.

Joint Secretary and Legal Adviser, Ministry of External Affairs, May 1972-June 1980.

Additional Secretary (L and T), Ministry of External Affairs, June 1980 onwards.

Special assignments

Senior Specialist, East-West Centre, Honolulu, Hawaii, March 1965-August 1965. Subjects studied: Judicial behaviour, Passport Laws of India, USA and Japan.

Visiting Professor, Max Planck Institute of Comparative and International Law, Heidelberg, summer 1968. Subjects studied: Judicial protection of the individual against the executive in India, North Sea Continental Shelf cases.

Visiting Professor of International Law, University of Delhi.

Member, Panel of Chairmen of Tribunals for INTELSAT (Satellite Communications), 1974-1976; 1976-1978.

Secretary, Inter-Ministerial Committee on the Sea and the Sea-bed, Government of India, (1971-).

Fields of specialization

International Law; Law of Treaties; Law of the Sea and the Sea-bed; Constitutional Law; Political Science.

Articles published

Contributed a number of articles on International Law, Administrative Law and Constitutional Law in periodicals and books published in India, the United States of America and Federal Republic of Germany. Examples:

International law

- "A Survey of the Work of the International Law Commission", The Research Bulletin (Arts) of the University of the Punjab, 1952, No. X(11).
- "A Review of the Work of the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee", Asian States and the Development of International Law, Vikas, New Delhi, 1972.
- "Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, 1969". Essays on the Law of Treaties, Orient Longman, 1972.
- "The Current Refugee Situation in India and International Law", Proceedings of the International Law Association, (Indian Branch), October 1971.

- "Basic Issues for the forthcoming Conference on the Law of the Sea", <u>Indian Journal</u> of International Law, April-June 1974.
- "The Sea Around Us", cover story, <u>Illustrated Weekly of India</u>, Bombay, 19 December 1976.
- "The International Law Commission", <u>Indian Journal of International Law</u>, October-December 1976.

Constitutional and Administrative Law and other subjects

- "Development of Constitutional Relations between Jammu and Kashmir and India, 1950-1960", Journal of the Indian Law Institute, July-September 1960.
- "Protection of the Individual Against the Executive in India", <u>Judicial Protection</u> against the Executive, Oceana, New York, and Max Planck Institute of Comparative and International Law, Heidelberg, Federal Republic of Germany, 1971.
- "Constitutional Aspects of Planning" and "Training of Public Servants in India",

 Administration and Economic Development in India, Duke, Durham, United States of

 America, 1963.

Participation in international conferences

A. <u>United Nations bodies and conferences</u>

- Committee of Experts on Transit Trade of Landlocked States, New York, 1964.
- Member of the United Nations Sub-Commission on Minorities and Racial Discrimination, 1967.
- United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties, 1968 and 1969 sessions held at Vienna Vice-Chairman of the Indian delegation.
- United Nations Commission for International Trade Law, second and third sessions, 1969 and 1970, Geneva and New York, respectively, Representative.
- United Nations Special Committee on Friendly Relations, August 1969, Representative.
- United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction, Geneva, August 1970; New York, March 1972 and March 1973; Geneva, July-August 1973. Leader of the delegation or Alternate.
- United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea: (first to ninth sessions, 1973-1980), Vice-Chairman or Chairman of the Indian delegation.
- United Nations General Assembly (twenty-fifth and twenty-seventh to thirty-fifth sessions, 1970-1980), member of the Indian delegation and Legal Adviser.
- International Law Commission 1977-1980 sessions, as member.

B. Other international conferences

Third Conference of Heads of State or Government of Non-Aligned Countries, Lusaka, Zambia, September 1970, member of the Indian delegation.

Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee, (eighth to twentieth sessions held in Bangkok (1966), Delhi (1967), Karachi (1969), Ghana (1970), Colombo (1971), Lagos (1972), Delhi (1973), Tokyo (1974), Tehran (1975), Kuala Lumpur (1976), Baghdad (1977), Qatar (1978), Seoul (1979) and Jakarta (1980), Deputy Leader or Leader of the Indian delegation.

C. <u>International Court of Justice</u>

Deputy Representative of India for presenting the Indian statement to the International Court of Justice in the case of Namibia (South-West Africa), February 1971.

Deputy Agent and Counsel for India in the appeal from the decision of the Council of the International Civil Aviation Organization on Pakistan's application and complaint concerning overflights over Indian territory, 1972.

Dealt with the case relating to 195 prisoners of war, jurisdiction over whom was claimed by Pakistan, 1973.

Bilateral conferences and negotiations

Member of the Indian team on bilateral negotiations with Pakistan, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, Nepal, Indonesia, USSR, Czechoslovakia, Canada, etc. (1970-1980).

Subjects covered

Transit for land-locked States; armed conflicts of 1965 and 1971 and aftermath; Simla Agreement of 1972; prisoners of war; Kachchathivu; maritime boundary with Sri Lanka, Indonesia, Bangladesh, Maldives, Thailand and Burma; nuclear energy; consular conventions; law of the sea questions, etc.

Member of the Indian delegation for the Simla Talks between the Prime Minister of India and the President of Pakistan, 1972.

Leader of the Indian team for consular conventions with USSR (1973) and Czechoslovakia (1974).

Leader of the technical team for maritime boundary talks with Indonesia, Burma, Bangladesh and Thailand (1974-1980).

KHALAFALLA, El Rasheed Mohamed Ahmed (Sudan)

/Original: English/

Born 15 February 1930.

Academic qualifications

Graduate of the Faculty of Law (Dip. of Law, University College, Khartoum, 1955).

LL.B. (Second Class Honours) (Section D - International Law), Cambridge University, 1965.

Diploma in International Law, Cambridge University, after submitting a thesis entitled "Some Aspects of African Boundaries" during the period of residence.

LL.M., University of London, 1966.

Career

Joined the Sudan Judiciary in 1955 in the capacity of Legal Assistant.

Promoted to the post of a District Judge, Second Grade, in 1956.

Resigned to practice advocacy at the end of 1956.

Recalled to the Judiciary due to shortage in the number of judges in 1957.

Promoted to the post of a District Judge, First Grade, in 1960.

Transferred at his request to the Ministry of Justice in 1962 in the capacity of Legal Counsel.

Promoted to the post of Advocate-General in 1967.

Appointed President of the Supreme Court in June 1972 at the inception of the new judicial system of 1972. Title of office changed to Chief Justice in 1973.

Other activities

Member of the Sudanese Law Revision Committee which was dissolved in 1969.

Member of the Sudanese International Boundary Commission.

Member of the Egyptian Economic, Legislative and Statistical Committee.

Member of the Board of the Faculty of Law, University of Khartoum.

Member of the British Institute of International Law.

- Chairman of the Committee charged with the study of revising the law of trade marks; the result was the promulgation of the Trade Marks Act, 1967.
- Part-time Lecturer in Law in the then College of Arabic and Islamic Studies of Cmdurman and the Faculty of Law, Cairo University (Khartoum Branch).
- Played a major role in the reorganization of the judicial system in the Sudan, the outcome of which was the Judiciary Act, 1972 and the Supreme Council of the Judiciary Act, 1973.
- Participated in the codification of the laws of the Sudan and assisted in revising the Code of Criminal Procedure and the Penal Code.
- Member of the Council of the Islamic University of Omdurman.
- Wrote several articles in the national press on a variety of subjects on legal and related matters.
- Gave a series of addresses on the practice of advocacy on Radio Omdurman.

Participation in international and regional activities

- Took part in the Conference of Arab Jurists held in Algiers in 1967 which studied the Palestinian question.
- Represented the Democratic Republic of the Sudan on the Committee of Legal Experts at a conference held by the United International Bureaux for the Protection of Intellectual Property at Geneva, 27-31 October 1969, to prepare a model law of industrial designs.
- Represented the Democratic Republic of the Sudan on the Committee of the Nine African Legal Experts charged with drafting two conventions: one on legal co-operation in Africa and the other on mercenaries session held in Addis Ababa from 10 to 23 January 1972.
- Elected Chairman of the Standing Legal Committee of the League of Arab States on 4 September 1974.
- Participated in the seminar held by the International Commission of Jurists at Dar-es-Salaam, 22-29 September 1976.
- Appointed Chairman of the Committee for the Revision of the Laws of the Sudan so as to bring them in conformity with the Sharia Islamia, May 1977.
- Participated in the International Peace-through-Law Conference which was held at Manila, August 1977.
- Took part in the International Conference of Appellate Judges, held at Sydney, Australia, in May 1980.

A/36/372 English Page 82

Honours and decorations

Sudan Republic's Nilein Order, First Class.

Sudan Republic's Gamhuria Order, First Class.

King Abdel Aziz Order, Third Class.

KOROMA, Abdul G. (Sierra Leone)

/Original: English/

Ambassador and Deputy Permanent Representative of the Republic of Sierra Leone to the United Nations since 1978.

Academic background

Master of Philosophy (International Law), King's College, University of London.

Master of Laws (LL.M) with honours, Kiev State University, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.

Barrister-at-Law, Honourable Society of Lincoln's Inn, London.

Certificate as participant in international law seminar organized by the International Law Commission.

Diplomatic career and activities

First joined the Sierra Leone Government Service in 1964 and the Ministry of External Affairs in 1969 and served in the International Division.

Barrister and Legal Practitioner of the High Court of Sierra Leone. Later appointed State Counsel and Special Assistant to the Minister of Justice and Attorney-General.

Lectured extensively, including course for Government Legal Officers from overseas, London. Also participated in a number of seminars on international law.

Served as delegate of Sierra Leone to numerous sessions of the United Nations General Assembly, including special sessions, and representative in the Sixth Committee (Legal) of the General Assembly. Chairman of the Sixth Committee for the thirty-fifth session of the General Assembly. Sierra Leone's delegate to numerous international legal conferences, including the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, the United Nations Conference on Succession of States in Respect of Treaties, the United Nations International Commission on Trade Law, the Special Committee on the Review of the Charter and on the Strengthening of the Role of the Organization (Vice-Chairman since 1978) and the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of Outer Space.

Major work

The Settlement of Territorial and Boundary Disputes in Africa", thesis presented to the University of London in the examination for the degree of Master of Philosophy in the field of International Law. Articles on the legal régime of outer space in Alibi, Lincoln's Inn Law Journal, and on mercenaries, The Times of London (1974).

LACLETA-MUÑOZ, José Manuel (Spain)

/Original: Spanish/

Born on 7 December 1926 in Zaragoza, Spain.

Married, with six children.

University degrees and appointments

Law degree, Faculty of Law, Universidad Complutense Madrid, 1945-1950.

Diploma in Career Diplomacy, Diplomatic School, Madrid, 1956.

Professor of international public law, Faculty of Law, Universidad Complutense, Madrid, 1957-1962.

Professor of international private law, Faculty of Political, Economic and Commercial Sciences, Madrid, 1960-1962.

Professor of diplomatic law, Diplomatic School, Madrid, 1973 to present.

Career

Positions held

Secretary of the School of International Civil Servants, Madrid, 1958-1962.

First Secretary, Spanish Embassy in Bogotá, (appointed 6 July 1962).

Embassy Counsellor, Spanish Embassy in The Hague, (appointed 16 April 1970).

Embassy Counsellor, Spanish Embassy in Oslo, (appointed 16 April 1970).

Legal Adviser in the International Legal Office of Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Madrid, 1957-1962 and 1973 to date.

Acting Chief, International Legal Office of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Madrid, 1974.

Professor, Diplomatic School, 1973-1978.

Chief, International Legal Office of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Madrid, 1975.

Member, Board of Governors of the Diplomatic School, 1975.

Minister Plenipotentiary, 1977.

International conferences

- Secretary of the National Commission for Co-operation with The Hague Conference on Private International Law, (appointed 31 August 1956).
- Counsellor on the Spanish delegation to the United Nations in New York, (appointed 2 January 1957).
- Counsellor on the Spanish delegation to the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 12 February 1958.
- Counsellor on the Spanish delegation to the preparatory meeting for the Second United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, London, 14 November 1959.
- Counsellor on the Spanish delegation to the Second United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 14 March 1960.
- Member of the Spanish delegation to the special sessions of The Hague Conference on Private International Law, The Hague, 23 March and 7 October 1966.
- Secretary of the Spanish delegation to the second session of the Conference on Private International Law, The Hague, 31 June 1968.
- Member of the Spanish delegation to the Conference of European Ministers of Justice, The Hague, 22 May 1970.
- Spanish delegate to the International Conference of Plenipotentiaries of the International Civil Aviation Organization, Rome, 26 July 1973.
- Spanish delegate to the special session of the Assembly of the International Civil Aviation Organization, Rome, 26 July 1973.
- Spanish delegate to the Diplomatic Conference on the Reaffirmation and Development of International Humanitarian Law Applicable in Armed Conflicts, Geneva, 31 January 1974.
- Deputy Head of the Spanish delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (Caracas, 1974; New York, 1976; New York, 1977; Geneva, 1978; New York, 1978).
- Member of the Interministerial Commission on International Legal Co-operation since 1975.

Spokesman for the Spanish delegation to the Spanish-American negotiations on fishing rights, Madrid, 3 November 1976.

Spokesman for the Spanish delegation to the negotiations on fishing rights between Spain and the European Economic Community, Brussels, 1 December 1976.

Chairman of the International Arbitration Board of the International Olive Oil Council. 1974.

Legal adviser to the World Tourism Organization, 1976-1977.

Member of the International Law Association.

Before the International Court of Justice

Secretary of the Spanish delegation in the Barcelona Traction case, 1965-1970.

Representative of the Spanish Government in the Western Sahara case, 1975.

Publications

Tratados de Arbitraje suscritos por España, Madrid, 1956.

Curso de Derecho Diplomático, Diplomatic School, Madrid, 1973.

"Aguas Interiores y Bahías" in <u>La Actual Revisión del Derecho del Mar. Una</u> perspectiva española, volume 1, Madrid, 1974, pp. 201-232.

"Tercera Conferencia de las Naciones Unidas sobre el Derecho del Mar", in collaboration with Pastor Ridruejo and Yturriaga Barberpan, in <u>Cuadernos de Documentación de la Oficina de Información Diplomática</u>, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Madrid, 1978.

Various contributions to the Revista Española de Derecho Internacional.

MALEK, Chafic (Lebanon)

/Original: English/

Born 1 December 1917, Rachaya-El'Wadi, Lebanon.

Diplômé de l'Institut des Hautes Etudes Internationales, Faculty of Law, University of Paris, 1949.

Doctor of Law, Faculty of Law, University of Paris, 1950.

Editor of the Revue de droit international pour le Moyen-Orient, Paris-Beirut, 1951-1959.

Member of the Lebanese delegation to the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly of the United Nations at the sixth (1951-1952), thirty-fourth (1979) and thirty-fifth (1980) sessions.

Joined the Legal Department of the United Nations Secretariat in February 1952 as a member of the Division for the Progressive Development and Codification of International Law; and fulfilled within this Division, subsequently named the Codification Division, the functions of: Associate Legal Officer (1952-1956), Legal Officer (1956-1965), Senior Legal Officer (1965-1973), Deputy Director for Research and Studies (1974-1978) and Acting Director of the Division during several months every year from 1964-1978.

Publications

"Le rôle du Moyen-Orient dans les relations internationales", <u>Mémoire</u>, Institut des Hautes Etudes Internationales, University of Paris, 1949.

"Organization et vie constitutionnelles du Liban", doctoral thesis, Faculty of Law, University of Paris, 1950.

Founder of the Revue de droit international pour le Moyen-Orient, Editions A. Pédone, Paris, 1951.

"Les tendances internationales des peuples arabes du Moyen-Orient et le problème de la paix", Revue de droit international pour le Moyen-Orient, vol. I, No. 1, 1951, p. 4.

"Etude critique de la théorie parlementaire dans son application au Liban", ibid., vol. 1, No. 1, 1951, p. 66.

"L'Affaire de l'Anglo-Iranian Oil Company devant la Cour Internationale de Justice", ibid., vol. II, No. 1, 1952, p. 67.

- "L'affaire tunisienne devant le Conseil de sécurité", <u>ibid</u>., vol. II, No. 1, 1952, p. 89.
- "Les aspects juridiques de la réélection ainsi que de la démission du président de la République libanaise", <u>ibid.</u>, vol. II, No. 1, 1952, p. 99.
- "L'organisation des pouvoirs publics en Syrie (d'après la Constitution du 11 juillet 1953)", <u>ibid.</u>, vol. IV, No. 1, 1954, p. 185.
- "La théorie dite des baies historiques", ibid., vol. VII, 1957, p. 100.

Official activities within the Office of Legal Affairs of the United Nations

Principal studies and research work

- Took part in the preparation of the Secretary-General's Study on the Question of Defining Aggression (A/2211, 1952), submitted to the General Assembly in accordance with resolution 599 (VI).
- Prepared the basic report of the 1953 Special Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression (Official Records of the General Assembly, Ninth Session, Supplement No. 11 (A/2638)).
- Prepared the Study on Historic Bays (A/CONF.13/1, 1957), submitted to the 1958 Conference on the Law of the Sea.
- Organized and supervised the preparation of the Secretary-General's report on the legal problems relating to the utilization and use of international rivers (A/5409, 1963), submitted to the General Assembly in accordance with resolution 1401 (XIV).
- Took a major part in the preparation of the study on the question of methods of fact-finding (A/5694, 1964) submitted to the General Assembly in pursuance of resolution 1967 (XVIII).
- Prepared the study on the question of non-applicability of statutory limitation to war crimes and crimes against humanity (E/CN.4/906, 1966), submitted to the Commission on Human Rights in pursuance of its resolution 3 (XXI).
- Prepared the preliminary draft convention on the non-applicability of statutory limitation to war crimes and crimes against humanity (E/CN.4/928, 1967), submitted to the Commission on Human Rights in accordance with resolution 1158 (XLI) of the Economic and Social Council.
- Supervised the preparation of the study on extradition of criminals (E/CN.4/983, 1969) submitted to the Commission on Human Rights in accordance with resolution 1158 (XLI) of the Economic and Social Council.

- Took a major part in the preparation of the reports of the 1969 (Official Records of the General Assembly, Twenty-fourth Session, Supplement No. 20 (A/7620)), 1970 (ibid., Twenty-fifth Session, Supplement No. 19 (A/8019)), 1971 (ibid., Twenty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 19 (A/8419)) and 1972 (ibid., Twenty-seventh Session, Supplement No. 19 (A/8719)) sessions of the Special Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression.
- Reviewed the study of criteria for determining compensation to the victims of war crimes and crimes against humanity, prepared within the Division of Human Rights (A/8345, 1971).
- Assisted the Ad Hoc Working Group of Experts, established under resolution 2 (XXIII) of the Commission on Human Rights, in the preparation of the study concerning the question of apartheid from the point of view of international penal law (E/CN.4/1075, 1972).
- Participated in the preparation of the study on international terrorism (A/C.6/418, 1972).
- Supervised the preparation of the supplementary report on legal problems relating to the non-navigational uses of international watercourses (A/CN.4/274, vols. I and II, 1974).
- Supervised the preparation of the Secretary-General's reports on the 1975, 1976 and 1977 sessions of the Diplomatic Conference on Reaffirmation and Development of International Humanitarian Law Applicable in Armed Conflicts (A/10195, 1975; A/31/163, 1976; A/32/144, 1977).
- Took part in the preparation of the reports of the International Law Commission on the work of several sessions.
- Undertook or supervised research work on a variety of subjects of international law dealt with by the International Law Commission, such as the succession of States (A/CN.4/157; A/CN.4/232), law of treaties (A/CN.4/154), State responsibility (A/CN.4/208; A/CN.4/209) and the most-favoured-nation clause (A/CN.4/269).

United Nations legal publications

United Nations Legislative Series

Prepared or supervised the preparation of, the following volumes of this series:

Volume ST/LEG/SER.B/6, (1957) - Laws and Regulations on the Régime of the High Sea; Volume ST/LEG/SER.B/7, (1958) - Laws and Regulations regarding Diplomatic and Consular Privileges and Immunities; Volume ST/LEG/SER.B/10, (1960) - Legislative Texts and Treaty Provisions concerning the Legal Status, Privileges and Immunities of International Organizations (Part I); Volume ST/LEG/SER.B/11, (1961) - Legislative Texts and Treaty Provisions concerning the Legal Status, Privileges and Immunities of International Organizations (Part II);

Volume ST/LEG/SER.B/13, (1963) - Supplement to the Volume on Laws and Regulations regarding Diplomatic and Consular Privileges and Immunities; Volume ST/LEG/SER.B/12, (1963) - Legislative Texts and Treaty Provisions concerning the Utilization of International Rivers; Volume ST/LEG/SER.B/17, (1978) - Materials on Succession of States in respect of Matters other than Treaties.

United Nations Reports of International Arbitral Awards

Prepared the following volumes of these reports:

Volume IX (1959); Volume X (1960); Volume XI (1961); Volume XII (1963); Volume XIII (1964); Volume XIV (1965); Volume XV (1966); Volume XVI (1968).

Special assignments

- Served as a member of the Secretariat of the 1953 Committee on International Criminal Jurisdiction established under resolution 687 (VII) of the General Assembly.
- Served as a member of the secretariat of the 1953 Special Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression established under resolution 688 (VII) of the General Assembly.
- Served as a member of the Secretariat of the International Law Commission at various sessions since 1954, and took part in the work of the Drafting Committees established by the Commission.
- Served as Deputy Secretary of the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly at various sessions.
- Served as Secretary of the Fifth Committee (Free Access to the Sea of Land-locked Countries) of the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, held at Geneva in 1958.
- Served as a member of the Secretariat of the United Nations Conference on Elimination and Reduction of future statelessness, held in Geneva in 1959, and took part in the work of the Drafting Committee of the Conference.
- Represented the Legal Counsel at the Commission on Human Rights at its Geneva session in 1967 and assisted the Commission in the preparation of the draft convention on the non-applicability of statutory limitation to war crimes and crimes against humanity.
- Represented the Legal Counsel at the Joint Working Group of the Third and Sixth Committees of the General Assembly at its twenty-second session in 1967 and assisted the Working Group in the drafting of the convention on the non-applicability of statutory limitation to war crimes and crimes against humanity.

- Served as Deputy Secretary of the 1967 Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression established under resolution 1181 (XX) of the General Assembly.
- Served as Deputy Secretary of the 1969, 1970, 1971, 1972, 1973 and 1974 sessions of the Special Committee on the Question of Defining Aggression established under resolution 2330 (XXII) of the General Assembly.
- Represented the Legal Counsel at the seventeenth session of the Legal Committee of the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), convened at Montreal, in March 1970, for the preparation of the draft convention on the unlawful seizure of aircraft.
- Represented the Legal Counsel at the eighteenth session of the Legal Committee of ICAO, convened in London, in September-October 1970, for the preparation of a draft convention on acts of unlawful interference with international civil aviation.
- Served as the Chief of United Nations Observer at the International Conference held at The Hague, in December 1970, for the adoption of the convention for the suppression of unlawful seizure of aircraft.
- Represented the Legal Counsel at the session of the Sub-Committee of the Legal Committee of ICAO, held at Montreal, in April 1971, for the consideration of the question of consultation and joint action to be taken by States in certain cases of unlawful interference with international civil aviation.
- Served as the United Nations Observer at the International Conference, held at Montreal in September 1971, for the adoption of the Convention for the suppression of unlawful acts against the safety of civil aviation.
- Represented the Legal Counsel at the 1972 session of the Ad Hoc Working Group of Experts (established under resolution 2 (XXIII) of the Commission on Human Rights) and assisted the Group in the preparation of the study concerning the question of apartheid from the point of view of international penal law.
- Served as Deputy Secretary of the Ad Hoc Committee on International Terrorism (1973).
- Represented the United Nations at the 1973 session of the ICAO Legal Committee and the ICAO Conference held in Rome for the preparation of a convention on concerted action to be taken by States in certain cases of unlawful interference with international civil aviation.
- Served as Deputy Secretary of the Special Committee on the Charter of the United Nations and on the Strengthening of the Role of the Organization, at its 1975, 1976, 1977 and 1978 sessions.
- Served as Secretary of the Ad Hoc Committee on International Terrorism (1977).
- Served as Secretary of the Ad Hoc Committee on the Drafting of an International Convention against the Taking of Hostages (1977).
- Served as Deputy Secretary of the Special Committee on Enhancing the Effectiveness of the Principle of Non-Use of Force in International Relations (1978).

MENDOZA, Estelito P. (Philippines)

<u>/Original: English/</u>

Born January 1930 of Guillermo D. Mendoza and Barbara P. Mendoza of Bacolor, Pampanga.

Married to Rosa A. Mendoza (B.S.HE., University of the Philippines).

Educational training

Secondary education: University of the Philippines High School, 1946.

A.A., College of Liberal Arts, University of the Philippines, 1948.

LL.B. (cum laude), College of Law, University of the Philippines, 1952.

LL.M., Harvard Law School, Harvard University, 1954.

LL.D. (honoris causa), Central Colleges of the Philippines, 1975.

LL.D. (honoris causa), Hanyang University, Seoul, Korea, 1978.

Present position

Solicitor-General (2 May 1972 to present).

Member of the Cabinet (21 September 1975 to present).

Governor of the Province of Pampanga (3 March 1980 to present).

Professorial Lecturer in Law, University of the Philippines.

Member, Board of Regents, University of the Philippines; Member, Board of Directors, Philippine National Oil Company of the Philippines, Philippine National Lines, Philippine Air Lines and Philippine National Iron and Steel Corporation.

Previous government positions held

Assemblyman, Region III, Batasang Pambansa (National Assembly).

Chairman, Committee on Revision of Laws and Codes and Constitutional Amendments, Batasang Pambansa.

Member, Steering Committee, Committee on Appropriations, Committee on Foreign Affairs and Committee on Energy, Batasang Pambansa.

Chairman, Special Committee on Naturalization (P.D. 1379).

A/36/372 English Page 92

Under-Secretary of Justice (15 September 1971-1 May 1972).

Chairman, Deportation Board.

Acting Chairman, Anti-Dummy Board.

Vice-Chairman, Fair Trade Board.

Acting Chairman, Special Committee on Narcotics (E.O. No. 318).

Member, Batasang Bayan (Legislative Advisory Assembly).

Professional experience

Practising Lawyer, 1952-15 September 1972.

Other activities in law and government

- Chairman, Sixth (Legal) Committee, thirty-first session (1976), United Nations General Assembly.
- Chairman, Special Committee on the Charter of the United Nations and the Strengthening of the Role of the Organization (1980).
- Vice-Chairman, Philippine delegation, United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction (Preparatory Committee on the Law of the Sea Conference, Geneva, 1971; New York, 1972; Geneva, 1972; New York, 1973; Geneva, 1973).
- Vice-Chairman, Philippine delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (Caracas, Venezuela, 1974; Geneva, Switzerland, 1973 and 1978; New York, 1976, 1977, 1978, 1979 and 1980).
- Chairman, Philippine delegation to the fourteenth, fifteenth, seventeenth and twentieth sessions of the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee (AALCC) (New Delhi, 1973; Tokyo, 1974; Kuala Lumpur, 1976; Seoul, 1979). Member, Philippine delegation to the thirteenth session of AALCC (Lagos, Nigeria, 1972).
- Member, Ministerial Goodwill Mission to Indonesia, Malaysia, Sri Lanka, Saudi Arabia and Kuwait (1977).
- Member, Ministerial Goodwill Mission to Gabon (1977).
- Member, Philippine delegation to the meeting of Heads of Governments of the Association of South-East Asian Nations (ASEAN) at Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia (1977).
- Member, President's State Visit to China (1975) and the USSR (1976).
- Special Adviser, Philippine delegation to the thirtieth session of the United Nations General Assembly (1975).
- Member, Philippine Panel on Renegotiation of Philippine-U.S. Military Bases Agreement (1971 and 1976).

- Member Advisory Committee on the Law of the Sea (Department of Foreign Affairs).
- Philippine participant, International Law Commission Seminar on International Law at Geneva (third session, 1967).
- Philippine delegate, United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties at Vienna (1968 and 1969).
- Member, Criminal Law Reform Project, University of the Philippines Law Center, 1965-1966.
- Member, Revised Administrative Code Revision Project (University of the Philippines Law Center, 1966).
- Member, Philippine trade mission to Europe, 1963.
- Member, Philippine panel, Philippine-German negotiations on Treaty concerning the Protection of Investments, 1964.
- Chairman, Committee VIII, Constitutional Revision Project (University of the Philippines Law Center, 1969-1970).
- Member, Reorganization Panel No. 12, Commission on Reorganization (1969-1971).
- Member, Planning Committee, UNITAR-UNESCO Regional Refresher Training Course in International Law for Asia (1969).

Teaching experience

Faculty member since 1954 (Instructor, 1954-1957, Assistant Professor, 1957-1958, Professorial Lecturer in Law, 1958 to present), University of the Philippines.

Subjects taught at the University of the Philippines

- LL.B. course Criminal Law 1 (Principles of Criminal Science); Criminal Law 2 (Specific Crimes and their Penalties); Criminal Law Review; Philippine Political Law, Constitutional Law; Contemporary Problems on Constitutional Law; Public Officers and the Civil Service; Labor and Tenancy Law; Succession; Extra-Contractual Obligations and Damages; Negotiable Instruments Law; Private Corporations; Civil Procedure; Criminal Procedure; Special Proceedings; Evidence; Legal Writing; Land Titles and Deeds; Conflict of Laws; Legal and Judicial Ethics; Legal Writing and Research; Trial Technique.
- LL.M. course Comparative Constitutional Law; Legal Philosophy; Public Control of Business; Problems of Business Association; Thesis Seminar.

Publications and papers read

"Crimes Against Persons", working paper for the Conference on Criminal Reform (University of the Philippines Law Center, July 1965).

- "Settlement of Disputes Arising from the Alleged Invalidity, Termination and Suspension of the Operation of Treaties" (read on the occasion of the Joint Annual Meeting of the Philippine Society of International Law and the International Commission of Jurists, 18 January 1969).
- "The Base-Lines of the Philippine Archipelago" (read before the United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction on 16 August 1971) (46 Philippine Law Journal 628, September 1971).
- "Practical Problems of Practice in Civil and Criminal Cases", Law Practice for the Young Lawyer (Law Institute Series, 1969).
- "A New Law of the Sea. Sea-Bed Resources Development", Conference on Private Investments and International Transactions in Asian and Pacific Countries, 1975, (Southwestern Legal Foundation, p. 665).
- "Personal Property Security in the Philippines", 40 Washington Law Review 399, Seattle, Washington, 1965.
- "Brief-Making and Oral Arguments", Remedial Law Revisited, 1973 ed., University of the Philippines Law Center.
- "The Suspension of the Writ of Habeas Corpus: Suggested Amendments", 6 Far Eastern Law Review 310 (September 1958); 38 Philippine Law Journal 630 (1958).
- "Presidential Suspension of the Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Philippines: Its Antecedents", 31 Philippine Law Journal 138 (February 1956).
- "Commercial Law: Insurance, Private Corporations, Negotiable Instruments and Public Service Law", 27 Philippine Law Journal 262 (April 1952).
- "LOI 270 and Naturalization", 4 Journal of the Integrated Bar 260, fourth quarter 1975.

"Law and Society" (National Media Production Center, 1978).

Present membership of civic and professional organizations

President, University of the Philippines Alumni Association.

President, University of the Philippines Alumni Association (Pampanga Chapter).

Member, Governing Council, ASEAN Law Association.

Vice-Chairman, National Committee, ASEAN Law Association of the Philippines.

Member, Board of Directors, Upsilon Sigma Phi Alumni Association.

Member, Executive Council, Philippine Society of International Law.

Fellow, International Academy of Trial Lawyers.

Member, Integrated Bar of the Philippines (Pampanga Chapter).

Member, Lawasia.

Member, Rotary Club of Manila (Director).

Member, Harvard Club of the Philippines.

Member, Padre Burgos General Assembly, Knights of Columbus.

Member, St. Joseph Council No. 3913, Knights of Columbus.

Member, Manila Polo Club.

Past awards and memberships

First Vice-President, University of the Philippines Alumni Association (1964-1965).

Phi Kappa Phi Honor Society.

Phi Gamma Mu (for excellence in the social sciences).

University President's Pin (for scholarship).

President Quirino Gold Medal (for oratory), 1951.

President Tan Gold Medal (for oratory), 1951.

Justice Padilla Gold Medal (for oratory), 1952.

Upsilon Sigma Phi (for excellence in oratory).

Past Grand Knight, St. Joseph Council No. 3913, Knights of Columbus.

College Editor, 1952 Philippinensian.

Philippine Law Journal Editorial Board.

Vice-President, University of the Philippines Debating-Oratorical Club (1951-52).

Vice-President, University of the Philippines Law Sophomore Association (1949-50).

Award of Honor (Outstanding son of Bacolor, Pampanga) (1972).

Special Award (Distinguished alumnus, Lakan-Dula Elementary School), Division of City Schools, Manila, 1973.

Professional Awardee in Law (1975), University of the Philippines Alumni Association citation reads as follows:

"For outstanding achievement as lawyer, scholar, teacher and Solicitor-General;

"For his steadfast advocacy of the Rule of Law during the martial law period, thus championing the cause of liberty, peace and public order;

"For his noteworthy example and role in the protection and promotion of vital national interests - in international negotiations, in the conservation of natural resources, in the setting up of oil and energy programs, in the integration of aliens as citizens and in the maintenance of law and order while safeguarding civil liberties;

"For his impeccable integrity and sustained superior performance as government official, lawyer, diplomat, private practitioner, law professor and civic leader - bringing honor to the legal profession, to his Alma Mater and to our country and people."

President Ferdinand E. Marcos

11 September 1973:

"... the man who has fought my battles in the Supreme Court with brilliance and tenacity".

21 October 1974:

"I commend you ... for your effective and skillful advocacy before the Supreme Court of the cause of the New Society".

19 September 1975:

"... I want to make an announcement pertaining to a reward to a deserving public servant. Today I have the honor and the pleasure to elevate to the position of cabinet member the Solicitor-General of the Philippines, Estelito P. Mendoza, in view of his exemplary service to the Republic of the Philippines not only in the conduct of the legal defense of the Republic in our courts but also in legal conferences and forums outside the Philippines."

NI, Zhengyu (China)

/Original: English/

Born 28 July 1906 in Jiangsu Province, People's Republic of China.

Present positions and related activities

Legal Counsel, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, People's Republic of China, since 1956.

Arbitrator, China Maritime Arbitration Commission, since 1965.

Arbitrator, China Foreign Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission, since 1975.

Research Fellow (concurrently), Institute of Law, Academia Sinica.

Member, Board of Directors, China Society of Oceanography.

Member, Board of Directors, China Society of International Law.

Member, National Committee, Chinese People's Political Consultative Council, since 1959.

Studies and degrees

Bachelor of Arts, Chitz University, Shanghai, 1927.

Bachelor of Law, Suzhou University Law School (alias dictus the Comparative Law School of China), 1928.

Juris Doctor (advanced degree in law), Stanford University, USA, 1929.

Honorary Scholar, Institute for the Study of Law, Johns Hopkins University, USA, 1930-1931.

Teaching experience

Lecturer on International Law, Private International Law, Comparative Law, Jurisprudence, Civil Law, Civil Procedure, Judicial Organization, etc. at Suzhou University Law School (Shanghai), the Great China University (Shanghai), the China Public Institute (Wusong), Chitz University (Shanghai), Chao Yang Law College (Chongqing), Suzhou-Shanghai Union College of Law and Commerce (Chongqing), 1931-1945.

Professor of Law and concurrently Dean of the Law Faculty and Dean of Studies, Suzhou University Law School, 1948-1954.

Law work and related international activities

Member of the Shanghai Bar Association (1931-).

Member of International Prosecution Section, International Military Tribunal for the Fat East (1946-1948).

Legal Counsel of the Chinese delegation to the twenty-seventh session of the United Nations General Assembly (1972).

Legal Counsel of the Chinese delegation to the United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction (1972 and 1973).

Legal Counsel of the Chinese delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (Caracas, 1974; Geneva, 1975; New York, 1977 and 1981).

Published works: writings and translations

Writings

"The Progress of Law from Chance to Choice" (Stanford University, 1929).

"The Hypothetical Nature of Law" (China Law Review, 1931).

"The Judicial Machinery in the United States and the United Kingdom" (Nanjing, 1947).

"Studies in Problems of the Judiciary" (China Law Journal, 1947).

The Question of Judicial Jurisdiction in International Law (World Knowledge Publishing House, Beijing, 1964).

Legal Problems in Collision of Ships Cases (Beijing, 1965).

The History and Present Condition of the Problem Concerning the Breadth of Territorial Sea (Beijing, 1971).

Practices in the Delimitation of Marine Areas (Beijing, 1971).

On the Legal Régime of the International Sea-Bed Area (Beijing, 1972).

The International Struggle Relating to the Continental Shelf (Beijing, 1976).

Translations

Private International Law, J. A. C. Thomas (Commercial Press, Beijing, 1963).

International Treaty Series, 1917-1957 (jointly undertaken) (Beijing, 1959-1962).

International Relations of the Chinese Empire, H. B. Morse (jointly) (Shanghai, 1956).

Diplomacy, Harold Nicolson (jointly) (Beijing, 1957).

Consular Law and Practice, Luke T. Lee (jointly) (Beijing, 1975).

NJENGA, Frank X. (Kenya)

/Original: English/

Born 6 January 1940 in Nairobi, Kenya.

Married, with 3 sons.

Academic qualifications

LL.B. (London) 1963.

LL.M. (Columbia) 1965.

LL.M. (New York University) 1968.

Publications

A number of articles on human rights.

Investment guarantees and the law of the sea.

Professional employment

Deputy Registrar, High Court of Kenya, 1963.

Lecturer, University of Dar-es-Salaam, 1965-1968.

Lecturer, University of Nairobi, 1968-1969.

Member of the Commission on Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration of the Organization of African Unity (OAU).

Leader of the Kenya delegation to the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly during the twenty-fourth and twenty-fifth and twenty-seventh to twenty-ninth sessions of the United Nations General Assembly.

Member of the Kenya delegation to the Security Council, 1973-1974.

Leader of the Kenya delegation to the United Nations Special Committee on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation Among States during 1969 and 1970 sessions.

Leader of the Kenya delegation to the United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction during its sessions from 1969 to 1972.

Leader of the Kenya delegation to the first session of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1973.

Deputy leader of the Kenya delegation to the second session of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea at Caracas, 1974.

Leader of the Kenya delegation to the African Group of Experts Meeting on the Law of the Sea in Kampala, 10-17 July 1975.

Rapporteur of the Second Committee of the twenty-fifth ordinary session of the Council of Ministers of the Organization of African Unity, held in Kampala, 18-25 July 1975.

Vice-Chairman of the Second Committee of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea during the first, second and third sessions.

Deputy leader of the third session of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea from 1975 to 1980.

Member of the Kenya delegation to the thirteenth session of the Assembly of Heads of State and Government of OAU, held in Kampala, 27 July-2 August 1975.

Chairman of the Sixth Committee during the thirtieth session of the United Nations General Assembly.

Member of the International Law Commission 1976-1981.

Chairman of Negotiating Group I on the System of Exploration and Exploitation of the Sea-Bed, to March 1981.

Head of Legal Division, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1960-January 1980.

Director of Political Department, Organization of African Unity, Addis Ababa, effective from 1980.

OGISO, Motoo (Japan)

/Original: English/

Born 21 December 1919.

Education

Law Graduate, Law Faculty, Tokyo Imperial University.

Present position

Ambassador of Japan to Thailand since December 1979.

A/36/372 English Page 102

Ă

Career

Rank and posts

Joined the Foreign Service, Attaché, Embassy of Japan in Peking, 1941.

Second Secretary, Embassy of Japan in New Delhi, 1952.

Member of the Jury for the Diplomatic Service Examination, 1953-1954.

First Secretary, Permanent Mission of Japan to the United Nations, 1955.

Director of the Legal Affairs Division, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1958.

Member of the Jury for the Diplomatic Service Examination, 1958-1962.

Lecturer at the University of Tokyo, 1959-1961.

Associate Member, Legislative Council of the Ministry of Justice, 1959-1961 and 1963.

Counsellor, Embassy of Japan in Vienna, 1963.

Director-General for Foreign Relations, Defense Agency, 1966.

Deputy Director-General of the United Nations Bureau, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1968.

Director, Space Activities Commission, Prime Minister's Office, 1968.

Deputy Permanent Representative to the United Nations, 1970.

Permanent Representative to the Disarmament Commission, 1975.

Ambassador to Thailand, 1979.

Participation in international conferences

Delegate to the eleventh and twelfth Sessions of the General Assembly of the United Nations, 1956-1957.

Delegate to the fourth session of the United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation, 1958.

Delegate to the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1960.

Alternate representative to the seventh, eighth and ninth sessions of the General Conference of the International Atomic Energy Agency, 1963-1965.

Representative to the Conference of Non-Nuclear Weapon States, 1968.

- Alternate representative to the twenty-third and twenty-fourth sessions of the General Assembly of the United Nations, 1968-1969.
- Alternate representative to the first and second sessions of the Plenipotentiary Conference on Definitive Arrangements for the International Telecommunications Satellite Consortium, 1968-1969.
- Chairman of Committee II at the first and second sessions of the Plenipotentiary Conference on Definitive Arrangements for the International Telecommunications Satellite Consortium, 1968-1969.
- Representative to the Conference of the Disarmament Commission, 1969.
- Representative to the sixteenth Congress of the Universal Postal Union, 1969.
- Representative to the twenty-fifth to twenty-eighth and thirty-first to thirty-third sessions of the General Assembly of the United Nations, 1970-1973 and 1976-1978.
- Representative to the resumed forty-ninth session of the United Nations Economic and Social Council, 1970.
- Representative to the fifty-second and fifty-fourth sessions of the United Nations Economic and Social Council, 1971 and 1973. .
- Representative to the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment, 1972.
- Vice-Chairman of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment, 1972.
- Chairman of the Fifth Committee at the twenty-seventh session of the General Assembly of the United Nations, 1973.
- Representative to the first to seventh sessions of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1973-1978.
- Representative to the first ordinary meeting of the Assembly of Parties of INTELSAT, 1974.
- Representative to the sixth special session of the General Assembly of the United Nations, 1974.
- Representative to the Diplomatic Conference on the Reaffirmation and Development of International Humanitarian Law Applicable in Armed Conflicts, 1977.
- Representative to the special session of the United Nations General Assembly devoted to disarmament, 1978.
- Special Advisor to the representative to the thirty-sixth session of the Commission of the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, 1980.

A/36/372 English Page 104

Representative to the thirty-seventh session of the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, held at Bangkok, 1981.

Publications

"View on the Third Conference on the Law of the Sea" (in Japanese). <u>Journal of</u> Ocean Affairs, Quarterly, No. 3, 1976.

"Nuclear Disarmament and Arms Control: A Japanese View", Japanese Annual of International Law, No. 22, 1978.

"Now is the Time for Disarmament" (in Japanese). General Monthly Magazine - Chuo Koron, June 1980.

PIRZADA, Syed Shariffudin (Pakistan)

/Original: English/

Senior Advocate, Supreme Court of Pakistan.

Born at Burhanpur (India) on 12 June 1923.

Received early education in Robertson High School. Later joined St. Xavier's College and graduated in law from Government Law College, Bombay. Secured First Class in LL.B. Bar-at-Law of Lincoln's Inn.

Honorary Secretary to the Quaid-i-Azam, Jinnah, 1941-1944. Secretary, Bombay City Muslim League, 1945-1947; in charge of publicity campaign of the Bombay Muslim League during the General Elections in 1946; Professor, Sind Muslim Law College, 1947-1954; Adviser to the Constitution Commission of Pakistan, 1961; Chairman, Company Law Commission, 1962; President, Karachi High Court Bar Association, 1964; President, International Law Association, Pakistan Branch, 1964-1967; Attorney-General of Pakistan, 1965-1966 and again in 1968-1972; Foreign Minister of Pakistan, 1966-1968. Member, International Rivers Committee of International Law Association, 1961-1968; President, Afro-Asian Legal Consultative Committee, 1969; led Pakistan delegation to the session of the United Nations General Assembly in 1966-1967; represented Pakistan in the Commonwealth Prime Ministers Conference in 1966 and the Commonwealth Law Ministers and Attorneys General Conference, 1971; represented Pakistan in international forums and before international tribunals: appeared for Pakistan in the Rann of Kutch Case and in Pakistan's complaint against India in the matter of overflights; appeared in the Reference regarding Namibia before the International Court of Justice; Member, United Nations Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities since 1972 and its Chairman, 1968; again Attorney-General since July 1977; Adviser to the Chief Martial Law Administrator and Federal Minister since January 1978; Minister for Law and Parliamentary Affairs since May 1979; led Pakistan delegation to the sessions of the Third Conference on the Law of the Sea held in New York in 1978 and 1979 and in Geneva in 1980. Chairman, Investigation and Working Group of

Complaints of the Sub-Commission, 1978-1979; Member of the Pakistan National Group on the Panel of the Permanent Court of Arbitration; on the panel of arbitrators and umpires maintained by the Council of the International Civil Aviation Organization and also on the panel of arbitrators maintained by the International Centre for the Settlement of Investment Disputes, Washington.

Publications

Pakistan at a Glance, Bombay, 1941; Jinnah on Pakistan, Bombay, 1943; Leaders' Correspondence with Jinnah, Bombay, 1944 (two editions, 1968 and 1978); Evolution of Pakistan, Karachi, 1962 (also published in Urdu and Arabic); Fundamental Rights and Constitutional Remedies in Pakistan, Lahore, 1966; the Pakistan Resolution and the Historic Lahore Session, Islamabad, 1970; Foundations of Pakistan, 2 volumes, 1971; Some Aspects of Quaid-i-Azam's Life, 1978.

Awarded Satara-e-Pakistan in 1964.

QUENTIN-BAXTER, Robert Quentin (New Zealand)

/Original: English 7

Born in Christchurch, New Zealand, on 17 January 1922.

Graduated B.A. and LL.B. degrees from the University of New Zealand and awarded the New Zealand University Senior Scholarship in Law, for ex-servicemen, 1947.

Served in Tokyo as Assistant to the New Zealand Member of the Military Tribunal for the trial of Far Eastern war criminals, 1947-1948.

Appointed to the Diplomatic staff of the Department of External Affairs, 1949.

Member of the New Zealand delegation to the Geneva Diplomatic Conference for the revision of the International Conventions for the Protection of War Victims, 1949.

Served at Wellington as Head of the Legal Division of the Department of External Affairs, in the United Nations Division and as Head of the ECOSOC and Specialized Agencies Section. Deputy High Commissioner for New Zealand in Canada, 1957-1958.

Deputy Permanent Representative and Counsellor at the New Zealand Permanent Mission to the United Nations in New York, 1959-1961.

Counsellor at the New Zealand Embassy in Japan, 1961-1964.

Member of the New Zealand delegations to some 10 sessions of the General Assembly of the United Nations, 1952-1968, 1971, 1974, 1976 and 1981; Representative in the Sixth (Legal) Committee at some eight General Assembly sessions.

Represented New Zealand at the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, Geneva, 1958, and as Leader at the Second Conference, 1960.

A/36/372 English Page 106

Assistant Secretary of the Department of External Affairs with special responsibility in relation to Legal, Consular and South Pacific Affairs, 1964-1968. Senior Commissioner for New Zealand on the South Pacific Commission during this period.

New Zealand representative on the Commission on Human Rights, 1966-1971 (Rapporteur, 1966; Vice-Chairman, 1968; Chairman 1969).

Professor of Jurisprudence and Constitutional Law at the Victoria University of Wellington from 1968.

Constitutional Adviser to the New Zealand Government in respect of Niue from 1971-1975.

Constitutional Adviser to the Island Assembly of Niue from 1971-1975.

Agent and Counsel for the Government of New Zealand in the Nuclear Tests Casc, International Court of Justice, 1973-1974.

President of the New Zealand Institute of International Affairs, 1973-1980.

Leader of the New Zealand delegation to the 1974 and 1977 sessions of the Diplomatic Conference on the Reaffirmation and Development of International Humanitarian Law Applicable in Armed Conflicts.

Consultant to the Marshall Islands Constitutional Convention, 1977-1980.

Member of the International Law Commission from 1971; Chairman of the Drafting Committee in 1975; appointed Special Rapporteur on the topic "International liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international law" in 1978.

RAZAFINDRALAMBO, Edilbert

(Madagascar)

/Original: French/

Born 3 October 1921, in Antananarivo, Madagascar.

University degrees

Baccalauréat in Classics and Philosophy (Antananarivo, 1940).

Diploma of advanced studies in Greek (Sorbonne, 1948).

Diploma of advanced studies in Latin (Sorbonne, 1948).

Diploma of advanced studies in Geography (Sorbonne, 1948).

Licence ès-lettres (Sorbonne, 1949).

Certificate of admission to the bar (Paris, 1948).

Certificate delivered by Cambridge University (United Kingdom, 1952) (special course on English legal method).

Docteur d'Etat in law (Paris, 1955).

Professional career

Advocate before the Paris courts, 1948-1960.

Secrétaire d'Avocats of the Council of State and French Court of Cassation, 1951-1960.

Deputy State Counsel-General, Appeals Court of Madagascar, 1961.

Advocate-General and later President of the Chamber of Cassation of the Madagas Supreme Court, October 1962-September 1967.

First President of the Supreme Court since October 1967.

Professor of Law at Madagascar University and at the Malagasy Institute of Judicial Studies, 1961-1974.

Member of the Commissions on the codification of Malagasy laws.

Member of the Higher Council of the Magistrature.

President, Malagasy Society of Juridical Studies.

President, High Court of Justice.

International career

Member since 1964 of the Committee of Experts on the Application of the International Labour Organisation Conventions and Recommendations.

Rapporteur-General of this Committee since 1969.

Member of task forces on:

- (a) Labour inspection (Conventions Nos. 81 and 85, 1947) in 1966;
- (b) Forced labour (Conventions Nos. 29, 1930, and 105, 1957) in 1968;
- (c) Discrimination in respect of employment and occupation (Convention Nos. 111, 1958) in 1971;

- (d) Employment policy (Convention No. 122, 1964) in 1972;
- (e) Freedom of association and protection of the right to organize and to bargain collectively (Conventions Nos. 87, 1948, and 98, 1949) in 1973;
- (f) Consultation and co-operation between public authorities and employers' and workers' organizations at the industrial and national levels (Recommendation No. 113, 1960) in 1976;
- (g) Economic, social and cultural rights (United Nations International Covenants on Human Rights, 1966) in 1968:
- Head of the Malagasy delegation to the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties, Vienna, 1968-1969.
- Member of the Malagasy delegation to the thirty-second session of the General Assembly of the United Nations representative in the Legal Committee (1977).
- Arbitrator for the International Civil Aviation Organization.
- Arbitrator for the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (World Bank).
- Member of the Arbitral Tribunal established by the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (World Bank) case of Bonvenuti and Bonfant Co. Ltd. v. the Government of the People's Republic of the Congo (still under arbitration).
- Member (with Mr. Mendès-France) of the international Arbitral Tribunal under the presidency of Mr. Roberto Ago (Malagasy State v. Société des Grands Moulins of Dakar (GMD)), Geneva, 1970-1972.
- Member (with Mr. Paul Foriers, Rector of the Free University of Brussels) of the international Arbitral Tribunal under the presidency of Mr. René Roblot (Malagasy State v. SOBERI), Paris, 1974-1975.
- Committee Chairman at the Conference of Jurists of French-speaking Africa, organized under the auspices of the International Commission of Jurists in Dakar (Senegal) in January 1967.

National President of the World Peace through Law Center.

Member of the Council of Experts of that Center.

Member of the Emergency World Council (The Hague, Netherlands, 1977).

Member of the Board Commission for International Due Process of Law, Chicago (USA).

Associate member of the International Commission of Jurists (Geneva).

- Member of the international tribunal (Debate/exhibition on the exploitation of the sea-bed) organized by the World Peace through Law Center at the World Conference on Peace through Law (Manila, 21-26 August 1977).
- National correspondent for the UNESCO international study on the main trends of research in the social and human sciences (legal science) May-July 1972.
- Head of the group of Malagasy experts to the Franco-Malagasy negotiations; Paris-Antananarivo, 1973.
- Member of the American Society of International Law (Washingotn, USA).
- Member of the Center for the Study of Democratic Institutions (Santa Barbara, USA), 1971-1972.
- Member since 1968 of the editorial board of the legal and political journal Indépendance et Coopération (Paris).
- Foreign contributor to the <u>Journal du droit international</u> (Clunet), Paris, 1964-1972.
- Fellowship from the United Nations Division of Human Rights for a study of the ombudsman (Stockholm, July-August-September 1962).
- Malagasy delegate to the United Nations Seminar on Judicial and Other Remedies against the Abuse of Administrative Authority (Stockholm), 12-29 July 1962.
- Former national President of the Association of Malagasy Students in Europe.
- Member of the Arbitral Tribunal established by the International Chamber of Commerce (case of AGIP v. Malagasy State and the National Petroleum Company).
- International law consultant at the Central Bank of the Democratic Republic of Madagascar, Air Madagascar, the National Water and Electricity Board and the National Petroleum Company.

Works

- L'infraction flagrante en droit français, anglais et tchécoslovaque (study in comparative law, thesis, Paris, 1955).
- Le système suédois de contrôle de l'adminstration et de la justice (study prepared for the United Nations Division of Human Rights, 1962).
- Le droit judiciaire privé malgache (manifolded lectures Faculty of Law, Antananarivo, 1969).
- "Chronique de jurisprudence malgache en matière du droit international privé", (Journal du droit international Clunet Paris, 1964, No. 1).

- Esquisse d'une étude comparée du droit national malgache (Bulletin de Madagascar, September 1964, No. 220).
- "L'ombudsman et la protection des droits de l'homme" (Revue sénégalaise de droit, 1 September 1967, Dakar).
- "Problems in the recruitment and training of judges" (paper submitted to the World Assembly of Judges, Geneva, July 1967).
- "La Cour suprême malgache" (<u>Recueil Penant</u>, Paris, No. 722, October-November-December 1968).
- Contribution to the UNESCO international study on the main trends of research in the social and human sciences (May-July 1972).
- Malagasy legal system in "Law and Judicial Systems of Nations" (Washington, D.C., 1977).
- Le droit pénal spécial malgache (University of Madagascar, 1973).
- Sentences arbitrales internationales (Geneva and Paris, 1972-1975).
- Rapport sur la loi socialiste et la justice (Conference of Malagasy Judges, Antananarivo, 1976).
- Individual opinion in the Deep Sea-bed Mining Case (International tribunal organized by the Eighth World Conference on Peace through Law, Manila, August 1977).
- "Le rôle des tribunaux dans la protection des droits et libertés et dans la politique du développement" (paper submitted to the Colloque Africain Francophone at Yaoundé, United Republic of Cameroon, 1978).

Honours

Commander of the National Malagasy Order, 1976.

Officer of the French National Order of Merit, 1969.

- Officer of the Order of the Green Crescent of the Comoros, 1970.
- Commemorative medal of the Order of Advocates of the Council of State and Court of Cassation (Paris).
- Commemorative medal of the fiftieth anniversary of the Supreme Court of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.
- N.B. A biography has appeared in:
- Who's Who in the World (Marquis' Who's Who, Chicago, USA), first edition, 1972-1973, second edition, 1974-1975, third edition, 1976-1977;

Dictionary of International Biography (Cambridge, England), 1974-1975 and 1976-1977;

Who's Who in Africa south of the Sahara (Europa Publications, London, England), since 1971;

Dictionary of African Biography (Melrose, London), since 1970;

International Who's Who in Community Service, vol. II (London), 1976-1977;

Men of Achievement (Melrose, London), 1976;

World Directory of the High Courts of Nations (Washington, D.C.), 1977.

REUTER, Paul (France)

/Original: French/

Born on 12 February 1911.

Commander of the Legion of Honour, Croix de guerre, 1939-1945.

Assistant lecturer (1936), Agrégé (1938), Professor, teaching successively in the Law Faculties of Nancy, Poitiers, Aix-en-Provence and Paris (1951); Professor at the Institute of Political Studies in Paris (1953).

Taught at the Academy of International Law (1952 and 1961) and various institutes and universities in France and abroad.

Deputy Director of the Office of the Minister of Information (1944), and later the Office of the Keeper of the Seals (1945); Technical Adviser in the Office of the Minister of the Armed Forces (1947).

Member (since 1948) of the Permanent Central Opium Board and Vice-Chairman of the Board from 1953 to 1968; member of the International Narcotics Control Board and Chairman of the Board since 1974.

Legal Adviser to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs since 1948.

Agent, deputy agent or adviser in various cases brought before the International Court of Justice, the Court of Justice of the European Communities, the European Court of Human Rights, the Franco-Swiss Conciliation Commission, etc.

Member of the Arbitral Tribunal in the Lac Lanoux case (1957), in the cases concerning the interpretation of the 1946 Agreement on Air Services between France and the United States (1963 and 1979), and in the case of Holiday Inn v. Morocco; President of the Arbitral Tribunal in the case of Kuwait v. American Independent Oil Company.

A/36/372 English Page 112

Member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration since 1958.

Member of the European Nuclear Energy Tribunal (Convention of 20 December 1957) since 1960.

Member of the Institute of International Law (1963) and the Royal Academy of Belgium (1972).

Member of the United Nations International Law Commission since 1964.

Member of the French delegation to the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties (1968).

Author of various articles and books, including: <u>Le droit international public</u> (translated into Spanish), <u>Institutions internationales</u> (translated into English, Spanish and Portuguese), <u>La Communauté européene du charbon et de l'acier</u>, <u>Organisations européenes</u> (translated into Spanish), and <u>Introduction au droit</u> des traités.

RIPHAGEN, Willem (Netherlands)

/Original: English/

Born 1 January 1919.

Career

Studied Law at the University of Amsterdam. Joined the Legal Department of the Ministry of Home Affairs of the Kingdom of the Netherlands in 1947. Professor of International Law at the University of Rotterdam since 1960. Appointed the Legal Adviser of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in 1954.

Member of the Netherlands delegations to and representative in the Legal Committees of numerous international conferences, inter alia those held to draft the European Convention on Human Rights, the European Coal and Steel Community Treaty, the European Economic Community Treaty and the Euratom Treaty.

Representative of the Netherlands in the Central Rhine Navigation Commission since 1963.

Member of the Netherlands delegations to the tenth (1955), seventeenth (1962) and thirty-first to thirty-fifth (1976-1980) sessions of the General Assembly of the United Nations and to the first United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (1958).

Chairman of the Netherlands delegations to the United Nations Conferences on the Reduction of Statelessness (first session, 1959), on the Law of the Sea (1960), on Diplomatic Relations (1961), on Transit Trade of Land-locked Countries (1965) and on the Law of Treaties (1968).

Chairman of the Netherlands delegation to the present Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea.

Representative of the Netherlands in the United Nations Special Committee on Principles of International Law relating to Friendly Relations and Co-operation between States (1964, 1966, 1967 and 1968) and in the United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction.

President of the United Nations Conference on the Reduction of Statelessness (second session, 1961).

Rapporteur of the General Committee of the United Nations Conference on Diplomatic Relations (1963).

Alternate member of the Panel of President and Members of Tribunals under article 3 of annex C of the Intelsat agreement (1980-).

- Chairman of the drafting committee of the United Nations Conference on Transit Trade of Land-locked Countries (1965).
- Rapporteur of the 1966 session of the United Nations Special Committee on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States.
- Member of the drafting committee of the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties (1968).
- Chairman of the 1968 Special Committee on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States.
- Vice-Chairman of the Legal Committee of the Intergovernmental Maritime Consultative Organization.
- President of the Hague Conference on Air Law (1970).
- Agent for the Netherlands in various cases before the International Court of Justice.
- Member of the Permanent Conciliation Commission, Belgium-Finland, of the Panel of Arbitrators under the London Fisheries Convention and of the United Nations Panel under resolution 2329 (XXII) on fact-finding.
- Lecturer at The Hague Academy of International Law in 1961 and 1970.
- Judge ad hoc in the International Court of Justice in the case concerning the Barcelona Traction Light and Power Company, Limited (Belgium vs. Spain).
- Member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration.
- Member of the International Law Commission since 1977.
- President of the arbitral tribunal in the case concerning the Air Services Agreement of 27 March 1946 between the United States of America and the French Republic (1979).

Publications

- "Overzicht van de Nederlandse rechtspraak over vragen van internationaal recht" (Survey of the Netherlands court decisions on matters of international law).

 Jaarboek Ministerie van Buitenlandse Zaken, 1949-1950, 1950-1951, 1951-1952 and 1952-1953.
- "De juridische structuur der Europese Gemeenschap voor Kolen en Staal" (The legal structure of the European Coal and Steel Community), Leiden, 1955.
- "Enige juridische aspekten van de betrekkingen tussen internationale instellingen" (Some legal aspects of the relations between international institutions), Internationale Spectator, Vol. IX, No. 21 (1955), pp. 685-733.

- "The case law of the European Coal and Steel Community Court of Justice".

 Netherlands International Law Review, 1955, pp. 384-408.
- "International bestuursrecht in wording" (International administrative law in the making), Bestuurswetenschappen, 1957, pp. 249-278 and 309-366.
- "Over concentratie en delegatie bij internationale instellingen" (Concentration and delegation of powers in the law of international institutions), <u>Netherlands</u>
 <u>International Law Review</u>, 1959, pp. 229-253.
- "Iets over de betekenis der structuur van verdragen en besluiten van internationale instellingen voor de internationale en interne rechtsorde" (The meaning of the structure of treaties and decisions of international institutions for the international and the internal legal system), in Opstellen aangeboden aan Prof. Mr. Dr. C. van den Bergh, 1960, pp. 192-210.
- "De betekenis van de vlag van schepen voor het volkenrecht" (Nationality of ships in public international law). Mededelingen van de Nederlandse Vereniging voor International Recht, No. 41, 1959, pp. 1-30.
- "De relaties tussen volkenrecht en nationaal recht in de regeling van het internationale economische verkeer" (The relationship between the law of nations and national law in the regulation of international economic relations), Inaugural oration, Rotterdam 1960.
- "Les traités et accords internationaux en matière nucleaire", <u>Il dirritto</u> <u>dell'energia nucleare</u>, Milano, 1961.
- "The relationship between public and private law and the rules of conflicts of laws", Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international, 1961.
- "Enige opmerkingen over het 'negatief conflict van nationaliteitswet-gevingen'" (Remarks on the "negative conflict of nationality legislations") in Volkenrechtelijke opstellen aange boden aan Prof. Dr. Gesina van der Molen, 1962.
- "Enige aantekeningen over de relatie volkenrecht nationaal recht" (Notes on the relationship between international law and national law) in <u>De Conflictu Legum</u>, <u>bundel opstellen aangeboden aan Kollewijn en Offerhaus</u>, 1962.
- "De Conferentie van Wenen inzake het diplomatieke verkeer" (The Vienna Conference on diplomatic relations), <u>Internationale Spectator</u>, Vol. XVI, 1962.
- "De Londense Visserijconferentie 1963-1964" (The London Conference on Fisheries 1963-1964), <u>Internationale Spectator</u>, Vol. XVIII, 1964.
- "Combinatie van Gemeenschapsrecht en nationaal recht" (Combination of the law of the European Communities and national law) in <u>Europese Monografieën</u>, No. 1, 1964.

- "The transport legislation of the European Communities, its relationship to international treaties and its effects in member states", Common Market Law Review, 1965-1966.
- "Internationaalrechtelijke aspekten van de fiscale harmonisatie in de EEG" (International law aspects of fiscal harmonization in the European Economic Community) in Europease Monografieën No. 7, 1966.
- "Vrijheid van Rijnscheepvaart en douane-regiem" (Freedom of navigation on the Rhine and customs regulations), Netherlands International Law Review, 1969.
- "National and international regulation of international movement and the legal position of the private individual", Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international, 1970.
- "Bijdrage van het Internationaal Gerechtshof in de internationale geschillenbeslechting" (The contribution of the International Court of Justice in the settlement of international disputes) in "Ees kwart eeuw UNO", Brussels, 1970.
- "De internationale aspecten van de status van vreemdelingen, in het bijzonder in het licht van de rechten van de mens" (The international aspects of the status of aliens, in particular in relation to human rights) in "De vreemdeling in Nederland", Leiden, 1972.
- "The jurisdiction of the coastal state" in "The future of the law of the sea", 1972.
- "The legal consequences of illegal acts under public international law", Netherlands International Law Review, 1973.
- "International legal aspects of artificial islands", <u>International Relations</u>, November 1973.
- "Some reflections on functional sovereignty", Netherlands Yearbook of International Law, 1975.
- "Mechanisms of supervision in the future law of the sea" in Jhr. Van Panhuys-bundel, 1980.
- "The international concern for the environment as expressed in the concept of 'Common heritage of mankind' and 'Shared natural resources'" in "Trends in environmental policy and law", 1980.
- "Bespreking van Verheul: de openbare orde als tweesnijdend zwaard" (Review of Verheul: the public order as a double-edged sword) in RM Themis 1979/3, pp. 308-312.
- "La navigation dans le nouveau droit de la mer" in Revue générale de droit international public, 1980, No. 1, pp. 144-177.

- "Nieuwe ontwikkelingen in het Internationale Zeerecht" (New developments in the Law of the Sea), <u>Internationale Spectator</u>, 1980.
- "Preliminary report on the content, forms and degrees of state responsibility", United Nations document A/CN.4/330, 45 pages, Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1980.
- "Various interventions in the International Law Commission on State responsibility, State succession, treaties with international organizations, law of international watercourses, State immunity, liability for injurious consequences of acts not prohibited by international law" in Yearbooks of the International Law Commission, 1977, 1978, 1979 and 1980.
- "Over zeerecht" (Various discourses about the Law of the Sea) in "Jaarboeken", Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1973-1974.
- "Opinion dissidente in the Barcelona Traction Case", Reports of the International Court of Justice, 1970, pp. 335-338.
- (With Reuter and Ehrlich:) "Arbitral award in the case concerning the Air Services Agreement of 27 March 1946 between the United States and the French Republic" (1979) in Reports on international arbitral awards, Vol. XVIII, 1980.
- "Counsel's address in continental shelf cases" in <u>Pleadings of the International</u> Court of Justice, vol. II, pp. 122-131.
- Oral remarks "Certain expenses of the United Nations" in <u>Pleadings of the International Court of Justice</u>, pp. 310-322.
- Oral remarks in "Constitution of the maritime safety committee of the IMCO" in Pleadings of the International Court of Justice, pp. 351-360, 430 and 439.

SINCLAIR, Sir Ian

(United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland)

<u>/</u>Original: Englis<u>h</u>/

Born 14 January 1926.

Academic career

King's College, Cambridge, 1943-1944 and 1948-1950; B.A., 1948, LL.B., 1949 (First Class Hons). Called to the Bar, Middle Temple, 1952; Master of the Bench, 1980.

A/36/372 English Page 118

Official career

Appointed Assistant Legal Adviser, Foreign Office, in 1950 and served as such until 1957. Legal Adviser, British Embassy, Bonn, from 1957 to 1960. Assistant Legal Adviser, Foreign Office, from 1960 to 1964. Legal Adviser, United Kingdom Mission to the United Nations and British Embassy, Washington, from 1964 to 1967. Legal Counsellor, Foreign Office (later Foreign and Commonwealth Office), from 1967 to 1971. Deputy Legal Adviser, Foreign and Commonwealth Office, from 1971 to 1973. Second Legal Adviser, Foreign and Commonwealth Office, from 1973 to 1975. Legal Adviser, Foreign and Commonwealth Office, from 1976 to date.

Has served as legal adviser to the United Kingdom delegation to numerous international conferences, including the following: Plenipotentiary Conference of the International Telecommunications Union, Buenos Aires, 1952; Conference of European Ministers of Transport, Brussels, 1953; International Tin Conference, Geneva, 1953; Geneva Conference on Korea and Indo-China, 1954; negotiations for the conclusion of a Supplementary Agreement to the NATO Status of Forces Agreement regarding the status of forces in the Federal Republic of Germany, Bonn, 1957 to 1959; negotiations for the entry of the United Kingdom into the European Communities, Brussels, 1960 to 1963; Conference on the Transit Trade of Land-locked Countries, New York, 1965; Vienna Conference on the Law of Treaties, 1968 and 1969 (Vice-Chairman of United Kingdom delegation); negotiations for the enlargement of the European Communities, Brussels, 1970 to 1972; Vienna Convention on Succession of States in respect of Treaties, 1977 and 1978 (Chairman of United Kingdom delegation).

United Kingdom expert on the Council of Europe Committee of Experts on State Immunity, 1967 to 1972; United Kingdom representative on the Council of Europe Committee of Experts on Human Rights, 1972 to 1976: United Kingdom representative on the Council of Europe Steering Committee on Legal Co-operation, 1976 to date (member of the Bureau from 1979).

Alternate representative of the United Kingdom to the nineteenth to twenty-first sessions of the United Nations General Assembly and United Kingdom representative on the Sixth Committee at the eighteenth to twenty-first, thirty-first to thirty-third and the thirty-fifth sessions of the United Nations General Assembly.

Rapporteur of the Committee on Applications for Review of Administrative Tribunal Judgements, New York, 1965.

United Kingdom representative on the United Nations Special Committee on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States, 1964 (Mexico City), 1966 (New York), 1967 (Geneva), 1968 (New York) and 1970 (Geneva); United Kingdom representative on the Legal Sub-Committee of the Outer Space Committee, 1964 to 1966.

Observer of the United Kingdom Government at negotiations for the conclusion of the Treaty for the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons in Latin America, Mexico City, 1967, and at the twenty-fifth session of the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee, Jakarta, 1980.

Participated as Assistant Agent for the United Kingdom in the arbitration concerning Greek Diverted Cargoes, Paris, 1954; and as Agent and Counsel for the United Kingdom in the UK/French Continental Shelf Arbitration, Geneva, 1977 and 1978.

Outside activities

Member of the Editorial Advisory Board of the <u>Human Rights Review</u>; Member of the Editorial Committee of the <u>British Year Book of International Law</u>; Member of the Committee of Management of the British Institute of International and Comparative Law; Member of the Executive Committee of the British Branch of the International Law Association; Member of the Council of Management, Institute of Advanced Legal Studies; Member of the Appeals Board of the Western European Union, 1977 to 1979. Made a Companion of the Order of St. Michael and St. George, 1972; Knight Commander of the Order, 1977; and Queen's Counsel, 1979. Nominated by the United Kingdom as a Conciliator for the purposes of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties.

Principal publications

Books

<u>Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties</u>, 1973, Manchester University Press (text of the Schill lectures, 1973).

Satow's <u>Guide to Diplomatic Practice</u>, 5th ed., 1979 (contributor of five chapters).

Articles

"Note on The Danube Conference, 1948", British Year Book of International Law, 1948.

"Nationality of Claims: British Practice", <u>British Year Book of International Law</u>, 1950.

"Notes on private international law cases", British Year Book of International Law, 1951 to 1955-1956 inclusive.

"Polygamous Marriages in English Law", <u>British Year Book of International Law</u>, 1954.

"The Principles of Treaty Interpretation and their Application by the English Courts", <u>International and Comparative Law Quarterly</u>, 1963.

"Vienna Conference on the Law of Treaties", <u>International and Comparative Law Quarterly</u>, 1970.

"European Convention on State Immunity", <u>International and Comparative Law Quarterly</u>, 1972.

A/36/372 English Page 120

"Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States" in Essays in honour of Krishna Rao, 1975

"The Concept of a Continental Shelf", Proceedings and Papers of the Fifth Commonwealth Law Conference, Edinburgh, 1977.

"Some Reflections on the Vienna Convention on Succession of States in respect of Treaties" in Essays in honour of Erik Castren, 1979.

"The Law of Sovereign Immunity: Recent Developments" (series of five lectures given at the Hague Academy of International Law, 1980 - in course of publication).

"Some Procedural Aspects of Recent International Litigation" (Fourth F. A. Mann Lecture delivered in London in October 1980 - in course of publication).

"United Kingdom Treaty Law and Practice" (country chapter for book on <u>National</u> Treaty Laws and Practices - in course of publication).

"The Practice of International Law: the Foreign and Commonwealth Office" (chapter for book on The Teaching and Practice of International Law - in course of publication).

SPERDUTI, Giuseppe (Italy)

/Original: French/

Born on 19 March, in Giuliano di Roma.

Attended university in Rome (1931-1934). Doctor of Jurisprudence, 1934. In charge of the courses on international law and philosophy of law at the University of Urbino for the period 1942-1943. Appointed Extraordinary (assistant) Professor of international law at the University of Sassari in 1947. Full professorship in 1950. In 1954, moved to the Chair of international organizations at the University of Rome, and currently occupies the Chair of international public law at that University.

Worked for the Italian Government in the United Nations Tribunal in Eritrea (1953-1954). Member of the Italian delegation to the eighth session of the Hague Conference on Private International Law (1956). Italian member of the Arbitration Commission on property, rights and interests in Germany for the duration of the Italian suits. Member of the Italian delegation to the United Nations General Assembly as of the fourteenth session (specifically assigned to the Sixth Committee). Member of the Council of the "contenzioso diplomatico" of the Italian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Since 1960, member of the European Commission of Human Rights, of which he is currently First Vice-President. Counsel for the European Communities at the Court of Justice in Luxembourg, 1967-1968. Representative of Italy to the United Nations Commission on Human

Rights from the eighteenth to the thirty-third session of the Commission, with a few brief interruptions. Head of the Italian delegation of governmental experts to the Geneva Diplomatic Conference on the Reaffirmation and Development of International Humanitarian Law Applicable in Armed Conflicts (1971).

Until 1970, Director of the D. Anzilotti Institute of International Law at the University of Pisa. Joint editor of the Rivista di diritto internazionale. Joint editor of the anthology Etudes sur les problèmes de la circulation et de l'établissement dans le Traité de Rome. Member of the Executive Council of the Italian Society for International Organization. Member of the Italian national committee for UNESCO. Chairman of the Italian Advisory Committee on Human Rights. Member of the International Law Institute and the International Law Association. Rapporteur for the Institute on the topic "The protection of human rights and the principle of non-interference in internal affairs".

Decorated by the President of the Italian Republic with the Gold Medal of Merit for education, art and culture.

Courses taught at the Hague Academy of International Law:

The individual and international law, 1956;

General course on international private law, 1967.

Other publications in French, English and German include:

"La personne humaine et le droit international", in <u>Annuaire français de droit international</u>, 1961.

"La recevabilité des exceptions préliminaires de fond dans le procès international", <u>Rivista di diritto internazionale</u>, 1970.

"Des actions judiciaires intentées dans un Etat du chef de nationalisations et d'expropriations opérées dans un autre Etat", Mélanges Ch. Rousseau, Paris 1974.

"Les lois d'application nécessaire en tant que lois d'ordre public", Revue critique de droit international privé, 1977.

"Consensus in International Law", Italian Yearbook of International Law; 1977.

"Dualism and Monism: A Confrontation to be Overcome", ibid., 1978.

"Bemerkungen zum Urteil des Europäischen Gerichtshofs für Menschenrechte vom 28 Juni 1978 im Fall König", Grundrechte, 1979.

Most recent publication: Diritto comunitario e ordinamento interno, Padua, 1981.

The following are extracts from an academic report adopted unanimously by the Faculty of Political Sciences at the University of Rome on 19 June 1978:

"With 40 years of intensive intellectual activity behind him, Professor Giuseppe Sperduti ranks among our pre-eminent intellectuals.

"His output includes more than a hundred publications: articles, essays, monographs, courses on international public law (Lezioni, Milan, 1958), international private law (general course at The Hague Academy of International Law, 1967), the law of international civil proceedings (Lezioni, Pisa, 1958), and the law on international organizations (Nozioni introduttive, Rome, 1972).

"His involvement in research has been uninterrupted over the years, so much so that the works he has produced from 1970 to the academic year, 1977-1978 in his first period of teaching at the Rome Faculty, number more than 40.

"The impact of his findings, as reflected in early works such as the "Limiti della giurisdizione italiana in materia di sequestro conservativo e di provvedimenti cautelari in generale", 1938, and his "Contributo alla teoria delle situazioni giuridiche soggetive", 1944, can already be seen. The former was responsible for the inclusion in the Italian code of civil proceedings, for the first time since codification began, of a provision on garnishment and other protective measures.

"The impetus he has given to the investigation of one of the most serious problems of our age, to wit the individual in international law, is well known: his works include a monograph on this subject written in 1950 and the related course at The Hague Academy of International Law, followed by a whole series of contributions on fundamental freedoms and rights.

"As for other topics, we shall confine ourselves, for the sake of brevity, to mentioning two recent publications: "La recevabilité des exceptions préliminaires de fond dans le procès international" in "Mélanges Cassin", 1970, and "Norme di applicazione necessaria e ordine pubblico", in Rivista di diritto internazionale privato e processuale, 1976. The Rules of the International Court of Justice were amended as suggested after the appearance of the former publication (new Rules 1973, art. 67). This amendment is remarkable when one bears in mind that since the days of the Permanent Court of International Justice it has been a constant article of jurisprudence not to allow preliminary exceptions in international proceedings save those based on procedure (competence and receivability). The second of the two works deals with a topic of the general theory of international private law. The above-mentioned idea of a category of necessarily applicable provisions, introduced by Professor Sperduti a quarter of a century ago, may now be considered a part of the common intellectual heritage, in view of the favour it has progressively found in Italian and foreign teaching.

"Some very recent publications mark the beginning of a review of topics affecting the very essence of international law: "Il primato del diritto internazionale nel sistema del diritto interno", Rivista di diritto internazionale, 1978, may be mentioned here."

STAVROPOULOS, Constantin A. (Greece)

/Original: French/

Born in Athens, on 15 August 1905.

Career

Awarded a degree by the Athens Faculty of Law. Studied at the London School of Economics.

General Secretary and Acting Governor of Epirus, 1933-1936.

Legal adviser to the Greek Embassy in London, 1941-1946.

Chairman of the Greek Maritime Tribunal in England, 1942-1946.

Acting Chairman of the Greek Maritime Commission and representative of Greece in the United Nations Commission on War Crimes, 1943-1946.

Legal adviser for the Greek delegation to the Preparatory Commission for the United Nations and the first session of the General Assembly in London, and to the Paris Peace Conference, 1946.

Member of the United Nations Secretariat, 1946-1974.

Member, and later Acting Director, of the Development and Codification of International Law Division, 1946-1949.

Assistant Secretary to the United Nations Palestine Commission, 1947.

Chief legal adviser to the United Nations Mediator in Palestine, Count Bernadotte, and the Acting Mediator, Ralph Bunche, 1948-1949.

Director of the Immunities and Treaties Division, 1950.

Representative of the Secretary-General in Korea, 1950-1951.

Head of the United Nations Legal Service:

- as Principal Director, from 1952 to 1955;
- as Under-Secretary, in 1955;
- as Under-Secretary-General from 1969 to 1973.

In addition:

He was elected Deputy United Nations Commissioner for Namibia, 1967-1969.

A/36/372 English Page 124

He was Under-Secretary-General for General Assembly Affairs, 1969-1972.

He represented the Secretary-General at all the United Nations conferences on the codification of international law, namely:

First United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, (1958);

Conference on the Elimination or Reduction of Future Statelessness (1958 and 1961);

Second United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (1960);

Conference on Diplomatic Intercourse and Immunities (1961);

Conference on Consular Relations (1963);

Conference on the Law of Treaties (1968 and 1969).

Special Representative of the Secretary-General to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea (1973-1974).

Elected Député d'Etat in the elections of November 1974 (1977).

Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, 1975-1977.

Ambassador-at-Large, Director of Special Missions, 1978.

Head of the Greek delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1975.

Dag Hammarskjöld International Peace Prize, 1980.

SUCHARITKUL, Sompong (Thailand)

/Original: English/

Born 4 December 1931, Bangkok, Thailand

Academic and professional qualifications

University of Oxford

B.A. Hons. (Jurisprudence), 1953.

M.A. D. Phil. (International Law), 1955.

University of Paris
(Faculty of Law)

Docteur en Droit, 1954.

Diplômé d'Etudes Supérieures de Droit

International Public, 1954.

University of Harvard (Law School)

LL.M. (International Legal Studies), 1956.

Of the Middle Temple

Barrister-at-Law, 1954.

The Hague Academy of International Law

Diplômé de l'Academie 1958.

Present position

Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of Thailand to Italy.

Member of International Law Commission.

Positions held and experience in the field of international law and international relations

Lecturer in international law and relations, Chulalongkorn University (Faculty of Political Sciences), 1956-1957.

Lecturer in international economic law, Thammasat University (Graduate Division, Faculty of Economics), 1956-1957.

Guest lecturer on international law at Army War College, Navy War College, Air War College and National Defence College, Thailand, 1959-1970.

Member of National Research Council (Thailand) and, until 1967, Secretary of Legal Section (national body), 1959-1970.

Joined Ministry of Foreign Affairs, since 1959.

Second Secretary, Legal Division, Treaty and Legal Department, 1960.

Secretary of the National Committee to review Treaties and Conventions and, since 1969, Member and Secretary of the Committee (national body), 1960-1970.

- Adviser on behalf of the Government of Thailand before the International Court of Justice in the Temple of Phra Viharn Case, The Hague, 1961.
- Representing Thailand on the Sixth (Legal) Committee of the United Nations General Assembly, 1960, 1962, 1965, 1967, 1969, 1971, 1978, 1979 and 1980.
- Leader of the Thai delegation and Member for Thailand on the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee, 1961-1966, 1979 and 1980.
- Founding Member and Secretary (1963-1965) of the Council of World Affairs and International Law of Thailand, 1963.
- Chief of Division, International Organizations Department, 1963.
- Participant in the Round Table Conference of Professors of International Law of South-East Asia, Singapore, 1964.
- Secretary to the Minister of Foreign Affairs, 1964-1967.
- First Secretary, International Organizations Department, 1965.
- Official observer representing the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee at the fifth session of the Inter-American Juridical Council, 1965.
- Deputy Secretary-General, National Secretariat of the Asian and Pacific Council (ASPAC), Thailand, 1966-1967.
- Director of South-East Asia Treaty Organization Affairs, International Organizations Department, 1967.
- Executive Secretary, Second ASPAC Ministerial Meeting, Bangkok, 1967.
- Organizing Secretary, inaugural session of the Association of South-East Asian Nations (ASEAN), Bangkok, 1967.
- Elected as Thailand's representative on the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law, 1967.
- Participant in the Round Table Conference on International Law Problems in Asia, Hong Kong, 1967.
- Secretary-General of ASPAC National Secretariat of Thailand; Secretary-General of ASEAN National Secretariat of Thailand, (1967-1970).
- Representative of Asian countries at the First Hague Colloquium on International Trade Law, 1968.
- Director-General, Economic Department, Ministry of Foreign Affairs; Member of Civil Aviation Board of Thailand; Chairman of the Inter-Departmental Committee on Social and Economic Co-operation (national body) (1968-1970).

- Elected Chairman of the first meeting of the National Units for Asian Economic and Social Co-operation, Bangkok, 1969.
- Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of Thailand to the Netherlands, Belgium and Luxembourg and concurrently Chief of Mission of Thailand to the European Economic Community, April 1970-October 1973.
- Leader of Thai delegation to the Hague Conference on Air Law, December 1970.
- Leader of Thai delegation to the Conference on the Establishment of an International Compensation Fund for Oil Pollution Damage, Brussels, November-December 1971.
- Contributor and participant in the Conference on Individual Rights and the State in Foreign Affairs, Bellagio, 1972.
- Guest lecturer on international relations at the Centre d'Etudes du Sud-Est Asiatique et de l'Extrême-Orient, Brussels, 1972-1973.
- Vice-Chairman of ASEAN, Brussels Committee, 1972-October 1973.
- Associate Member of the Institute of International Law, Geneva, since September 1973.
- Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of Thailand to Japan, November 1973-March 1977.
- Guest lecturer at the Hague Academy of International Law, external session, Bangkok, 1974.
- Guest lecturer on "Legal Aspects of Economic Co-operation in Asia", external session of the Hague Academy of International Law, Bangkok, January-February 1974.
- Guest lecturer on South-East Asia and Japan, Graduate School of Sophia University, Tokyo, Japan, February 1975.
- Guest lecturer at the Hague Academy of International Law, regular session, the Hague, 1976.
- Member of the International Law Commission, 1977.
- Permanent delegate of Thailand to UNESCO, 1977.
- Guest lecturer at the Hague Academy of International Law, external session, Tokyo, 1978.
- Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of Thailand to France and Portugal, March 1977-September 1978.
- Thai Member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration since 1978.

- Director-General, Treaty and Legal Department, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, September 1978-October 1980.
- Leader of Thai delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, eighth and eighth (resumed) sessions; Legal Expert of the Group of 77 at the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, 1979.
- Leader of the Thai delegation to the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, ninth and ninth (resumed) sessions, 1980.
- Deputy Co-Chairman of the Thai-Malaysian Joint Authority for the exploitation of the resources of the sea-bed in a defined area of the continental shelf of the two countries in the Gulf of Thailand and Co-Chairman of its Legal Committee, 1980.
- Participant in the third Armand Hammer Conference on Peace and Human Rights = Human Rights and Peace, Warsaw, 1980.
- Participant in the Hague Academy of International Law's Workshop on "The New International Economic Order: Commercial, Technological and Cultural Aspects", The Hague, 1980.
- Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of Thailand to Italy since October 1980.
- Written works relating to international law and international relations

Books

- Les immunités juridictionnelles des navires publics affectés aux activités commerciales, thèse, Paris, 1954.
- State Immunities and Trading Activities in International Law, 1959, Stevens and Sons, Ltd., London.

Articles

(in English)

- "The Rule of Law under the Legal System of Thailand". Journal of the International Commission of Jurists, 1957.
- "The Problem of Defining Indirect Aggression and Subversion", collected papers in honour of H. R. H. Krommun Naradhip Bongsprabandh, 1963.
- "The Outlook of Afro-Asian Solidarity", Foreign Affairs Bulletin, vol. V., No. 2, 1965.
- "The Principles of Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States under the Charter of the United Nations", Saranrom Journal, 1963, 1966 and 1968.

- "The Second Afro-Asian Conference", Journal of the Council of World Affairs and International Law, Vol. I, No. 1, 1966.
- "Thailand and Regional Cooperation", Foreign Affairs Bulletin, Vol. V, No. 6, 1966.
- "Good Offices as a Means of Settling Regional Differences", <u>International</u>

 <u>Arbitration</u>, Liber Amicorum for Martin Domke, 1967, edited by Pieter Sanders,

 Martinus Nijhoff, The Hague.
- "Jus Cogens as an essential part of the Law of Treaties", a paper presented to the Bangkok World Conference on World Peace Through Law, 7-12 September 1969.
- Individual Rights and the State in Foreign Affairs (Country Report: Thailand), June 1972 (unpublished).
- "Some observations on the report of the United Nations Commission of International Trade Law (UNCITRAL) covering the work of its fourth session", Saranrom Journal (2515) 1972, p. 81.
- "Immunities from Attachment and Execution in respect of property of Foreign States", Netherlands Yearbook of International Law, 1979.

(in Thai)

- Several reports and articles on international law, e.g.:
 - Ratification and Binding Force of Treaties, Bot Pandit, 20 (1962, III) pp. 562-586;
 - The World Court, <u>Journal of the Council of World Affairs and International</u> <u>Law</u>, III (1971) pp. 1-29;
 - Nationality of Corporate Personalities under the Law of Thailand, May 1972, 51 pp. (unpublished);
 - The Relations between Municipal Law and International Law under the Legal System of Thailand, August 1972, 83 pp. (unpublished);
 - Nationality of Persons in International Law, <u>Saranrom Journal</u> (2516) 1973, p. 7;
 - Termination of Unequal Treaties under the Reign of King Rama VI, Thai Encyclopedia on King Rama VI, 1980.

Working languages

Thai, English, French and Spanish.

THAIM, Doudou (Senegal)

/Original: French/

Born on 3 February 1926 in Bambey (Senegal).

Degrees obtained

Degree in Law.

Doctorate of Law.

Diploma of Advanced Studies in Public Law.

Professional posts

Lawyer (1955-1960).

Minister of Finance.

Minister of Justice.

Minister for Foreign Affairs (1960-1968).

President of the Economic and Social Council.

Member of the International Law Commission.

Publications and lectures

Politique étrangere des Etats africains (1963).

Fédéralisme africain (1970).

Lectured on federalism in Africa at the Hague Academy (1970).

Has also lectured on the international settlement of conflicts in Africa, as part of the external courses run by the Hague Academy.

USHAKOV, Nikolai Aleksandrovich (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics)

/Original: Russian/

Born in Moscow on 19 November 1918. Doctor of Juridical Sciences, Professor of International Law.

Graduated from the Higher Diplomatic School of the USSR Ministry of Foreign Affairs in 1947. Since 1948 he has worked at the Institute of State and Law of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR; he is currently a chief of section at the Institute of State and Law of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR; in 1963, he received his doctorate in juridical sciences and the title of professor.

Since 1960 he has been a member of the Executive Committee of the Soviet Association for International Law.

He has been a member of Soviet delegations at many conferences, including the Vienna Conference on Diplomatic Relations (1961) and the United Nations Conference on Succession of States in Respect of Treaties (1978).

He has been a member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration at The Hague since 1966, and of the International Law Commission since 1967.

He has written some 100 academic works on international law.

YANKOV, Alexander (Bulgaria)

/Original: English/

Born 22 June 1924 in Bourgas, Bulgaria.

Married. Two children.

Education and academic record

Sofia State University, Faculty of Law; graduated <u>summa cum laude</u> in law and jurisprudence; received Ph.D. in international law at Sofia State University; attended the Hague Academy of International Law; Corresponding Member of the Bulgarian Academy of Sciences; Associate Member of the Hague Academy of International Law.

Assistant Professor of International Law at the International Law Department, Faculty of Law, Sofia State University, 1951-1954.

Secretary of the International Union of Students in Prague, 1954-1957.

Associate Professor of International Law at Sofia State University, International Law Department, 1957-1964.

Counsellor, Permanent Mission of the People's Republic of Bulgaria to the United Nations. Member of the delegation of Bulgaria to a number of sessions of the United Nations General Assembly since the nineteenth session in 1964 (1965-1968).

Professor of International Law at Sofia State University since 1968.

Vice-Chairman of the Legal Sub-Committee of the United Nations Committee on the Peaceful Uses of the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction, 1968-1973.

Member of the Court of Arbitration to the Bulgarian Chamber of Commerce since 1970.

Member of the Planning Council of the International Ocean Institute, Malta, since 1970.

Member of the Permanent Court of Arbitration at The Hague since 1971.

Ambassador of the People's Republic of Bulgaria to the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, March 1972-June 1976.

Member of the Executive Council of the International Law Association since 1973.

- President of the Eighth Assembly of the Intergovernmental Maritime Consultative Organization, London, November 1973.
- Chairman of the Fourth Committee of the London Conference on Marine Pollution by Ships, 1973.
- Chairman of the Third Committee of the United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea since 1973.
- Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs, Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary, Permanent Representative of the People's Republic of Bulgaria to the United Nations in New York. Deputy Head of the Bulgarian delegation to the thirty-first to thirty-fourth sessions of the General Assembly and to the tenth special session, 1976-1980.
- Member of the International Law Commission since 1977. Appointed Special Rapporteur on the topic: "Status of the Diplomatic Courier and the Diplomatic Bag not accompanied by a Diplomatic Courier" in 1978.
- Member of the Advisory Board on Disarmament Studies with the Secretary-General of the United Nations since 1978.
- Associate Member of the Institut de droit international since 1979.
- Corresponding Member of the Bulgarian Academy of Sciences since 1981.

Languages spoken

English, Russian, French and Bulgarian.

Author of a number of publications in the field of international law and international relations.

Main publications

The European Collective Security System, 1958, Sofia.

- Reservations to the Declaration of Acceptance of the Compulsory Jurisdiction of the International Court of Justice, 1961, Sofia.
- The Peace Treaty with the two German States and its Legal Effects, 1962, Sofia.
- Principles of International Law as Applied to the Treaty Practice of Bulgaria, 1964, Sofia.
- The United Nations: Legal Nature and International Status, Sofia, 1965.
- The United Nations Declaration on the Principles of Friendly Relations and the Progressive Development of International Law, 1971, Sofia.
- The United Nations and the development of the International Trade Law, 1971, Sofia.

- The Contribution of Lenin and the Soviet State to the Enhancement of the Right to Self-determination as a Fundamental Principle of International Law, 1970, Sofia.
- Exploration and Uses of the Sea-Bed: A new legal framework, 1970, Sofia.
- The Impact of the World Socialist System on the Progressive Development of International Law, 1973.
- International Responsibility for the Protection of the Marine Environment (report published under the auspices of the Financial Times), 1974, London.
- The Technological Revolution and International Law, 1974, Sofia.
- Demilitarization of the Sea-Bed, 1970.
- The Establishment of the Fundamental Principles of the Bulgarian Foreign Policy, 1972, Sofia.
- The Development of International Trade Law and the Contribution of UNCITRAL, 1971, Sofia.
- The Limits of the Treaty-Making Capacity of the United Nations, 1963, Sofia.
- Legal Status of Foreigners in Temporary Residence in Bulgaria and the Requirements of International Law, 1964, Sofia.
- "The Relationship between Bilateral and Multilateral Diplomacy" in International Relations, 1979, Sofia.
- "The Law of the Sea Conference at the Crossroads", Virginia Journal of International Law, Vol. 18, Fall 1977.
- "The People's Republic of Bulgaria and the Promotion of the Principles of Peaceful Co-existence, Détente and Disarmament at the United Nations International Relations, 1979.
- The People's Republic of Bulgaria and the United Nations on the 25th Anniversary of Bulgaria's Admission to the United Nations, 1980, Sofia.
- "The Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea and the Establishment of New International Legal Order over The World's Oceans", International Relations, 1981.